THE IMPACT OF ONLINE ADDICTION ON GENERAL HEALTH, WELL-BEING AND ASSOCIATED SOCIETAL COSTS

EDITED BY: Georgios D. Floros and Konstantinos Ioannidis PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Public Health and Frontiers in Sociology







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

> The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88966-829-8 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88966-829-8

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

THE IMPACT OF ONLINE ADDICTION ON GENERAL HEALTH, WELL-BEING AND ASSOCIATED SOCIETAL COSTS

Topic Editors:

Georgios D. Floros, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Greece **Konstantinos Ioannidis**, University of Cambridge, United Kingdom

Citation: Floros, G. D., Ioannidis, K., eds. (2021). The Impact of Online Addiction on General Health, Well-Being and Associated Societal Costs. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88966-829-8

Table of Contents

04 Editorial: The Impact of Online Addiction on General Health, Well-Being and Associated Societal Costs

Georgios D. Floros and Konstantinos Ioannidis

06 The Impact of Internet and Videogaming Addiction on Adolescent Vision: A Review of the Literature

Ioanna Mylona, Emmanouil S. Deres, Georgianna-Despoina S. Dere, Ioannis Tsinopoulos and Mikes Glynatsis

12 Persistence in Problematic Internet Use—A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis

Daniel Dahl and Karin Helmersson Bergmark

25 The Roles of Parent-and-Child Mental Health and Parental Internet Addiction in Adolescent Internet Addiction: Does a Parent-and-Child Gender Match Matter?

Lawrence T. Lam

33 Mental Health Problems and Their Association With Internet Use in Medical Residents

Tsukasa Ueno, Kazushi Ito, Toshiya Murai and Hironobu Fujiwara

41 The Impact of Social Media Use on Job Burnout: The Role of Social Comparison

Ruixia Han, Jian Xu, Yan Ge and Yulin Qin

- 50 Social Networking Addiction Among Hong Kong University Students: Its Health Consequences and Relationships With Parenting Behaviors Lu Yu and Tingyu Luo
- 61 Citizen Consultation on Problematic Usage of the Internet: Ethical Considerations and Empirical Insights From Six Countries

Biljana Gjoneska, Julia Jones, Anna Maria Vella, Philip Bonanno, Katerina Flora, Andrés Fontalba-Navas, Natalie Hall, Liljana Ignjatova, Zviad Kirtava, Daniel Moreno Sanjuán, Maria Piedade Vaz-Rebelo and Célia M. D. Sales





Editorial: The Impact of Online Addiction on General Health, Well-Being and Associated Societal Costs

Georgios D. Floros^{1*} and Konstantinos Ioannidis²

¹ 2nd Department of Psychiatry, School of Medicine, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Thessaloniki, Greece, ² Department of Psychiatry, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, United Kingdom

Keywords: online addiction, gaming addiction, problematic internet use, well-being, health impact

Editorial on the Research Topic

The Impact of Online Addiction on General Health, Well-Being and Associated Societal Costs

Addictive online behaviors have come under increasing research scrutiny in the past two decades, culminating in the recent inclusion of gaming disorder as a distinct entity in the 11th Revision of the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-11) (1). Beyond gaming, a number of distinct problematic behaviors have been linked with poor mental health (2, 3), academic underachievement and vocational struggles (4), and described in distinct geographical areas and across cultural settings (5–7). The widespread adoption of online applications for communication and recreation has caused the wider public health discussion and concern (2). While our overreliance on technology grows, so does the possibility that exposure to online applications can have pervasive health consequences, particularly in a time when societies have specifically restructured to fight against the COVID-19 pandemic: by embracing the online milieu for work, relationships, and entertainment (8).

Although treatment options are available for some time now (9, 10), what has been less understood has been how online addiction and technology overuse may lead to significant consequences to society, including but not exhaustively, impact on quality of life, productivity and collateral costs to the health system. In this special issue, the wider impact to the general health and well-being of the affected individuals was put under examination with the goal of exploring the effects of online addictive behaviors, including but not limited to, online gaming and social media, to the burden on the individual's general health and well-being. Of special interest was how this burden carries over to the macro level in the workplace, the educational system and also the health system, with general productivity loss, missed opportunities at work and education, and increased use of the health services. We were pleased to receive a number of high-quality studies reporting on this burden and helping the exploration of cost-effectiveness of treatment modalities and highlight the need for investment in health services tailored to population needs.

It is important to note that online addiction is not an artificial construct that originated from psychological research but rather was a concept that sought to include complaints from patients and their families in order to better understand their source and provide help; in this respect a very important contribution in this Research Topic is the one made by Gjoneska et al. who present a conceptual framework and a template for citizen involvement in research on online addiction; the authors highlight four ethical aspects for citizen involvement, driven by community case studies that were conducted in six European countries.

With regards to the impact of online addiction on general health, Mylona et al. examined in a

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Wulf Rössler, Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Germany

> *Correspondence: Georgios D. Floros georgefloros@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

Received: 05 March 2021 Accepted: 11 March 2021 Published: 01 April 2021

Citation:

Floros GD and Ioannidis K (2021) Editorial: The Impact of Online Addiction on General Health, Well-Being and Associated Societal Costs. Front. Public Health 9:676498. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.676498 literature review the effects of gaming disorder in eyesight and eye pathology, including eye strain. Prolonged engagement with screens and digital media can have direct strenuous impact on the visual system (11, 12), possibly related to the necessity for prolonged near-term adaptation, but also related to mechanical consequences of prolonged attention to the screen e.g., dry eye syndrome. Mylona et al. further comment on sequelae of poor posture and prolonged physical immobility which are commonly reported.

In an original investigation of problematic usage of the internet, Lam investigated the effects of parental depression on adolescent internet addiction using structural equation modeling. He focused on the by-gender relationships between parental mental health (depression and internet addiction) and demonstrated mediation of adolescent mental stress on the relationship between parental depression and adolescent internet addiction; those mediating effects were stronger in the same gender parent-adolescent dyads.

In another original prospective investigation, Ueno et al. explored the impact on online addiction in a specific work setting, that of medical residency. Preference for online social media communication was correlated with lower general health concurrently and retrospectively as well as with low self-esteem concurrently. They posit two explanations for the observed association, one problematic usage of the internet having an impact on mental health of medical residents and the other considering online usage as a coping strategy against depression and low self-esteem. In a similar vein, another original crosssectional investigation looked that the burn out effects that social media overuse can have on vocational settings: Han et al. found

REFERENCES

- Jo YS, Bhang SY, Choi JS, Lee HK, Lee SY, Kweon Y-S. Clinical characteristics of diagnosis for internet gaming disorder: comparison of DSM-5 IGD and ICD-11 GD diagnosis. *J Clin Med.* (2019) 8:945. doi: 10.3390/jcm8070945
- Fineberg NA, Demetrovics Z, Stein DJ, Ioannidis K, Potenza MN, Grünblatt E, et al. Manifesto for a European research network into problematic usage of the internet. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2018) 28:1232–46. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2018.08.004
- Ioannidis K, Treder MS, Chamberlain SR, Kiraly F, Redden SA, Stein DJ, et al. Problematic internet use as an age-related multifaceted problem: evidence from a two-site survey. *Addict Behav.* (2018) 81:157–66. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2018.02.017
- Kuss D, Griffiths M, Karila L, Billieux J. Internet addiction: a systematic review of epidemiological research for the last decade. *Curr Pharm Des.* (2014) 20:4026–52. doi: 10.2174/13816128113199990617
- Cao H, Sun Y, Wan Y, Hao J, Tao F. Problematic Internet use in Chinese adolescents and its relation to psychosomatic symptoms and life satisfaction. *BMC Public Health.* (2011) 11:802. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-11-802
- Ioannidis K, Chamberlain SR, Treder MS, Kiraly F, Leppink EW, Redden SA, et al. Problematic internet use (PIU): associations with the impulsivecompulsive spectrum. An application of machine learning in psychiatry. J Psychiatr Res. (2016) 83:94–102. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016.08.010
- Laconi S, Kaliszewska-Czeremska K, Gnisci A, Sergi I, Barke A, Jeromin F, et al. Cross-cultural study of Problematic Internet Use in nine European countries. *Comput Human Behav.* (2018) 84:430–40. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2018.03.020
- 8. Hampshire A, Hellyer P, Soreq E, Trender W, Mehta MA, Ioannidis K, et al. Dimensions and modulators of behavioural and mental-health changes

a significant positive correlation between social media addiction and job burnout that is either moderated or mediated by social comparison depending on whether the milieu is low or high on social comparison, respectively. While social comparison alone did not correlate with job burnout, social media users who often compare themselves to peers who are worse off in life and feel positive emotions were found to be more prone to job burnout. A study by Yu and Luo found that social media addiction in university students was associated with longer sleeping latency, more sleep disturbance, poorer academic performance, lower levels of life satisfaction, and higher levels of depression with parental reactive restriction and limiting online behaviors showing little effect.

Finally, a systematic review and meta-analysis by Dahl and Bergmark highlighted the deficits in the assessment and natural history of online addiction and internet gaming disorder; while 1-year persistence was demonstrated in about half of the samples of quantitative synthesis, the field was shown generally lacking of adequate data to robustly characterize longitudinal outcomes.

In conclusion, the studies included in this Research Topic drew the wider context of online addiction; while the main focus of research inevitably are the psychological correlates that could culminate up to a psychiatric condition, it is important to keep in mind that this entity is all-encompassing just as the use of digital technologies has an impact on all of our daytime activities.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

during the Covid-19 pandemic: an N= 343,017 study. medRxiv. (2020). doi: 10.1101/2020.06.18.20134635

- Siomos K, Dafoulis V, Floros G, Karagiannaki-Kastani I, Christianopoulos K. Presentation of a specialized outpatient unit for internet and PC addictionfirst year of operations, results, recommendations for the future. *Eur Psychiatry*. (2010) 25:413. doi: 10.1016/S0924-9338(10)70409-0
- Floros G, Garyfallos G, Giouzepas J. Student counseling service for problematic use of the Internet and personal computers. Presentation of the first two years of operation. In: WPA Thematic Conference - 4th INA European Congress - 1st Congress on Psychiatry and Related Sciences. Athens: Athens World Psychiatric Association (2012).
- Kim J, Hwang Y, Kang S, Kim M, Kim T-S, Kim J, et al. Association between exposure to smartphones and ocular health in adolescents. *Ophthalmic Epidemiol.* (2016) 23:269–76. doi: 10.3109/09286586.2015.1136652
- Jaiswal S, Asper L, Long J, Lee A, Harrison K, Golebiowski B. Ocular and visual discomfort associated with smartphones, tablets and computers: what we do and do not know. *Clin Exp Optometry*. (2019) 102:463–77. doi: 10.1111/cxo.12851

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Floros and Ioannidis. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Impact of Internet and Videogaming Addiction on Adolescent Vision: A Review of the Literature

Ioanna Mylona^{1,2*}, Emmanouil S. Deres³, Georgianna-Despoina S. Dere³, Ioannis Tsinopoulos¹ and Mikes Glynatsis²

¹ 2nd Department of Ophthalmology, School of Medicine, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Thessaloniki, Greece, ² Ophthalmology Department, "Hippokration" General Hospital of Thessaloniki, Thessaloniki, Greece, ³ "Asclepius" Private Mental Health Hospital of Veroia, Veria, Greece

During the past decade, vision problems that were attributed to the use of electronic screens have gradually shifted from being a workplace health issue to a wider public health issue. "Computer vision syndrome" originally related to the few professionals exposed to long hours of work in front of a computer screen. The widespread use of digital screens in devices used throughout the day have led to the emergence of "digital eye strain" as a new clinical syndrome that affects every individual who spends a large period of time fixated on multiple screens, for work or leisure. A new subcategory, "video game vision" has been proposed to specifically address vision issues related to large periods of continuous use of screen enabled devices in order to play video games. With gaming disorder being included in the next version of the WHO classification of diseases (ICD-11), it is becoming increasingly important to have a clear idea of the impact of this disorder in general health and functioning. At the same time, a number of research studies have reported positive impact of videogame playing on the players vision. This article reviews the latest research studies on the impact of digital screen enabled devices on adolescent vision in light of the increasing reports of internet addiction and gaming disorder while referencing positive findings of videogaming on vision in order to provide a balanced approach and assist with classification, diagnosis and treatment, while providing directions for future research.

Keywords: internet addiction, videogame, gaming disorder, vision, digital eye strain

INTRODUCTION

During the past decade, vision problems that were attributed to the use of digital screens have gradually shifted from being a workplace health issue to a wider public health issue (1). "Digital eye strain–DES" (2) is a newer term, coined to include all aspects of eyesight issues related to long hours of work in front of a digital screen.

A number of professional bodies are providing guidance for practitioners with regards to vision issues related to digital screen viewing (3). However, these available guidelines tend to overlook important reasons for vision-related symptoms from prolonged exposure to screen viewing: Internet addiction and gaming disorder.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Konstantinos Ioannidis, University of Cambridge, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Konstantinos E. Siomos, University of Thessaly, Greece Ioannis Giouzepas, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Greece

*Correspondence: Ioanna Mylona milona_ioanna@windowslive.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

Received: 04 February 2020 Accepted: 20 February 2020 Published: 05 March 2020

Citation:

Mylona I, Deres ES, Dere G-DS, Tsinopoulos I and Glynatsis M (2020) The Impact of Internet and Videogaming Addiction on Adolescent Vision: A Review of the Literature. Front. Public Health 8:63. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2020.00063 Research on online and offline addictive behaviors has led to the subcategory of gaming disorder being included in the forthcoming version of the WHO classification of diseases, ICD-11 (4). A related classification, "videogame vision syndrome" has been proposed to specifically address vision issues related to large periods of continuous use of screen-enabled devices in order to play videogames (5).

However, it is worth noting that there are well-documented findings that videogames improve vision as a whole (6) and these are frequently referenced as a counter-argument on the negative impact of videogaming (7). Since it is becoming increasingly important to have a clear picture of the full impact of internet addiction in general, and gaming disorder in particular, on general health and functioning (8), this review focuses specifically on related problems with vision.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

We have opted for a narrative review in order to determine whether the available body of knowledge on DES also addresses the negative effect of gaming disorder and internet addiction on vision, with an emphasis on adolescent participants. The scope was expanded to include reports on positive effects on vision from videogaming, a brief overview of specific eyesight symptoms, along with diagnosis and treatment suggestions. We reviewed available studies from online databases including PubMed, PsychINFO, ProQuest, and EMBASE on suitable material. A total of 246 articles were retrieved and reviewed for relevancy in the first wave of search that only included negative aspects on vision, yet only 12 were directly related to the theme. References of those articles deemed suitable were also explored for relevant studies.

RESULTS

Negative Effects of Videogaming, Problematic Internet Use, and Gaming Addiction on Vision

Nearly all the retrieved studies did not attempt to differentiate their subjects according to the activities while viewing digital screens. The outcome measures were mostly self-reported symptoms and not objectively measured findings. The issues that were reported were related either to with prolonged nearterm adaptation (i.e., blurred vision at close range, difficulty in focusing, and copious headache after screen use) and those related to dry eye syndrome (irritation/burning sensation, ocular fatigue, discomfort, photosensitivity), while symptoms due to poor posture and prolonged physical immobilization in front of the screen (such as neck pain, tension headache, and other atypical musculoskeletal pain) are also very common. Preexisting vision problems (hyperopia / myopia, astigmatism, and adaptive disorders) can contribute to the appearance of the syndrome if they are not adequately addressed or have not yet been diagnosed (9, 10).

A review of 38 studies of problematic internet use among students from the Southeast Asia, a region with high reported

prevalence of internet and gaming addiction, reported that 19% of the subjects experienced eye strain (11). This percentage compares to the findings of a recent meta-analysis on the incidence of DES in pediatric populations that reported a pooled prevalence of asthenopia as being 19.7% (12.4–26.4%) (9).

Studies in South Korea demonstrated that time spent watching content in any digital screen (12) and especially in a smartphone (12, 13) are risk factors for DES in adolescents. Using smartphones for more than 2h daily is associated with a higher incidence of multiple DES symptoms (13). Studies on the impact of exposure time to digital screens on children demonstrate that the chances of symptoms increase after 2-4h of exposure (13, 14). A qualitative research article presented results from focus groups and interviews conducted with 368 children between 9 and 16 years old in nine European countries on what they perceived as being potentially negative or problematic while using the internet and technology (15). Children reported a variety of eye problems, such as their eyes hurting, eyestrain, and needing to wear glasses due to prolonged internet usage. A recent controlled study enrolled fifty healthy college students to play an online videogame on their computers continuously for 4h in the night (16). Results demonstrated convergence and accommodation disturbances and increased physical and ocular discomfort while near phoria showed an exophoric shift and the accommodative and vergence facilities along with blink rate were significantly decreased. Distance phoria remained unchanged and all visual functions recovered to the baseline levels by the following morning.

Ergonomic practices carry an even more significant impact on the occurrence of eye fatigue in adolescents and young adults, compared to 30 years ago. With the newer handheld devices, the confines of a desk no longer exist, along with the appropriate ergonomic measures that can be applied. Low ambient illumination creates fatigue for the pupil's reflex, while a small proportion of the font and screen size results in faster adaptation fatigue. In South Korea, students aged 7-12 years, who used a smartphone for more than 4 h a day over a period of at least 4 months, presented with acute acquired comitant esotropia (17). A study in India (18) included 576 adolescent students and reported a significant correlation in the practice of lying down while using a screen-enabled device to symptoms of digital eye strain (27%). By the end of the day 18% of the students experienced eye strain, attributed to digital screen use. Eye strain (67%), dry eyes (26.2%), double vision (28.9%), and blurred vision (51.6%) were common symptoms in a survey of 409 Medical college students in Jamaica (19). Eye burning and eye strain were significantly related to level of viewing. Moderate eye burning (55.1%) and double vision (56%) occurred in those who used handheld devices.

A more objective measurement is visual acuity. There haven't been consistent reports on a direct negative impact on visual acuity and the review of DES referenced earlier concluded that the majority of children with asthenopia did not present visual acuity or refraction abnormalities (9). A large scale epidemiological survey of data from 1979 to 2012 in Japan on the proportion of students with poor visual acuity concluded that there was only a weak negative correlation of videogame duration and visual acuity (20).

In the referenced literature up to that point, there was no attempt to discern the clinical presentation of eyesight issues related to gaming addiction from any other use of screen enabled devices. However, the need for experimental research on the wider question as to whether gaming addiction can be meaningfully separated from other types of digital screen use with regards to the negative effects on vision does exist, as demonstrated by a recent study in Italy that examined two groups of children aged 3-10 years as to the average amount of time spent playing videogames daily (5); children who played videogames for <30 min per day and not every day (control group) and children who played videogames for 30 min or more every day (videogame group). Those groups were controlled for the use of other types of digital screens. Symptoms of eye strain, including headache, eyelid tic, transient diplopia, and dizziness, absence of fine stereopsis, and refractive errors were statistically more frequent in the videogame group and persisted in the comparison regardless of general use of digital screens.

So far, the only experimental study to explicitly compare adolescent videogame players to other adolescent non-players who used screens for different purposes was carried out almost 30 years ago in Japan by Misawa et al. results indicating that the eye movements during videogames were more rapid and frequent than those during conventional work on screen while the viewing distance between the eyes and the TV screen was shorter for videogames (on the TV) than for watching TV programs. No significant difference was found in the decrease of critical flicker fusion and the extension of near point distance compared to a word processing task and a videogame (21).

Positive Effects of Videogaming on Vision

Players have presented better results than non-players in a variety of tasks that involve vision but are ultimately controlled by cortical structures in the brain, especially those involved in prediction. These include enhanced contrast sensitivity (22), shorter saccadic reaction times with better error rates (23), higher spatial resolution of vision (24), and a variety of specific improvements on memory function and focused attention. Playing action videogames can alter fundamental characteristics of the visual system, seen as a whole, that is, including the cortical structures that are responsible for image processing, pre-emptive movements of the ophthalmic muscles. This is reflected in findings of a robust positive association between cortical thickness and videogaming duration was observed in left frontal eye fields which are a key region involved in visuo-motor integration important for programming and execution of eye movements and allocation of visuo-spatial attention, processes engaged extensively in videogames (25).

Although these positive findings have been employed clinically to guide videogame use in order to enhance innate vision deficiencies or even assist with surgeon training, they should not be a reason to blindly promote videogame use; Cognitive gains do not correlate with loss of functionality in the vision sensory organ, which is the eye. Cognitive gains have been demonstrated in all test designs with relatively few hours of playing videogames, and as with all aspects of brain plasticity, gains are to be expected with frequent execution of a well-designed task that lasts for relatively little time (26). Hence, playing random videogames to the degree that it may cause temporary harm to the receptor organ does not correlate positively with gains in the vision process as a whole. The increased propensity of eSports during the past decade, i.e., videogaming as a form of sport competition could be a useful source of research data; playing competitively does not equate with playing excessively, yet those competitive players need to regularly exercise their skills, even spending 6h daily of deliberate practice and various forms of non-deliberate practice that revolves around viewing others play through a digital screen (27). Unfortunately, published research on this niche population so far is poor. An anonymous survey of 65 collegiate eSport players from nine universities across the USA and Canada who practiced between 3 and 10 h per day showed that the most frequently reported complaint was eye fatigue (56%) (28).

DISCUSSION

Reporting Vision Complaints Associated With Gaming Disorder and Internet Addiction

There was a paucity of relevant studies on negative effects of gaming disorder on vision; vision symptoms are typically included as non-specific symptoms in a list of self-reported somatic symptoms and not objectively measured and quantified.

Directions for Future Research

Future research needs to specifically compare sub-populations of gaming addicts to non-addicted gamers who spend a comparative amount of time in front of a digital screen. eSports players are an interesting subpopulation in this respect, since they strive for competitive gaming and not addictive involvement, yet still focus intensely on their gaming.

The objectively measured parameters that need to be researched relate to all possible mechanisms of induced eyesight issues. Ocular motility problems with prolonged exposure to screens are a consequence of a proximal reflex disorder, with the ability to adjust the eye found considerably burdened by even only 60 min of uninterrupted screen use (29). Pupillary response is an important parameter of close vision with problems reported in up to 33% of people after intense close-eye work as the pupil may maintain a contraction state after work is completed (30). Prolonged goal-oriented work on a computer screen resulted in a reduction in maximum adaptability and speed as well as a reduced response to light exposure by delaying the pupil's direct reflex, reduced range, and maximum diameter, all signs attributed to uncoordinated stimulation of the sympathetic and parasympathetic system after fatigue of the reflex (31). Dry eye problems associated with DES are associated with a reduced blinking frequency. Blinking helps maintain a normal eye surface by intensifying a cycle of tear secretion, dispersion, evaporation and drainage (32). Increased blinking occurs due to low readability conditions that increase the duration of focus and require increased time to obtain visual information. A study on visual fatigue induced by a tablet computer found a significant decrease in tear film break-up time (TBUT) but no difference in ocular wave-front aberration (33). This is the only study on issues with recently-developed screens and more research is needed to assert whether newer screen technology may ameliorate the negative impact on vision.

Sleep deprivation associated with screen viewing is another symptom that has not been researched. Problems due to exposure to blue light are a consequence of the newer forms of light emitting large amounts of blue light (440-500 nm), leading to photochemical damage (34). Research has also confirmed that screens of digital devices may interfere with children's' sleep due to blue light emission (35), which suppresses melatonin production (36), negatively affecting circadian rhythms and cognitive performance (37). This leads to a vicious circle of poor sleep hygiene due to excessive use of screen-enabled devices that is augmented by the circadian rhythm disruption (38). Most videogamers indulge in large periods of play precisely during night time, since night playing can offer longer uninterrupted duration of play and is conducive to game genres which need dedicated time to organize multi-playing (39). Adolescents will have completed their study workload for the following day or simply afford to spend all this night time because the parental monitoring is easier to avoid. Using glasses that block low wavelength radiation at night, can improve sleep duration and quality, while reducing subjective alertness (40).

Assessment of Vision Complaints in Suspected Cases of Internet Addiction and Gaming Disorder

An important handicap in the clinical assessment is the fact that children may ignore vision related complaints if they are enjoying what they do with their screen-enabled device (41). Children also tend to underreport symptoms that do not impede viewing completely, like dry eye, although they will report symptoms that impeded viewing, like haziness (42). A reliable estimation of time spent using screens is thus of paramount importance and it should include specific measures of all types of screen-enabled devices. A validated questionnaire on gaming addiction could be helpful in this respect (43).

Addressing Cases of Vision Issues in Internet Addiction and Gaming Disorder

Reducing screen time is helpful especially in cases where there is limited parental guidance or control. Monitoring the usage time can reveal a pattern of chronic sleep difficulty due to preoccupation with screen enabled devices that is exacerbated by nighttime use and the associated circadian dysfunction. A

REFERENCES

 Blehm C, Vishnu S, Khattak A, Mitra S, Yee RW. Computer vision syndrome: a review. Surv Ophthalm. (2005) 50:253–62. doi: 10.1016/j.survophthal.2005.02.008 reduction in smartphone use during 4 weeks in children with DES aged 7–12 years lead to improvement in all parameters that examine ocular surface, like the tear break-up time, number of punctate epithelial erosions and the ocular surface disease index, with all children no longer affected with DES anymore by the end of the 4 weeks (13).

Lens with blue light filters may assist with sleep disturbances and protect from phototoxicity (44). However, any such provision to the adolescent should not carry the implicit message that it is now acceptable to play during late hours, since circadian disturbances will persist when basic sleep hygiene is neglected.

Symptomatic treatment includes eye drops with 2% povidone which decreased symptoms of ocular tiredness, dryness, and difficulty of focus while maintaining an unchanged corneal surface and improving dynamic visual acuity in contact lens wearers with computer vision syndrome, although all symptoms were not fully resolved (45). A study also demonstrated a reduction in signs and symptoms of dry eye after dietary intervention with omega-3 fatty acids, with 70% of cases being symptom-free after 3 months (46).

CONCLUSIONS

Eye symptoms related to excessive use of screen enabled devices due to internet addiction or gaming disorder have been underreported in the relevant literature. A small number of studies have demonstrated that these symptoms may be more pronounced than symptoms of DES related to other reasons for using digital screens. More research is required in order to ascertain the etiology of those differences between different types of use, so as to provide parents and users with concrete, evidence-based guidelines. In contrast, positive aspects of playing videogames on vision have been extensively researched and widely reported, yet they refer to cortical structures that are indirectly trained to perform better on specific task-oriented functions, as is the case with any aspect of brain plasticity. A more balanced approach is required, considering the wider public health impact of gaming disorder. Assessing not only the total time spent using any kind of digital screens, but also the reason for doing so, can be important for planning treatment of both eyesight and behavioral problems.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

IM, ED, and G-DD contributed to the data acquisition and analysis. IM and MG contributed to the concept and design of the work. IM drafted. ED, G-DD, and IT revised the manuscript. MG supervised the work. All authors agree to be accountable for the work.

- Sheppard AL, Wolffsohn JS. Digital eye strain: prevalence, measurement and amelioration. *BMJ Open Ophthalmol.* (2018) 3:e000146. doi: 10.1136/bmjophth-2018-000146
- 3. Canadian Paediatric Society, Digital Health Task Force, Ottawa, Ontario. Screen time and young children: promoting health and

development in a digital world. Paediatr Child Health. (2017) 22:461-77. doi: 10.1093/pch/pxx123

- WHO. 6C51 Gaming Disorder. (2019). Available online at: https://icd.who.int/ browse11/l-m/en (accessed January 25, 2020).
- Rechichi C, De Mojà G, Aragona P. Video game vision syndrome: a new clinical picture in children? J Pediatr Ophthalmol Strabismus. (2017) 54:346– 55. doi: 10.3928/01913913-20170510-01
- Caplovitz GP, Kastner S. Carrot sticks or joysticks: video games improve vision. Nat Neurosci. (2009) 12:527–8. doi: 10.1038/nn05 09-527
- Granic I, Lobel A, Engels RC. The benefits of playing video games. Am Psychol. (2014) 69:66–78. doi: 10.1037/a0034857
- Rumpf H-J, Achab S, Billieux J, Bowden-Jones H, Carragher N, Demetrovics Z, et al. Including gaming disorder in the ICD-11: the need to do so from a clinical and public health perspective. J Behav Addict. (2018) 7:556–61. doi: 10.1556/2006.7.2018.59
- Vilela MA, Pellanda LC, Fassa AG, Castagno VD. Prevalence of asthenopia in children: a systematic review with meta-analysis. J Pediatr Brazil. (2015) 91:320–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jped.2014.10.008
- Jaiswal S, Asper L, Long J, Lee A, Harrison K, Golebiowski B. Ocular and visual discomfort associated with smartphones, tablets and computers: what we do and do not know. *Clin Exp Optom.* (2019) 102:463–77. doi: 10.1111/cxo. 12851
- Balhara YPS, Mahapatra A, Sharma P, Bhargava R. Problematic internet use among students in South-East Asia: current state of evidence. *Indian J Public Health.* (2018) 62:197–210. doi: 10.4103/ijph.IJPH_ 288_17
- Moon JH, Lee MY, Moon NJ. Association between video display terminal use and dry eye disease in school children. *J Pediatr Ophthalmol Strabismus*. (2014) 51:87–92. doi: 10.3928/01913913-20140128-01
- Moon JH, Kim KW, Moon NJ. Smartphone use is a risk factor for pediatric dry eye disease according to region and age: a case control study. *BMC Ophthalmol.* (2016) 16:188. doi: 10.1186/s12886-01 6-0364-4
- Kim J, Hwang Y, Kang S, Kim M, Kim T-S, Kim J, et al. Association between exposure to smartphones and ocular health in adolescents. *Ophthal Epidemiol.* (2016) 23:269–76. doi: 10.3109/09286586.2015.11 36652
- Smahel D, Wright MF, Cernikova M. The impact of digital media on health: children's perspectives. *Int J Public Health.* (2015) 60:131–7. doi: 10.1007/s00038-015-0649-z
- Lee J-W, Cho HG, Moon B-Y, Kim S-Y, Yu D-S. Effects of prolonged continuous computer gaming on physical and ocular symptoms and binocular vision functions in young healthy individuals. *PeerJ.* (2019) 7:e7050. doi: 10.7717/peerj.7050
- Lee HS, Park SW, Heo H. Acute acquired comitant esotropia related to excessive Smartphone use. *BMC Ophthalmol.* (2016) 16:37. doi: 10.1186/s12886-016-0213-5
- Ichhpujani P, Singh RB, Foulsham W, Thakur S, Lamba AS. Visual implications of digital device usage in school children: a crosssectional study. *BMC Ophthalmol.* (2019) 19:76. doi: 10.1186/s12886-01 9-1082-5
- Mowatt L, Gordon C, Santosh ABR, Jones T. Computer vision syndrome and ergonomic practices among undergraduate university students. *Int J Clin Pract.* (2018) 72:e13035. doi: 10.1111/ijcp.13035
- Matsuda K, Yokoyama T. [Analysis of secular trends in proportion of students with poor visual acuity and the associated factors according to government statistics]. *Nippon Ganka Gakkai Zasshi*. (2014) 118:104–10.
- Misawa T, Shigeta S, Nojima S. [Effects of video games on visual function in children]. Nihon Eiseigaku Zasshi. (1991) 45:1029–34. doi: 10.1265/jjh.4 5.1029
- Li R, Polat U, Makous W, Bavelier D. Enhancing the contrast sensitivity function through action video game training. *Nat Neurosci.* (2009) 12:549–51. doi: 10.1038/nn.2296
- Mack DJ, Ilg UJ. The effects of video game play on the characteristics of saccadic eye movements. *Vision Res.* (2014) 102:26–32. doi: 10.1016/j.visres.2014.07.010

- 24. Green CS, Bavelier D. Action-video-game experience alters the spatial resolution of vision. *Psychol Sci.* (2007) 18:88–94. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9280.2007.01853.x
- Kühn S, Lorenz R, Banaschewski T, Barker GJ, Büchel C, Conrod PJ, et al. Positive association of video game playing with left frontal cortical thickness in adolescents. *PLoS ONE.* (2014) 9:e91506. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0091506
- Kleim JA, Jones TA. Principles of experience-dependent neural plasticity: implications for rehabilitation after brain damage. J Speech Lang Hear Res. (2008) 51:S225–39. doi: 10.1044/1092-4388(2008/018)
- Kari T, Karhulahti V-M. Do E-athletes move? A study on training and physical exercise in elite E-Sports. Int J Gaming Comp Mediated Simul. (2016) 8:53–66. doi: 10.4018/IJGCMS.2016100104
- DiFrancisco-Donoghue J, Balentine J, Schmidt G, Zwibel H. Managing the health of the eSport athlete: an integrated health management model. *BMJ Open Sport Exerc Med.* (2019) 5:e000467. doi: 10.1136/bmjsem-2018-000467
- Chi C-F, Lin F-T. A comparison of seven visual fatigue assessment techniques in three data-acquisition VDT tasks. *Hum Factors*. (1998) 40:577–90. doi: 10.1518/001872098779649247
- Murata K, Araki S, Yokoyama K, Yamashita K, Okumatsu T, Sakou S. Accumulation of VDT work-related visual fatigue assessed by visual evoked potential, near point distance and critical flicker fusion. *Ind Health.* (1996) 34:61–9. doi: 10.2486/indhealth.34.61
- Saito S, Sotoyama M, Saito S, Taptagaporn S. Physiological indices of visual fatigue due to VDT operation: pupillary reflexes and accommodative responses. *Ind Health.* (1994) 32:57–66. doi: 10.2486/indhealth.32.57
- Freudenthaler N, Neuf H, Kadner G, Schlote T. Characteristics of spontaneous eyeblink activity during video display terminal use in healthy volunteers. *Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol.* (2003) 241:914–20. doi: 10.1007/s00417-003-0786-6
- Kim DJ, Lim C-Y, Gu N, Park CY. Visual fatigue induced by viewing a tablet computer with a high-resolution display. *Korean J Opthalmol.* (2017) 31:388–93. doi: 10.3341/kjo.2016.0095
- Wielgus A, Collier R, Martin E, Lih F, Tomer K, Chignell C, et al. Blue light induced A2E oxidation in rat eyes–experimental animal model of dry AMD. *Photochem Photobiol Sci.* (2010) 9:1505–12. doi: 10.1039/c0pp00133c
- Cheung CH, Bedford R, De Urabain IRS, Karmiloff-Smith A, Smith TJ. Daily touchscreen use in infants and toddlers is associated with reduced sleep and delayed sleep onset. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:46104. doi: 10.1038/srep46104
- Della Sofferenza OCS, Rotondo SG. Age-dependent association of exposure to television screen with children's urinary melatonin excretion. *Neuroendocrinol Lett.* (2006) 27:73–80.
- 37. Cajochen C, Frey S, Anders D, Späti J, Bues M, Pross A, et al. Evening exposure to a light-emitting diodes (LED)-backlit computer screen affects circadian physiology and cognitive performance. *J Appl Physiol.* (2011) 110:1432–8. doi: 10.1152/japplphysiol.00165.2011
- Touitou Y, Touitou D, Reinberg A. Disruption of adolescents' circadian clock: the vicious circle of media use, exposure to light at night, sleep loss and risk behaviors. *J Physiol Paris.* (2016) 110:467–79. doi: 10.1016/j.jphysparis.2017.05.001
- 39. Triberti S, Milani L, Villani D, Grumi S, Peracchia S, Curcio G, et al. What matters is when you play: investigating the relationship between online video games addiction and time spent playing over specific day phases. *Addict Behav Rep.* (2018) 8:185–8. doi: 10.1016/j.abrep.2018.06.003
- Van der Lely S, Frey S, Garbazza C, Wirz-Justice A, Jenni OG, Steiner R, et al. Blue blocker glasses as a countermeasure for alerting effects of evening light-emitting diode screen exposure in male teenagers. *J Adol Health.* (2015) 56:113–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2014.08.002
- Straker L, Pollock C, Maslen B. Principles for the wise use of computers by children. *Ergonomics*. (2009) 52:1386–401. doi: 10.1080/00140130903 067789
- Hu L, Yan Z, Ye T, Lu F, Xu P, Chen H. Differences in children and adolescents' ability of reporting two CVS-related visual problems. *Ergonomics*. (2013) 56:1546–57. doi: 10.1080/00140139.2013.819939
- Király O, Sleczka P, Pontes HM, Urbán R, Griffiths MD, Demetrovics Z. Validation of the ten-item Internet Gaming Disorder Test (IGDT-10) and evaluation of the nine DSM-5 Internet Gaming Disorder criteria. Addict Behav. (2017) 64:253–60. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2015.11.005

- Leung TW, Li RW-H, Kee C-S. Blue-light filtering spectacle lenses: optical and clinical performances. *PLoS ONE.* (2017) 12:e0169114. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0169114
- 45. Guillon M, Maissa C, Pouliquen P, Delval L. Effect of povidone 2% preservative-free eyedrops on contact lens wearers with computer visual syndrome: pilot study. *Eye Contact Lens.* (2004) 30:34–9. doi: 10.1097/01.ICL.0000101489.13687.9A
- 46. Bhargava R, Kumar P, Phogat H, Kaur A, Kumar M. Oral omega-3 fatty acids treatment in computer vision syndrome related dry eye. *Cont Lens Anterior Eye.* (2015) 38:206–10. doi: 10.1016/j.clae.2015. 01.007

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Mylona, Deres, Dere, Tsinopoulos and Glynatsis. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Persistence in Problematic Internet Use—A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis

Daniel Dahl and Karin Helmersson Bergmark*

Department of Sociology, Faculty of Social Sciences, Stockholm University, Stockholm, Sweden

Background and Aims: Problematic internet use, internet addiction, and internet gaming disorder all describe a global phenomenon where individuals have trouble limiting their use of internet to such an extent that their use has negative consequences. Past systematic reviews and meta-analyses have focused on estimating prevalence, but there has been no comprehensive research synthesis of the trajectory of the problem. The research objective was to create a pooled estimate of the persistence of problematic internet use. This review included studies using a longitudinal panel data design with a follow-up of at least a year. Studies had to be published before the end of the year 2017, in peer-reviewed academic journals, using English language. Samples from populations in any country were accepted, given they were of acceptable quality.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Georgios D. Floros, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Greece

Reviewed by:

Roberto Truzoli, University of Milan, Italy Vasileios Stavropoulos, Victoria University, Australia

*Correspondence:

Karin Helmersson Bergmark karin.bergmark@sociology.su.se

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Sociology

Received: 15 January 2020 Accepted: 15 April 2020 Published: 15 May 2020

Citation:

Dahl D and Bergmark KH (2020) Persistence in Problematic Internet Use—A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Front. Sociol. 5:30. doi: 10.3389/fsoc.2020.00030 **Methods:** A literature search was conducted in Web of Science, Pro Quest, and Scopus. Several definitions of problematic internet use were included. Inverse-variance, random-effect meta-analysis was used to estimate weighted summary means of persistence. Attrition and selection bias was investigated using pre-specified tools, and heterogeneity was assessed in subgroup analysis.

Results: Nine studies fit the criteria, all using samples from Asian or Western countries. The aggregate estimate for 1-year persistence it was 50% (CI: 40–61%), but results were heterogeneous. Prevalence and persistence estimates were correlated and generally higher in Asian countries. Methodological differences only explain part of the heterogeneity.

Conclusion: All included studies found individuals with persistent problems, but the between-studies variation is substantial.

Keywords: gaming disorder, internet addiction, problematic internet use, persistence, longitudinal, panel, systematic review, meta-analysis

INTRODUCTION

Ever since the 1990s, worries have been raised about the consequences of spending too much time on internet-enabled devices. Due to its similarities with compulsive disorders or addiction, the American Psychiatric Association, APA, has proposed Internet Gaming Disorder (IGD) as a future introduction in the DSM (American Psychiatric Association, 2013), and the WHO now includes gaming disorder as a non-substance addictive disorder in the latest edition of ICD-11 (World Health Organization, 2018).

Heavy internet use is part of a cultural shift in society, where our lives become more dominated by internet. Gaming, chat rooms, and other online venues can act as alternative social arenas-and not only for those who are less likely to interact in traditional settings such as bars, clubs, or parties. Findings even indicate that some heavy use of internet could benefit individuals (Chou et al., 2005). Bergmark et al. (2011) pose that, for some internet activities there is no clear-cut line between lifestyle and addiction, seconded by Ng and Wiemer-Hastings' (2005) proposal that many game players' perspective on social life and lifestyles can differ from those who do not play. In a chapter based on case studies from the early 2000s, Griffiths (2008) emphasizes that many spend excessive time playing games on internet-enabled devices without suffering negative consequences, however, acknowledging that video game playing is sometimes used to counteract offline life deficiencies, problems, or dissatisfaction.

The past decades have seen a surge in literature on the subject, and while the existence of a problem is well-documented, some aspects are yet to be affirmed: several attempts at establishing an expected prevalence level of problematic internet use have delivered varying results, ranging between 0.7 and 27.5% (Mihara and Higuchi, 2017). A cross-country European study found prevalence rates spanning between 0.6 and 2.6% (Müller et al., 2015). Cheng and Li (2014) found prevalence levels in Asian countries around 7.1%, which was similar to North America (8%) and South-East Europe (6.1%). These differences, however, were not supported by Mihara and Higuchi (2017), nor Feng et al. (2017) who found no systematic differences in prevalence according to region.

Although prevalence is well-covered in primary research as well as reviews, a related aspect lacks a proper capitulation: does problematic internet use tend to be persistent or transitory (Hellman et al., 2013)? General definitions of addiction require that it causes serious problems, failure(s) to stop it, and persistence over time, often at least a year (World Health Organization, 2018). This holds true in the ICD-11 (World Health Organization, 2018), as well as the proposed DSM-5 criteria (American Psychiatric Association, 2013).

Mihara and Higuchi's (2017) systematic review of longitudinal studies found reports that gaming disorder and similar conditions were persistent, as well as the opposite. They suffice with a narrative review, without a meta-analysis, and do not investigate into factors that can provide a better understanding between the differences in results between the studies. Thus, the research objective is to examine if there is evidence to support that problematic internet use is best viewed as a persistent¹ condition. This will be performed through systematic review and meta-analysis of all international available literature on the subject, complemented with subgroup analysis of some factors which may help explain divergent results.

Until the ICD-11 introduction, there was no gold standard for measuring problematic internet use. Efforts to identify all existing measures have found a plethora of diagnostic scales (Laconi et al., 2014), based on criteria for pathological gambling, substance dependence, or a combination of the both (Kuss and Griffiths, 2012; Kuss et al., 2014).

Although the DSM-5 and ICD-11 single out gaming as their main focus, it is predated by umbrella terms, such as internet addiction or problematic internet use, covering several types of excessive behaviors which are mediated by the internet-enabled devices, including, but not limited to gaming, and excluding already established disorders or problems, like gambling and sexual compulsions, since they are too dissimilar (Pawlikowski et al., 2014). The terms internet addiction and problematic internet use are blunt, and convey a lack of understanding of how to best perceive life online, and it is necessary that the analysis of problems related to life online be divided into meaningful empirical categories. This is also supported by a growing research consensus (Starcevic and Billieux, 2017; Van Rooij et al., 2017). This study uses problematic internet use (Spada, 2014) as the umbrella term for internet addiction, gaming disorder, pathological gaming, and other concepts that have been used by researchers to describe the same problem: individuals having trouble limiting their use of internet to such an extent that their use has negative consequences. If other terms are employed, it is to correctly mirror the terminology used in referenced studies. By using this inexact construct, we aim to include studies using both specific and more general definitions. Since the research field is still young and several definitions have been used by scholars, a single specific definition would lead to a very sparse review, missing studies that might be useful.

The initiation of overuse of internet and gaming can serve as an escape from other problems or failures in life (Kardefelt-Winther, 2014; Ballabio et al., 2017). Although some may use internet activities of various sorts to successfully alleviate stress or anxiety, and find community among other gamers or online contacts, it can also exacerbate existing problems. This has been described by several scholars (King and Delfabbro, 2018) as a *vicious circle*, where individuals continue to withdraw from outside life, further increasing their ill-being and moving further away from solving underlying problems or conditions.

Several studies have found co-occurence between problematic internet use and other indicators of suffering, such as anxiety and depression, but also fewer social activities and lower school grades (González-Bueso et al., 2018). De Leo and Wulfert (2013) suggest that problematic internet use is more associated with depression and being socially anxious than is substance abuse, Kuss and Griffiths (2012) found dysfunctional socialization and personal dissatisfaction to be risk factors for problematic internet use, and among high-frequency online gamers, conscientiousness, and extraversion appeared as protective factors against developing problematic behavior. Kuss et al. (2014) review highlighted various psychosocial problems that could be indicative of excessive internet use as dysfunctional coping for other stressors, such as bad school performance or family problems. Stepanikova et al. (2010) found time spent browsing online to be positively correlated to loneliness and

¹In this article, persistence is used to describe a dichotomous state, where individuals fulfill a sufficient amount of criteria to be defined as having or not having a problem, or which in a clinical setting would define if one is qualified to receive care. Thus, this categorical persistence does not account for persistence of specific symptoms or dimensions of assessment instruments.

correlate negatively with life satisfaction, indicating that it might insufficiently compensate for offline social interaction.

Mihara and Higuchi's (2017) review identified gender differences in almost all cross-sectional studies: internet gaming disorder is generally more common among males than females. Gender differences may, however, be accredited to systematic differences in internet use habits, which have been documented in both the United Kingdom and China (Li and Kirkup, 2007).

In a review article, Saunders et al. (2017) stress that studies using samples from Asian populations tend to give higher prevalence than in samples from Western countries. Block (2008) argues that there are cultural differences in how and where internet-enabled devices are used in the United States and Asia, where in the former case the use often takes place at one's home, while in the latter, most activity takes place in internet cafés.

Family background is relevant when studying adolescent trajectories, health and well-being (Hjern, 2006; Vinnerljung et al., 2007), although research on problematic internet use and family background is still underdeveloped. One finding by Lai and Kwan (2017) using a Hong Kong sample, was that having a father with higher education, and a family with a high income was associated with problematic internet use, while a higher educated mother seemed protective. Similar results were presented in a Turkish study (Ak et al., 2013).

Van Rooij and Kardefelt-Winther's (2017) criticize that general samples in functional populations risk missing those who have real functional impairment due to their problems, since they tend to not be reached or engage in filling out survey questions. Thus, there is a risk of attrition, which may largely be made up of the studies' real target group.

DATA AND METHODS

A systematic review synthesizes evidence of a field. It is useful when a research question may be answered by already published studies. A systematic review contrasts traditional reviews, where qualitative analysis, cherry-picking, and/or vote-counting of quantitative studies can bias results and conclusions. Instead, the core of systematic reviews is a strive for reproducibility, efforts to find all available research, and problematizing quality of findings (Petticrew and Roberts, 2006, p. 2). This review is based on guidelines proposed by the Joanna Briggs Institute's Reviewers Manual for Systematic Reviews of Prevalence and Incidence (Short: JBI manual; Munn et al., 2017). It is particularly tailored toward the systematic review and meta-analysis of prevalence studies, by an institute specializing in the broadening of research synthesis methods. The JBI manual builds on the established systematic review-principles of transparency, rigor, and study quality appreciation proposed in the PRISMA (Moher et al., 2009) and STROBE (Von Elm et al., 2007) statements, where PRISMA dictates the gold standard for evaluations of randomized trials and STROBE is tailored toward reporting on epidemiological studies.

Three academic databases were used to find studies: Scopus, Web of Science, and ProQuest. The search string contained several phrases for problematic internet use, such as internet addiction and gaming disorder, as well as various synonyms indicating a longitudinal study design. The contents of the search strings were the same² for all three databases, however, the syntax varied slightly due to the databases different standards.

Inclusion Criteria

Below follows the criteria for studies to be considered for inclusion in the review. Studies had to utilize a survey design estimate prevalence of problematic internet use (or another equivalent label) at two time points, employ a panel design that allows the same individuals to be followed, be published in a peerreviewed journal before the end of 2017 (no lower time limit is set). The published studies had to be accessible in full-text in English. No other requirements were set at this stage.

This review includes research on problematic internet use, internet addiction, gaming disorder, pathological gaming, and any similar definition. A sole focus on research using the term *gaming disorder* would make the scope too narrow, since the research field is still young and gaming problems have also been defined as problematic internet use or internet addiction.

Treatment studies are excluded, as well as studies focusing on brain monitoring and neural responses, and studies using qualitative methods. Although covering the same topic, they represent areas in the research field that would warrant their own reviews with different methodological assessments. Gray literature is not included: This review does not seek for an effect or a correlation, which is where worries about publication bias are the largest. Furthermore, prevalence and persistence are often presented as descriptive statistics. Thus, it should not be a defining factor in the decision of publishing a study.

Study Selection

See **Figure 1** to follow the study selection process (adapted from Moher et al., 2009). Search results were downloaded from the database searches and organized using a reference manager, Endnote X7 (n = 744). Double publications were removed, of which the studies with richest data were kept. Then, titles and abstracts of studies were read.

The search was complemented by a process of hand searching in three steps. First, three important journals, using their websites' search functions: *Addiction, Computers in Human Behavior* and *Cyberpsychology* & *Behavior*. The journals have slightly different foci which all intersect the subject of this paper. Then followed hand searching of the reviews most closely related to this review (Kuss et al., 2014; Anderson et al., 2017; Feng et al., 2017; Mihara and Higuchi, 2017), and third, hand searching of the references in a random sample of ten of the database generated results. In total searching generated eight studies with

²TS=("internet gaming disorder" OR "internet dependency" OR "internet overuse" OR cyberaddict* OR "compulsive computer use") OR TS=((Internet OR "internet gaming" OR "internet game" OR cyberspace OR online OR net OR "cyber game" OR technology OR "video game" OR virtual OR "social media" OR sns OR "online network" OR "online networking" OR computer OR smartphone OR cyber) NEAR/1 addict*) OR TS=((problem* OR pathologic* OR compuls* OR excessive OR disorder* OR unregulat*) NEAR/1 "internet use") AND TS= (longitud* OR persist* OR "over time" OR endur* OR "follow-up" OR panel OR "time series").



titles or abstract containing information that indicated they should be considered for inclusion in the review.

After hand searching and duplicates were removed, titles and abstracts of n = 382 studies were screened, n = 181 studies were assessed in full-text for eligibility, of which n = 32 studies measured prevalence at least twice. Eleven studies provided

enough information to make it to quality assessment. Finally, n = 9 (Ko et al., 2007, 2014; Gentile et al., 2011; Van Rooij et al., 2011; Chang et al., 2014; Scharkow et al., 2014; Thege et al., 2015; Strittmatter et al., 2016; Lau et al., 2017) both contained sufficient data and were considered as being of high enough standard to be included in the review and meta-analysis.

There is no firm rule to decide for how many studies are appropriate in a meta-analysis, and there is generally a lack of directions for conducting meta-analyses on prevalence studies. It is certain that the lower number of studies included in the meta-analysis, the lower will the statistical power be. However, as argued by Borenstein et al. (2009 p. 357), intuitive summaries such as vote counting may be even worse. A way forward is to perform a meta-analysis with an awareness of the limitations, to avoid false certainty in the results. Therefore, this meta-analysis is complemented by sub-group analysis as well as discussions on limitations of the results. Furthermore, it is important to acknowledge that the contribution of a systematic review lies not only in the summary estimate, but also in the number of studies identified and the collection of their different traits.

Quality Assessment

This systematic review and meta-analysis used the Joanna Briggs Institute's Critical Appraisal Checklist (Munn et al., 2014, 2017) as guidance, along with Hoy et al.'s risk of bias tool 2012. None of the checklists employ a point scale with a specific cut-off for inclusion or exclusion, but help researchers discover strengths and weaknesses in studies, to make an informed decision on which studies are good enough to be included in the systematic review.

Analytic Strategy

The meta-analysis used Stata 15.1, and the *metaprop* program, which is especially tailored for meta-analysis of binomial data (Nyaga et al., 2014). The objective was to produce weighted means of persistence and compare them in a forest plot.

Prevalence is defined as the proportion of individuals in a sample that has been diagnosed with problematic internet use and is expressed as a percentage of the respondents which could be matched after 1 year. Categorical persistence, being the outcome in the meta-analysis, is measured as those who fulfill criteria for problematic internet use at T1 and T1 + 1 year. It is the percentage of the subgroup of those who fulfilled the criteria (prevalence) at T1. Persistence after baseline +1 year was used in the meta-analysis. One study (Gentile et al., 2011) was 2 years long and used a method where all data collections were used to generate latent classes. Thus, persistence for the 1-year followup is not available, and data from the 2-year follow-up is used in the meta-analysis.

A random-effects, inverse-variance model was used since both statistical and clinical heterogeneity was expected, due to results of previous reviews. A score confidence interval is used so even small sample sizes can be accounted for, as well as a Freeman-Tukey double arcsine transformation of proportions to make normal approximation significance tests more applicable (Nyaga et al., 2014). The I² statistic was used to describe how much of the between-studies variation that is due to heterogeneity and not chance (Higgins et al., 2003). The true variation is, of course, unknown.

In a subgroup analysis, means were also computed for a priori defined subgroups which are presented together to provide a visual account of the dispersion of heterogeneity. The following subgroups were generated through findings in previous research and methodological assumptions: (i) Geographic location (ii) Scale used (iii) Focus: general internet use or gaming. Furthermore, it was investigated if there is a relationship between persistence and prevalence. Since persistence is depends on the size ofn prevalence, does this mean that a high prevalence measure tends to give a high persistence measure?

Finally, a narrative review collected (i) information on the scales used and if there seems to be a risk that differences in cutoffs may affect the estimates (ii) if studies focusing on adolescents report different persistence estimates than studies focusing on adults or children (iii) if the studies have a gender balance in their samples, and (iv) if the studies report any systematic variation in persistence when including psychosocial or socioeconomic measures.

RESULTS

Study Characteristics

Characteristics and basic information about the nine studies included in the review can be found in **Table 1**. All studies were published in 2007 or later, using data collected between 2003 and 2014. Four studies were longer than 1 year. T1 sample sizes varied between 517 and 9,666. Follow up-rates (the proportion of matched individuals between waves) were high overall, over 65%, but two studies were remarkably low, with follow-up rates at 20% (Scharkow et al., 2014), and 35% (Strittmatter et al., 2016).

Characteristics of the Samples

All of the included studies used samples from Asian or Western populations. Three studies come from Taiwan (Ko et al., 2007, 2014; Chang et al., 2014), one from Hong Kong, China (Lau et al., 2017), and one draws its sample from Singapore (Gentile et al., 2011). Germany has two studies (Scharkow et al., 2014; Strittmatter et al., 2016). One study is from the Netherlands (Van Rooij et al., 2011). One study used a Canadian sample (Thege et al., 2015). The sample strategies differed slightly, where regional samples were most common. Only three studies used national samples (Gentile et al., 2011; Van Rooij et al., 2011; Scharkow et al., 2014). The settings were either classroom or telephone surveys (see **Table 1**). **Table 1** shows that prevalence estimates vary between 1 and 26%, with a non-weighted average of 10%. Prevalence for all studies are included in **Table 1**.

Narrative Review

Six different scales were used in the nine studies. The main contents of the scales are shown in **Table 2**. The diagnostic criteria largely overlap, using criteria similar to those of the ICD-11 (World Health Organization, 2018), and DSM-5 (American Psychiatric Association, 2013) for gaming disorder, and DSM-IV (Frances, 1994) for pathological gambling. All scales include the following three criteria: Trouble limiting use, Withdrawal, External Problems/Conflict.

Although similar in their content, the scales vary in their cut-offs: In the most used, CIAS (Chen Internet Addiction Scale), 63–64 out of 104 points are required to be considered as addicted. In the Gentile scale, 5/10 suffices, and in the YDQ (Young Diagnostic Questionnaire) it is 5/8. Van Rooij et al.

Frontiers in Sociology | www.frontiersin.org

TABLE 1 | Data collection.

First author	Chang et al. (2014)	Gentile et al. (2011)	Ko et al. (2014)	Ko et al. (2014)	(Lau et al., 2017)	Scharkow et al. (2014)	Strittmatter et al. (2016)	Thege et al. (2015)	Van Rooij et a (2011)
Year of publication	2014	2011	2014	2007	2017	2014	2016	2015	2011
Journal	Addictive behaviors	Pediatrics	Comprehensive psychiatry	Cyberpsychology and behavior	Addictive behaviors	Addiction	Eur. Child and adolescent psychiatry	BMC psychiatry	Addiction
Focus	General internet use	Gaming	General internet use	General internet use	general internet use	Gaming	General internet use	Gaming, online chat	Gaming
Scale employed	CIAS	Gentile	CIAS	CIAS	CIAS	GAS	YDQ	GAPGM	CIUS
Yrs. data collection	2010-2011	2007–2009	2005–2006	2003–2004	2012–2014 (1 year)	2011–2013	2010–2012	2006–2011	2008–2009
Country	Taiwan	Singapore	Taiwan	Taiwan	China	Germany	Germany	Canada	Netherlands
Sample: Regional/National	Regional	National	Regional	Regional	Regional	National	Regional	Regional	National
Setting	Classroom	Classroom	Classroom	Classroom	Classroom	telephone	Classroom + Computer	telephone	Classroom
Age of respondents	15–17	9–14	12–13	12–16	~12-16	14-40+	13–17	Mean age: 46 +/- 14	13–16
Gender (% male at baseline)	48%	73%	50%	52%	54%	Female: 41–44%	48.00%	45% male	49% male
T1 sample size	2,992	2,998	2,293	517	9,666	4,500	1,444	4,121	1,572
Follow-up rate (final data coll.)	77.00%	84%	66%	91%	86%	20%	36%	93%	94%
Prevalence T1	26%	9.9%	9%	18%	16%	Problematic: 3.7% addiction: 0.3%	4.3 %	Online chat: 1.5% video gaming: 1.7%	Of entire population of 5+-16 year olds in Netherlands: 1.6% gamers only: ~3%
Prevalence T1 + 1 year	27%	8.8%	12%	15%	18%	Problematic: 3.2% addiction: 0.3%	27%	Online chat: 1,1% video gaming: 1,4%	1.50%
Persistence T1 + 1 year	62%	84% (2-year)	49%	51%	54%	35%	32% (2-year)	24%	50%

TABLE 2 | Contents of scales.

Symptom	Scale					
	CIAS	CIUS	GAS	Gentile	YDQ	PAPG. BAM
Preoccupation/Salience		х	х	Х	х	Х
Tolerance	х		х	Х	х	Х
Trouble limiting use	х	х	х	Х	х	Х
Withdrawal	х	х	х	Х	х	Х
External problems/conflict	х	х	х	Х	х	Х
Mood modification/Coping		х	х	Х	х	
Failed time management	х		х		х	Х
Lying about use					х	

(2011) employed the CIUS (Compulsive Internet Use Scale) in combination with the amount of time spent per week, using latent class analysis where the cut-off is unclear. However, the mean score in CIUS for the addicted class was 2.9/5. Thege et al. (2015) used a combination of a qualifying question about whether over-involvement in the activity has caused significant problems in the past year, along with PAPG/BAM (Problem and Pathological Gambling Measure/Behavioral Addiction Measure), a measure used to establish the severity of the problem. GAS (Game Addiction Scale), used in Scharkow et al. (2014), required 7/7 criteria for addiction but only 4/7 for problematic use, thus having fewer respondents fulfilling requirements for addiction.

When Chang et al. (2014) compared dropouts from the study to the follow-up group, internet addiction, alcohol drinking and smoking was more common among the dropouts. Lau et al. (2017), found several significant differences: lower school form, lower cues to action, and self-efficacy for reducing internet use, higher probability of depression and loneliness, and having a father with a college education or higher. Strittmatter et al. (2016) found non-respondents at follow-up to more often be male, older and not living with biological parents or relatives, spending more time using their computers for non-academic tasks such as gaming, along with conduct problems, lower prosocial behavior, and showed fewer emotional symptoms. On average, their parents also had less control over their children's activities in their spare time. Thege et al. (2015) found that those missing at least one data collection also reported higher levels of excessive video gaming.

Gentile et al. (2011) did not find differences between dropouts and completers in terms of pathological gaming symptoms. Similarly, Scharkow et al. (2014) found non-specified differences in demographics among the drop-outs, but none in gaming frequency nor problematic game use. Van Rooij et al. (2011) attributed dropouts mostly to whole school classes leaving the study.

Table 1 presents the reported ages in the included studies. All studies but one (Thege et al., 2015) used samples with adolescents, Gentile et al. (2011) also included children, and Scharkow et al. (2014) also included adults. Thus, most ages are covered in this review. Scharkow et al. (2014) found a higher prevalence of problematic gaming among adolescents than among adults. The studies which include adults (Scharkow et al., 2014; Thege et al., 2015) are among the studies with the lowest prevalence.

Most studies had balanced proportions between genders in their samples (50 \pm 5% males), except for one (Gentile et al., 2011), where the sample was dominated by boys (73%). Three studies (Ko et al., 2007, 2014; Chang et al., 2014) found boys to be more likely to have an internet addiction, both persistent, and transitory. Gentile et al. (2011) found boys to play more games on average, as well as endorse more symptoms and fulfill pathological gaming criteria at each time. No difference between genders in persistence was presented. Lau et al. (2017) found a mild in tendency for boys be in remission of internet addiction at T2. Strittmatter et al. (2016) did not find any gender differences, but suspected non-response bias from problematic boys. Their sample contained a majority of females. Thege et al. (2015) found problematic video gaming to be more common among the male part of the sample in three of the five waves, although differences in the structure of persistence between genders were not specified.

Chang et al. (2014) found that students who had internet addiction at T1, and an increase in depression and alcohol use, were more likely to persist. Gentile et al. (2011) found that children who persisted as pathological gamers had higher levels of anxiety, social phobia, and depression at T3 as compared to those in remission, as well as lower empathy scores, higher impulsivity, violent game exposure, physically aggressive behavior score, and relationally aggressive behavior score. Ko et al. (2014) presented results showing that scores for hostility, depression, and social phobia decreased more in the group of adolescents who were in remission from internet addiction at T2, than for those with persistent internet addiction. Lau et al. (2017) identified that remission was correlated with lowered scores on various psychometric scales such as loneliness, depression, and social anxiety, and improved scores on positive factors such as family support, self-esteem and positive affect. The results were the opposite for those who reported symptoms for internet addiction at both T1 and T2.

Three studies controlled for some socioeconomic variables. Chang et al. (2014) found that internet addiction at any time of data collection, as well as persistent internet addiction, was a little more common among respondents where fathers', as well as mothers' highest education was high school or lower, as compared to parents with higher education. Similarly, in households with poverty as well, internet addiction was more common as well as more persistent. Lau et al. (2017) found no socio-demographic factors to predict remission from internet addiction. Strittmatter et al. (2016) did not find parental employment, nor the child living with its biological parent to matter for pathologic internet use.

Meta-analysis Overall Persistence

Figure 2 shows the meta-analysis of persistence rates in all nine studies. The weighted average persistence is 50% (CI: 40–61%). The non-weighted average was 55%. Statistical heterogeneity



between studies is very high, at 94.2%, and two studies have confidence intervals which do not overlap with the confidence interval of the weighted estimate. The difference between largest and smallest reported persistence is large: Gentile et al. (2011) reported 84%, while Thege et al. (2015) only had 24%.

Subgroup Analysis

Origin

Figure 3 organizes the studies' persistence averages in two categories. In the Asian group, the average is 61% (CI: 49-71%), with high heterogeneity: 95.6%. Heterogeneity between groups is significant. The Europe + North America had a weighted average of 28% persistence (CI: 20-36%) and no significant heterogeneity. However, the lower statistical heterogeneity is shadowed a bit when one considers that confidence intervals are large.

Scale

The four studies using CIAS have weighted average of 55% (CI: 49–61%) persistence. Heterogeneity is high, but as compared to the other models so far, lower, at 79%. The overall heterogeneity between groups is significant (**Figure 4**).

Focus

In **Figure 5**, it is shown that four studies study gaming only, while five focus on general internet use. For the gaming-focused group of studies, persistence has a weighted average of 48%, and the

confidence interval covers almost the whole possible spectrum: 11–86%. For the general internet use group, the average weighted persistence is close, but much more concentrated: 53% (CI: 47–59%), although there is lower inter-study heterogeneity: 79.5% than for gaming-only (97.1%). There is no statistically significant heterogeneity between the two groups, meaning that there is no difference in persistence.

Correlation Between Prevalence and Persistence

There seems to be a positive relationship between prevalence and persistence. As estimated by Pearson's r, the correlation is 0.46, with a p < 0.21. However, Gentile et al. (2011) present an unusual combination of a fairly low prevalence estimate and a high persistence estimate. If that study is removed, the correlation dramatically rises to 0.8 and the p < 0.02.

DISCUSSION

The research objective for this systematic review and metaanalysis was to explore whether there is evidence for the view of problematic internet use as a persistent condition. Nine peerreviewed studies were included, all published after 2007. Oneyear persistence varied between 24 and 84%, with a weighted average of 50% (non-weighted average: 55%). Persistence of problematic internet use was tested using random-effects inverse



variance meta-analysis. According to Mihara and Higuchi (2017), the natural course of internet gaming disorder was hard to define, a statement remaining true. However, this systematic review intended to dig deeper into the particularities of these ambiguities, by performing a meta-analysis, complemented by an investigation into whether potential patterns in results could be found when to the studies' scale used, where data was collected or if they focused on gaming or a broader construct like internet addiction. Below follows a discussion of the findings.

Prevalence levels varied between 1 and 26%. Subgroup analysis was performed to investigate the heterogeneity between studies' persistence. Nine studies included in the review used samples from Asia, Europe, or North America. The average level for persistence was lower for the Western countries: 28% as compared to Asia: 61%. This complicates the findings in Mihara and Higuchi's (2017) review, where accounting for prevalence, they did not find regional differences. This may be accredited to the small sample of studies included in the meta-analysis, leaving it sensitive to single studies' findings. However, the wide range of prevalence, as well as the dominance of European studies in Mihara and Higuchi's (2017) review makes for uncertainty in conclusions about general tendencies among the findings of included studies.

Five scales were used in the nine studies, and were largely similar in the diagnostic criteria employed. Three criteria were part of all scales: trouble limiting use, withdrawal, external problems/conflict. There was some variation in the cut-offs used, and studies measuring the highest prevalence rate had generous cut-offs. The study with the most generous cut-off (Gentile et al., 2011) also had the highest persistence, but a prevalence level close to the mean. Precise comparisons between the different scales' cut-offs was limited due to the varying ways of applying them. The logic, however, is clear: When diagnostic scales' contents are comparable, generous cut-offs will lead to catching more individuals, resulting in larger internal heterogeneity: individuals with the same diagnosed problem can have fewer traits in



common. In longitudinal assessments, this also means that one can stop having one trait, while fulfilling another and thus keep the same score on the scale.

There is a positive relationship between prevalence and persistence estimates. It makes logical sense, since persistence is a proportion of prevalence, and it would be likely that the same aspects of study design that affect the prevalence estimate will also affect persistence. This finding could be useful for hypothesizing in future studies: high prevalence estimates seem to produce high persistence estimates. The amount of people forming the basis for analysis is not large: In total, 2,438 individuals form the "prevalence" group, and 1,385 people make up the "persistence" group. In one study by Van Rooij et al. (2011), the addicted class of participants was six in the first wave in and three in the final wave. Similarly, all European and North American samples had persistence groups of <20 people. Thus, one should be careful in using quantitative generalizations. If anything, the results of

this review confirm that very little is known about persistence in problematic internet use.

Four studies (Ko et al., 2007, 2014; Chang et al., 2014; Lau et al., 2017) had the same origin, Asia, and overlapped in the other dimensions in which subgroups were tested. These studies also reported high levels of persistence, estimated around 55% (\pm 6%). Furthermore, all these studies employed regional samples in a school setting. Their similarities in several dimensions make it hard to assess which factor that may be most dominant for the outcome. However, studies using samples in Europe and North America showed wider variation in the different subgroup categories, than did the Asian studies. Across the board, they presented lower prevalence as well as persistence, except for one (Van Rooij et al., 2011), where the persistence rate was on par with the Asian studies. The tendency thus seems to be a higher level of problematic internet use in the Asian samples, most prominently Taiwan, than in the European and North



Meta-Analysis of Persistence, by Focus

American samples, regarding both prevalence and persistence. The mechanism behind this is beyond the limits of this study, but it is possible that different cultures, norms, and lifestyle could be important in further deepening the knowledge about problematic internet use.

Results in the studies (Gentile et al., 2011, Ko et al., 2014, Chang et al., 2014; Lau et al., 2017) controlling for psychosocial measures generally confirmed the significance of personal or psychiatric problems. Van Rooij and Kardefelt-Winther's (2017) worries about surveys systematically missing out on the target population were furthered by the included studies' internal attrition analyses.

Findings support the assumption of problematic internet use as being more prominent among males than females, although not as solely a male phenomenon: some studies reported mild or non-existent differences between genders. Socioeconomic variables are largely neglected. It is remarkable that a factor so well-established as important for health and economic outcomes is largely neglected in this field of research.

Conclusions

Results of this systematic review and meta-analysis have shown that it is difficult to draw any firm conclusions about the persistence of problematic internet use. Some of these heterogeneity sources are due to active choices made by the authors of this review. More restrictive criteria in e.g., reporting, scale used, or populations, would perhaps have increased comparability, but at the expense of limiting the sources of evidence.

The first part of the review consisted of a literature search. Only nine studies of sufficient quality were found, and only two more studies provided sufficient information on persistence to even be considered for quality assessment. This finding itself indicates that persistence in problematic internet use is an under-researched topic. There are many possible explanations for this. A pragmatic reason could be that panel surveys are costly to perform, and it may be difficult to get funding for a problem that up until recently lacked formal recognition.

All studies found some individuals that showed persistent symptoms 1 year after the first assessment. This group should be a focus for future research, and more knowledge is needed about how they can be distinguished from individuals showing transitory problems. By identifying key traits, persistent problems may be better prevented, or treated. It could also increase the precision of diagnostic tools so that well-functioning heavy gamers do not get falsely identified as problematic.

Future research should aim to understand not only personal motivations and psychosocial correlates behind problematic internet use, but also cultural differences that may explain the different outcomes for Western countries and Asia, and factors in information about class, gender, and age. To increase the precision of diagnosis, future studies should keep investigating heterogeneity as well as comorbidities relating to persistent problems to better tailor prevention, identification, and treatment.

Future policies and public action to limit the harm of problematic internet use should be humble toward the unstable empirical ground. This does not mean that nothing should be done, nor that the research that has already been produced is without merit. Rather, it means that findings that challenge popular descriptions should be acknowledged, and scales, and interpretation should continue to develop to best fit these findings.

LIMITATIONS

Language bias may have shadowed results from non-English speaking countries, although many studies of non-English speaking (Asian) samples were included in the review.

REFERENCES

- Ak, S., Koruklu, N., and Yilmaz, Y. (2013). A study on Turkish adolescent's internet use: possible predictors of internet addiction. *Cyberpsychol. Behav. Soc. Netw.* 16, 205–209. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2012.0255
- American Psychiatric Association (2013). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5[®]). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Publishing, doi: 10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596
- Anderson, E. L., Steen, E., and Stavropoulos, V. (2017). Internet use and problematic internet use: a systematic review of longitudinal research trends in adolescence and emergent adulthood. *Int. J. Adolesc. Youth* 22, 430–454. doi: 10.1080/02673843.2016.12 27716
- Ballabio, M., Griffiths, M. D., Urbán, R., Quartiroli, A., Demetrovics, Z., and Király, O. (2017). Do gaming motives mediate between psychiatric symptoms and problematic gaming? *An empirical survey study. Addict. Res. Theory* 25, 397–408. doi: 10.1080/16066359.2017.1305360
- Bergmark, K. H., Bergmark, A., and Findahl, O. (2011). Extensive internet involvement—addiction or emerging lifestyle? Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health 8, 4488–4501. doi: 10.3390/ijerph8124488
- Block, J. J. (2008). Issues for DSM-V: internet addiction. Am. Psychiatric. Assoc. 165, 306–307. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2007.07101556
- Borenstein, M., Hedges, L. V., Higgins, J. P., and Rothstein, H. R. (2009). *Introduction to Meta-Analysis*. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons. doi: 10.1002/9780470743386
- Chang, F. C., Chiu, C. H., Lee, C. M., Chen, P. H., and Miao, N. F. (2014). Predictors of the initiation and persistence of Internet

Since this review has had a primary focus on persistence, only studies with a longitudinal study design have been included. Thus, there are longitudinal studies studying psychosocial, gender, socioeconomic, or other relevant contributors to problematic internet use that have been exluded from the review because they did not present sufficient reporting on perstistence. Therefore, this review is not to be seen as a complete recapitulation of these.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The dataset generated for this study can be obtained upon request to daniel.dahl@sociology.su.se.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KB and DD contributed conception and design of the study. DD performed database searches and statistical analysis in agreement with KB. DD wrote first and second draft of the manuscript. Both authors contributed to manuscript revision, read and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was carried through with funding from Vetenskapsrådet (the Swedish Research Council) under Grant 2016-02239 and Riksbankens Jubileumsfond (the Swedish Foundation for Humanities and Social Sciences) under Grant (FSK 15-08961). The authors want to express their gratitude to two external and also in-house reviewers who gave excellent comments and suggestions.

addiction among adolescents in Taiwan. Addict. Behav. 39, 1434–1440. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2014.05.010

- Cheng, C., and Li, A. Y. (2014). Internet addiction prevalence and quality of (real) life: a meta-analysis of 31 nations across seven world regions. *Cyberpsychol. Behav. Soc. Netw.* 17, 755–760. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2014. 0317
- Chou, C., Condron, L., and Belland, J. C. (2005). A review of the research on internet addiction. *Educ. Psychol. Rev.* 17, 363–388. doi: 10.1007/s10648-005-8138-1
- De Leo, J. A., and Wulfert, E. (2013). Problematic internet use and other risky behaviors in college students: an application of problem-behavior theory. *Psychol. Addict. Behav.* 27, 133–141. doi: 10.1037/a0030823
- Feng, W., Ramo, D., Chan, S., and Bourgeois, J. (2017). Internet gaming disorder: trends in prevalence 1998–2016. Addict. Behav. 75, 17–24. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2017.06.010
- Frances, A. (1994). Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders: DSM-IV : Prepared by the Task Force on DSM-IV. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Assoc.
- Gentile, D. A., Choo, H., Liau, A., Sim, T., Li, D., Fung, D., et al. (2011). Pathological video game use among youths: a two-year longitudinal study. *Pediatrics* 127, e319-e329. doi: 10.1542/peds.2010-1353
- González-Bueso, V., Santamaría, J. J., Fernández, D., Merino, L., Montero, E., and Ribas, J. (2018). Association between internet gaming disorder or pathological video-game use and comorbid psychopathology: a comprehensive review. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 15:668. doi: 10.3390/ijerph15040668
- Griffiths, M. D. (2008). "Internet and video-game addiction," in Adolescent Addiction: Epidemiology, Assessment, and Treatment,

eds C. A. Essau and P. Delfabbro (London: Elsevier), 231-267. doi: 10.1016/B978-012373625-3.50010-3

- Hellman, M., Schoenmakers, T. M., Nordstrom, B. R., and van Holst, R. J. (2013). Is there such a thing as online video game addiction? *A cross-disciplinary review. Addict. Res. Theory* 21, 102–112. doi: 10.3109/16066359.2012.693222
- Higgins, J. P. T., Thompson, S. G., Deeks, J. J., and Altman, D. G. (2003). Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. *BMJ* 327, 557–560. doi: 10.1136/bmj.327.7414.557
- Hjern, A. (2006). Chapter 7: Children's and young people's health. *Scand. J. Public Health* 34, 165–183. doi: 10.1080/14034950600677238
- Hoy, D., Brooks, P., Woolf, A., Blyth, F., March, L., Bain, C., et al. (2012). Assessing risk of bias in prevalence studies: modification of an existing tool and evidence of interrater agreement. J. Clin. Epidemiol. 65, 934–939. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2011.11.014
- Kardefelt-Winther, D. (2014). A conceptual and methodological critique of internet addiction research: towards a model of compensatory internet use. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 31, 351–354. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2013.10.059
- King, D., and Delfabbro, P. (eds.). (2018). "Theories and models of IGD," in Internet Gaming Disorder: Theory, Assessment, Treatment, and Prevention (Academic Press). doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-812924-1.00002-2
- Ko, C. H., Liu, T. L., Wang, P. W., Chen, C. S., Yen, C. F., and Yen, J. Y. (2014). The exacerbation of depression, hostility, and social anxiety in the course of internet addiction among adolescents: a prospective study. *Compr. Psychiatry* 55, 1377–1384. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2014.05.003
- Ko, C. H., Yen, J. Y., Yen, C. F., Lin, H. C., and Yang, M. J. (2007). Factors predictive for incidence and remission of internet addiction in young adolescents: a prospective study. *Cyberpsychol. Behav.* 10, 545–551. doi: 10.1089/cpb.2007.9992
- Kuss, D. J., and Griffiths, M. D. (2012). Internet gaming addiction: a systematic review of empirical research. Int. J. Ment. Health Addict. 10, 278–296. doi: 10.1007/s11469-011-9318-5
- Kuss, D. J., Griffiths, M. D., Karila, L., and Billieux, J. (2014). Internet addiction: a systematic review of epidemiological research for the last decade. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* 20, 4026–4052. doi: 10.2174/13816128113199990617
- Laconi, S., Rodgers, R. F., and Chabrol, H. (2014). The measurement of internet addiction: a critical review of existing scales and their psychometric properties. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 41, 190–202. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2014.09.026
- Lai, F. T., and Kwan, J. L. (2017). Socioeconomic influence on adolescent problematic internet use through school-related psychosocial factors and pattern of internet use. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 68, 121–136. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2016.11.021
- Lau, J. T. F., Wu, A. M. S., Gross, D. L., Cheng, K.-M., and Lau, M. M. C. (2017). Is internet addiction transitory or persistent? incidence and prospective predictors of remission of internet addiction among Chinese secondary school students. *Addict. Behav.* 74, 55–62. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2017.05.034
- Li, N., and Kirkup, G. (2007). Gender and cultural differences in internet use: a study of China and the UK. *Comput. Educ.* 48, 301–317. doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2005.01.007
- Mihara, S., and Higuchi, S. (2017). Cross-sectional and longitudinal epidemiological studies of I nternet gaming disorder: a systematic review of the literature. *Psychiatry Clin. Neurosci.* 71, 425–444. doi: 10.1111/pcn.12532
- Moher, D., Liberati, A., Tetzlaff, J., Altman, D. G., and PRISMA Group (2009). Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *PLoS Med.* 6:e1000097. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097
- Müller, K. W., Janikian, M., Dreier, M., Wölfling, K., Beutel, M. E., Tzavara, C., et al. (2015). Regular gaming behavior and internet gaming disorder in European adolescents: results from a cross-national representative survey of prevalence, predictors, and psychopathological correlates. *Eur. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry* 24, 565–574. doi: 10.1007/s00787-014-0611-2
- Munn, Z., Moola, S., Lisy, K., Riitano, D., and Tufanaru, C. (2017). "Chapter 5: Systematic reviews of prevalence and incidence," in *Joanna Briggs Institute Reviewer's Manual*, eds E. Aromataris, and Z. Munn (The Joanna Briggs Institute) Retrieved from https://reviewersmanual.joannabriggs.org/
- Munn, Z., Moola, S., Riitano, D., and Lisy, K. (2014). The development of a critical appraisal tool for use in systematic reviews: addressing questions of prevalence. *Int. J. Health Policy Manag.* 3, 123–128. doi: 10.15171/ijhpm.2014.71

- Ng, B. D., and Wiemer-Hastings, P. (2005). Addiction to the internet and online gaming. *Cyberpsychol. Behav.* 8, 110–113. doi: 10.1089/cpb.2005. 8.110
- Nyaga, V. N., Arbyn, M., and Aerts, M. (2014). Metaprop: a stata command to perform meta-analysis of binomial data. Arch. Public Health 72:39. doi: 10.1186/2049-3258-72-39
- Pawlikowski, M., Nader, I. W., Burger, C., Stieger, S., and Brand, M. (2014). Pathological Internet use - It is a multidimensional and not a unidimensional construct. *Addict. Res. Theory* 22, 166–175. doi: 10.3109/16066359.2013.793313
- Petticrew, M., and Roberts, H. (2006). Systematic Reviews in the Social Sciences: A Practical Guide. Malden, MA: Blackwell Pub.
- Saunders, J. B., Hao, W., Long, J., King, D. L., Mann, K., Fauth-Bühler, M., et al. (2017). Gaming disorder: its delineation as an important condition for diagnosis, management, and prevention. J. Behav. Addict. 6, 271–279. doi: 10.1556/2006.6.2017.039
- Scharkow, M., Festl, R., and Quandt, T. (2014). Longitudinal patterns of problematic computer game use among adolescents and adults—A 2-year panel study. *Addiction* 109, 1910–1917. doi: 10.1111/add.12662
- Spada, M. M. (2014). An overview of problematic internet use. *Addict. Behav.* 39, 3–6. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2013.09.007
- Starcevic, V., and Billieux, J. (2017). Does the construct of internet addiction reflect a single entity or a spectrum of disorders? *Clin. Neuropsychiatry* 14, 5–10.
- Stepanikova, I., Nie, N. H., and He, X. (2010). Time on the internet at home, loneliness, and life satisfaction: evidence from panel timediary data. *Comput. Hum. Behav.* 26, 329–338. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2009. 11.002
- Strittmatter, E., Parzer, P., Brunner, R., Fischer, G., Durkee, T., Carli, V., et al. (2016). A 2-year longitudinal study of prospective predictors of pathological internet use in adolescents. *Eur. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry* 25, 725–734. doi: 10.1007/s00787-015-0779-0
- Thege, B. K., Woodin, E. M., Hodgins, D. C., and Williams, R. J. (2015). Natural Course of Behavioral Addictions: A 5-year Longitudinal Study. Retrieved online from: https://opus.uleth.ca/handle/10133/5119
- Van Rooij, A. J., Ferguson, C. J., Van de Mheen, D., and Schoenmakers, T. M. (2017). Time to abandon internet addiction? Predicting problematic internet, game, and social media use from psychosocial well-being and application use. *Clin. Neuropsychiatry* 14, 113–121.
- Van Rooij, A. J., and Kardefelt-Winther, D. (2017). Lost in the chaos: flawed literature should not generate new disorders. J. Behav. Addict. 6, 128–132. doi: 10.1556/2006.6.2017.015
- Van Rooij, A. J., Schoenmakers, T. M., Vermulst, A. A., Van den Eijnden, R. J. J. M., and Van de Mheen, D. (2011). Online video game addiction: identification of addicted adolescent gamers. *Addiction* 106, 205–212. doi:10.1111/j.1360-0443.2010.03104.x
- Vinnerljung, B., Hjern, A., Weitoft, G., Franzén, E., and Estrada, F. (2007). Children and young people at risk (Chapter 7). Int. J. Soc. Welf. 16, S163–S202. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2397.2007.00520.x
- Von Elm, E., Altman, D. G., Egger, M., Pocock, S. J., Gøtzsche, P. C., Vandenbroucke, J. P., and STROBE Initiative. (2007). The strengthening the reporting of observational studies in epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. *PLoS Med.* 4:e296. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0040296
- World Health Organization (2018). International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems (11th Revision). Retrieved online from: https://icd.who.int/browse11/l-m/en#/http%3a%2f%2fid.who.int%2ficd %2fentity%2f1448597234

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Dahl and Bergmark. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Roles of Parent-and-Child Mental Health and Parental Internet Addiction in Adolescent Internet Addiction: Does a Parent-and-Child Gender Match Matter?

Lawrence T. Lam 1,2*

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Georgios D. Floros, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Greece

Reviewed by:

Cheng-Fang Yen, Kaohsiung Medical University, Taiwan Roger C. Ho, National University of Singapore, Singapore Doug Hyun Han, Chung-Ang University, South Korea

*Correspondence:

Lawrence T. Lam Lawrence.Lam@uts.edu.au; LawrenceLam@twc.edu.hk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

Received: 07 February 2020 Accepted: 06 April 2020 Published: 15 May 2020

Citation:

Lam LT (2020) The Roles of Parent-and-Child Mental Health and Parental Internet Addiction in Adolescent Internet Addiction: Does a Parent-and-Child Gender Match Matter? Front. Public Health 8:142. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2020.00142 **Objective:** This study aimed to investigate the relationship between parental mental health, particularly depression, and Internet addiction (IA) among adolescents taking into consideration adolescent mental health and parental IA as possible mediating factors. Of particular interest was the effect of parent-and-child gender match on these relationships.

¹ Tung Wah College, Hong Kong, China, ² Faculty of Health, The University of Technology Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia

Materials and Methods: This was a population-based parent-and-child dyad health survey utilizing a random sampling technique. Adolescent IA was measured by the Internet Addiction Test (IAT) designed by Young. The mental health status of the parents was assessed using the Depression, Anxiety, Stress Scale (DASS). Data were analyzed using Structural Equation Model (SEM) techniques with stratification by parent-and-child gender match.

Results: One thousand ninety-eight (n = 1,098) parent-and-child dyads were recruited, and useful information was obtained. The mean IAT score was 28.6 (SD = 9.9) for parents and 41.7 (SD = 12.4) for adolescents. Results of the SEM suggested that the effect of parental depression on adolescent IA was mediated through adolescent mental health mainly through adolescent stress (regression weight = 0.33, p < 0.001) and less so through adolescent depression (regression weight = 0.19, p < 0.001) or parental IA (regression weight = 0.13, p < 0.001). Further analysis revealed that these mediating relationships are more significantly manifested in the father-and-son and mother-and-daughter dyads.

Conclusions: Result suggested that the relationship between parental mental health and adolescent IA is complex and that adolescent mental health and parental IA also play important roles as mediating factors. These results have direct implications on the treatment and prevention of IA among young people.

Keywords: internet addiction, parental mental health, depression, stress, dyad study

25

INTRODUCTION

Internet addiction (IA) is a disorder that is characterized by compulsive use of the Internet and associated withdrawal and tolerance (1). The craving for Internet and loss of control of Internet usage lead to poor time management and social problems (2). Familial and parental factors of adolescence IA have been drawing some attention, and there has been a growing effort in this particular area of research (3-20). Many different possible factors have been studied, including family conflict or cohesion and satisfaction (3, 4, 6, 9, 12, 17, 20), parenting styles, supervision, or monitoring (5, 7, 10, 11, 15, 19, 20), family communication (4, 8, 13), parental attitudes toward excessive Internet use (3, 4), and parental drinking (3, 6, 14). A recent study reviewing most of these familial factors suggested that adolescent IA was significantly associated with divorced parents, single parent household, and being the only child in the family (21). While the review study only focused on IA among Chinese youth who may not present any problems, all these studies suffered from the same drawback with parental information collected through the report of the child, not from the parents *per se* (21).

Mental health in adolescents, such as attention deficit and hyperactivity disorder, obsessive-compulsive disorder, depression, anxiety, hostility, alcohol abuse, and sleep disturbance, have been reported as comorbidities of IA (7, 22-25). However, in the area of familial and parental factors as potential risk or protective factors of IA among young people, the relationship between parental mental health and adolescence IA has not been studied before 2014. To bridge this gap of knowledge and to address some of the methodological weaknesses in many of the previously reported studies, the author conducted a parent-and-child dyad study with a specific aim to explore the association between parental mental health and their children's IA (26). Results from this study suggested a significant relationship between parental mental health and adolescence IA. Adolescents in the moderate to severe IA group were three times [odds ratio (OR) = 3.03, 95% CI = 1.67-5.48] as likely to have parents classified with moderate to severe depression when compared to those in the mild or normal group after adjusting for potential confounding factors, including the mental health of the child (26). However, no significant relationship between parental anxiety, as well as stress, and adolescence IA was found. While considering the effect of parental behaviors on the behaviors of their children, parental Internet use may also be an influential parental factor on the Internet usage of their children. The author further explored the relationship between parental IA and the IA of their children, taking into consideration adolescent mental health (27). The results also suggested a significant parent-and-adolescent IA relationship in the group of adolescents with a low stress level (OR = 3.18, 95%CI = 1.65-6.14), but not in the high stress group.

Integrating the results from these studies suggests that the relationship between parental mental health and their children's IA is complex and other factors, such as parental IA and mental health status of the child, are also involved. Further theorization is necessary for a possible mechanism through which the relationship between parental mental health and adolescent IA can be understood. One possible mechanism is that these factors may be involved in a mediating rather than an interactive manner in the relationship. This hypothesis is implicated by the results of the two previous studies (26, 27). Furthermore, the significant association between parent-and-child mental health statuses has been established and that different genders of the offspring may have different levels of susceptibility to their parent's problems depending on the gender of the parents (28, 29). Hence, the gender of the parent and child may also play an important role in attenuating the aforementioned complex relationships, especially in behavioral modeling.

In view of these considerations, the aim of this study is to further examine the relationship between parental mental health and their children's IA, taking into consideration parental IA, the mental health of children, as well as the genders of the parent and child. Given the results obtained in the previous studies, parental depression will be the main focus in this study.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study was conducted in March 2014 utilizing a crosssectional parent-and-child dyad design. The sample populations were high school students aged 13-17 years and their parents. The total student population of adolescents attending high schools during the study period within a specific local school region was included in the sample frame, from which the sample was generated. By regulation, all high schools are registered with the Hong Kong Education Bureau, the governmental body responsible for the education of all pre-tertiary students in Hong Kong. From the list of registered high schools, two schools within a local school region were randomly selected to be the target schools. In each school, a class was then randomly selected from each grade, from grades 7 to 11, with all students and their parents in the class invited to participate in the study. Ethics approval for the study was granted by the Hong Kong University of Education (formerly Hong Kong Institute of Education).

With the endorsement of the school principals, students, and one of their parents (if students lived with both parents) were invited to participate in the study. Since all students provided their family details upon enrollment to the school, thus their parents/stepparents were identified readily. School principals and teachers provided the students and parents with the study information, consent form, and survey questionnaire. After studying the information, students and parents were invited to sign the consent form before filling in the Student's or Parent's Health Survey Questionnaires, respectively. Should the student lived with both parents, the student would nominate a parent and seek his/her consent to participate and to fill in the questionnaire. Completed questionnaires were returned to the school in a sealed envelope to safeguard the confidentiality of the respondents.

The Health Survey Questionnaires for adolescents and parents included similar questions, with some specifically designed for parents or students. In terms of the definition of parents, it could include both biological and non-biological parents as far as they were living with their children. The sample only included students living with their parents, and none were staying with other relatives, such as grandparents, uncles, or aunts. For the main measures of this study, two major sets of variables were included. They were the IA of adolescents and parents and the mental health of adolescents and parents.

For the measure of IA, the Internet Addiction Test (IAT) designed and developed by Young was used for assessing the risk of addictive Internet use for both adolescents and parents (30). Based on the concepts and behaviors exhibited by pathological gamblers as defined by the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition (DSM-IV), diagnostic criteria, the IAT was designed as a 20-item self-reported scale. Questions included in the scale specifically reflect typical behaviors of addiction relating to Internet use. An example question is: "How often do you feel depressed, moody, or nervous when you are offline, which goes away once you are back on-line?" Respondents were asked to indicate the propensity of their responses on a Likert scale ranging from 1 (rarely) to 5 (always). The IAT was validated with good reliability of Cronbach's alpha values ranging from 0.54 to 0.82 for various factors (31). A total score could be calculated, with possible scores ranging from a minimum of 20 to a maximum of 100. In this study, the total raw scores of both adolescent and parent were used in the analyses. In this study, the Chinese version of the IAT, which was translated and validated by Lai et al. (32) was used. Study suggested that translated demonstrated good psychometric properties with high internal consistency and validity (32).

To assess the mental health status of both adolescent and parent, the Depression, Anxiety, Stress Scale (DASS) was used (33). As a fully validated and commonly used instrument, the DASS was designed for the assessment of stress, depressive symptoms, and anxiety with good psychometric properties including strong reliability and validity (33). The authors of the scale emphasize the fact that as the DASS had been designed as a quantitative measure of distress along three axes, it was not meant to be a categorical assessment of clinical diagnosis (33). Nevertheless, it could be used for identifying individuals who were of high risk of mental health problems with high scores in the subscales indicating a greater likelihood of depression, anxiety, or stress. As the validity of DASS among adults has been demonstrated, it has also been recommended for use among children and adolescents (33, 34). In this study, the total raw scores of each subscale were used in the analyses. Owing to the results obtained in a previous study by the author, which suggested that parental depression was the only mental health variable significantly associated with adolescent's IA, parental anxiety and parental stress were not included in the analyses as part of the parental mental health in this current study. The Chinese version of the DASS was also provided by the original authors of the scale (35).

Other information collected in the surveys included the age and sex of the adolescents and parents, demographics, location of family residence, some details on the means and patterns of accessing the Internet for both adolescents and parents, as well as parental occupation. In this study, the sexes of both adolescent and parent were used to generate the parentand-child gender matching groups resulting in four, namely, Male–Male, Male–Female, Female–Male, and Female–Female groups. Separate analyses were conducted for the overall dataset and each of these four matching groups.

Data were analyzed using the IBM SPSS V23.0 and AMOS V23.0 statistical software programs. Using SPSS 23.0, descriptive analyses were conducted using percentages, means, and standard deviation. The focus of the study was to further examine the relationship between parental mental health, particularly, depression, and adolescence IA, taking into consideration the adolescent's mental health and parental IA. Of specific interest was to test the hypothesis that the effect of parental mental health on adolescence IA was mediated by adolescent mental health and parental IA. To elucidate these relationships, the Structural Equation Model (SEM) approach with maximum likelihood methods was applied to the data for testing various path models using the AMOS 23.0 statistical software. The goodness of fit of different models to the data was examined using multiple criteria. These included the reduced chi-squared statistics (χ^2/df), Comparative Fit Index (CFI), root mean-square error of approximation (RMSEA), and the Akaike Information Index (AIC) with a $\chi^2/df < 5$, CFI >0.90, RMSEA <0.05, and a lower AIC indicating a better fitted model (36). For the examination of various possible models, the following model fitting procedures were adopted. First, an initial model with parental mental health as the study variable and adolescence IA as the outcome variable, with all adolescent mental health variables including depression, anxiety, and stress, as well as the parental IA as mediating variables, was fitted to the data as a single group. Second, after examining the results obtained on the model fit statistics of the initial model, the model was modified based on the empirical evidence before refitting to the data again as a single group. Third, the refitted model was then examined again based on the model fit statistics for its acceptability. Fourth, once an acceptable model was derived, the same model was then fitted to subsets of the data in accordance to the four gender matching groups for model fit analysis.

RESULTS

One thousand ninety-eight (n = 1,098) parent-and-child dyads responded to the survey providing usable information and allowed matching of parent-and-child data. This accounted for 95.3% of the total parents completing the questionnaire. No statistically significant differences were found in the comparisons of demographics, including age, sex, grade, and place of birth between those students with a respondent parent and those whose parent did not respond. The parent-and-child characteristics of the respondents were summarized in Table 1. In terms of mental health, on the whole, parents scored lower in all subscales than adolescents with a mean parental depression score of 1.5 (SD = 2.6), anxiety score 1.6 (SD = 2.6), and stress score 2.5 (SD = 3.1) in comparison to 3.6 (SD = 3.8), 3.6 (SD =3.4), and 4.9 (SD = 4.0) for adolescents, respectively. For IA, the mean IAT score was 28.6 (SD = 9.9) for parents and 41.7 (SD =12.4) for adolescents.

Following the aforementioned procedures of model fitting, the initial model with parental depression as the study variable and adolescence IA the outcome variable, including all adolescent mental health variables with parental IA as mediating variables,

TABLE 1 Frequency(%) or mean (SD) of the characteristics of child-and-parent
dyad ($n = 1,098$).

Characteristics of respondents	Frequency (%) or Mean (SD)
CHILD CHARACTERISTICS	
Sex	
Male	483 (44.0)
Female	614 (56.0)
Age group	
15 years or older	620 (56.5)
<15 years	478 (43.5)
Born locally	
Yes	767 (69.9)
No	331 (30.1)
Days accessing the internet in the past week	
Everyday	764 (69.8)
4–6 days	129 (11.8)
3 days or less	202 (18.4)
Main device used to access the internet	
Computer	508 (46.3)
Mobile	501 (45.7)
Others	88 (8.0)
Average time spending on the internet	
3 h or more/day	409 (37.9)
<3 h/day	607 (62.1)
Depression	3.6 (3.8)
Anxiety	3.6 (3.4)
Stress	4.9 (4.0)
Internet Addiction score	41.7 (12.4)
PARENT'S CHARACTERISTICS	
Sex	
Male	279 (25.5)
Female	814 (74.5)
Age group	
45 years or older	602 (56.5)
<45 years	464 (43.5)
Born locally	
Yes	455 (41.5)
No	641 (58.5)
Occupation	
Professional	160 (14.6)
Semi/Non-professional	157 (14.4)
Others	776 (71.0)
Depression	1.5 (2.6)
Anxiety	1.6 (2.6)
Stress	2.5 (3.1)
Internet Addiction score	28.6 (9.9)

was fitted to the data as a single group. Results obtained on the model fit statistics suggest that the model with all three adolescent mental health measures, and parental IA as mediating variable, failed to provide a satisfactory model fit. As a result, the model was modified with the removal of adolescent anxiety as one of the mediating variables. This variable was removed as adolescent anxiety yielded the lowest regression weight in the paths between parental depression and adolescent anxiety, and adolescent anxiety and adolescent IA, when compared to all other paths in the model.

After the removal of adolescent anxiety, the model was refitted to the data for a further examination. Model fit statistics obtained from this model (Model 1) suggested a satisfactory fit of the model to the data as a whole group with all regression weights being significant and the model fit statistic satisfying all criteria $[\chi^2_{(2)} = 4.76, p = 0.092; \chi^2/df = 2.381; CFI = 0.998; RMSEA = 0.035; AIC = 40.672]$ (**Table 2**).

Figure 1 depicts the path diagram of Model 1 with the standardized regression weight of each path. As shown, after taking into consideration adolescent depression and stress, as well as parental IA as mediating variables, the direct effect of parental depression on adolescence IA became minimal. The results suggested that, as a whole group, the effect of parental depression on adolescent IA was mediated through adolescent mental health, mainly through adolescent stress (regression weight = 0.33, p < 0.001) and less so through adolescent depression (regression weight = 0.19, p < 0.001) or parental IA (regression weight = 0.13, p < 0.001).

Subgroup analyses were conducted after the model for the whole group was deemed satisfactory (Model 1). The model was then fitted to subsets of data in accordance to the parent-andchild matching groups. **Figures 2–5** depicts the path diagram of various models with standardized regression weights with the model fit statistic of each model presented in **Table 2**. According to results obtained on the model fit, all models fitted well to the data with all criteria satisfied. Some models, such as Models 4 and 5, demonstrated a better fit than the others.

Closer inspection on the regression weights of each parentand-child gender matching models revealed that two of the four models demonstrated a stronger mediating effect through adolescent mental health and parental IA than a direct effect of parental mental health on adolescence IA. These included Model 2 and Model 5, which represent the parent-and-child same sex match groups.

DISCUSSION

Based on the previous studies, this study further investigates the relationship between parental mental health and adolescent IA paying particular attention to the roles of parent-and-child mental health and parental IA in the relationship. Of further interest is the effect of parent-and-child gender match on this complex relationship. The results obtained indicate that the association between parental mental health, particularly depression, and the adolescent IA is mainly mediated by the mental health status of the child, as well as their own IA. These complex mediating relationships are more significantly manifested in the father-and-son and mother-and-daughter dyads. This is a rather new area of research even within the recently developed discipline of IA or Problematic Internet Use among adults and young people. As reported by the author in

Models	Model significance	χ^2/df	CFI	RMSEA	AIC	AIC of independent model
Model 1	$\chi^2_{(2)} = 4.76, p = 0.092$	2.381	0.998	0.035	40.762	1547.908
Model 2	$\chi^{(2)}_{(2)} = 2.44, p = 0.296$	1.219	0.990	0.041	38.437	267.214
Model 3	$\chi^{(2)}_{(2)} = 2.88, p = 0.237$	1.440	0.998	0.036	38.880	490.900
Model 4	$\chi_{(2)}^{(2)} = 2.06, p = 0.357$	1.029	1.000	0.014	38.057	185.222
Model 5	$\chi^{(2)}_{(2)} = 1.84, p = 0.399$	0.918	1.000	0.001	37.837	640.734





FIGURE 1 | Relationship among parental depression, parental Internet addiction (IA), child's depression, child's stress, and child's IA with all parents and children (Model 1). *Standardized regression weight.



previous studies, no reports have been found in the literature on the topic of parental mental health and adolescent IA; the findings of this study are novel and unique.

The results of this study have shed some light on the conceptualization and theorization of the possible mechanism of adolescent IA. The associations between parental mental health,



addiction (IA), child's depression, child's stress, and child's IA with make parents and female children (n = 145) (Model 3).



particularly depression, parental IA, and adolescent IA have been identified in previous studies. In this study, further explorations of these relationships reveal that the association between parental mental health and adolescent IA is probably mediated through the mental health problems of the adolescents. These results could be interpreted in light of the Stress, Appraisal, and Coping



Theory proposed by Lazarus and Folkman (37). The Stress, Appraisal, and Coping Theory stipulates that, as a response to a stressor or any stressful situations, there evoke a cognitive appraisal process in the individual who is under stress. This process consists of mainly two stages, namely, the primary and secondary appraisals. Primary appraisal refers to an evaluation of whether the stressor will pose a threat and is harmful or simply just a challenge to the individual. On the completion of the primary appraisal, the secondary appraisal follows with an assessment of whether the individual has enough internal or external resources to handle or cope with the stressor effectively (37). The result of the appraisal, incorporating with the usual way of coping of the individual, will determine whether the stressor can be successfully handled. A positive appraisal coupling with an effective coping strategy will result in a positive outcome and vice versa for a negative appraisal marrying with an ineffective coping strategy. In facing family problems, such as parental mental health issue, there triggers a stress reaction in adolescents in a form of distress, depression, and stress. While appraising that the mental health issues of the parent may not be a threat, adolescents may not have the knowledge, understanding, and skills to handle their own distress and the depressed mood. With easy access to the Internet through all sorts of mobile devices at any time, the cyber world becomes an ever ready "safe refuge" for young people to escape to in order to alleviate their distress (38). This could also apply to the parents as suggested by the results that parental depression is also strongly associated with IA in parents. Furthermore, the parental Internet behavior could also become a model of a way of coping for their children such that adolescents adopt it as an acceptable behavior when facing stressful situations. The results obtained on the gender match groups, by and large, echo the phenomena observed in other areas of research (28, 29). This could be understood that, while looking for a role model as part of their natural psychosocial development during that period of growth, adolescents usually adopt the parent of their same sex to be the example and thus they tend to be affected in a greater extent by a parent of the opposite sex.

In countries where there is a strong cultural milieu for parental influence on their children, particularly during the adolescence period, the results obtained from this study have a direct implication on the clinical treatment and prevention of IA among young people. IA in adolescents is not just a problem of young people, but a problem of the whole family. The behavior is likely a reflection and manifestation of familial problems that exert an influence on the mental health of the parents and in turn affect the mental health of their children resulting in the Internet problems. In handling the IA of adolescent, a family therapy approach with special attention paid to the same-sex parent-and-child dyad should be considered. It is also important to assess the Internet behavior of parents as part of the treatment regime in order to determine whether there is any excessive use of the Internet in parents as a way of coping with their own problems. For prevention, parents need to be informed and educated that their own mental health and Internet behavior would exert a significant effect on their offspring. Particularly, psychoeducation in the developmental needs and characteristics of adolescents should be provided to parents that they may unknowingly exert a greater influence on their same-sex children than the other children.

Some strengths and weaknesses have been identified in this study. The study recruits a population-based random sample of adolescents and utilizes standardized and validated instruments for the assessment of all main variables, minimizing some measurement biases. Moreover, a dyad study design allows the collection of information directly from parents and adolescents, thus reducing information bias. In terms of weaknesses, first, information is obtained via a self-reported questionnaire, thus may constitute a report bias in the assessment of variables, for example, both parents and adolescents might have rated themselves more or less severe on depression or IA, although it would most likely be a non-differential bias. Second, since parents self-nominated to participate in the study, there could be a chance that parents with less problems would more likely to self-nominate as participants. This could possibly constitute a confounding situation. Should that be the case, there could be a bias toward the null resulting in a smaller estimated effect but in fact the actual effect should be larger. Third, by nature, this is a cross-sectional study, and the evidence provided from such a study can only be considered as associative and is insufficient to draw any causal inference. This study can be considered as a further exploratory study into the complex relationship between parental mental health and adolescent IA. Future studies of longitudinal nature could be conducted to further examine the possible causal mechanism of the parental influence on their offspring's Internet behavior.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Human Ethics Committee of the Education University Hong Kong. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

AUTHOR'S NOTE

Part of the results were reported as an abstract and was published in the Proceeding of the 17th International Mental Health Conference on August 10–12, 2016, organized by the Australian and New Zealand Mental Health Association. A similar report was also published as another abstract in the Proceeding of the 3rd Australian and New Zealand Addiction Conference on February 20, 2017, organized by the Australian

REFERENCES

- Mak KK, Lai CM, Ko CH, Chou C, Kim DI, Watanabe H, et al. Psychometric properties of the Revised Chen Internet Addiction Scale (CIAS-R) in Chinese adolescents. *J Abnormal Child Psychol.* (2014) 42:1237–45. doi: 10.1007/s10802-014-9851-3
- Tran BX, Mai HT, Nguyen LH, Nguyend CT, Latkinb CA, Zhang MWB, et al. Vietnamese validation of the short version of Internet Addiction Test. *Addict Behav Rep.* (2017) 6:45–50. doi: 10.1016/j.abrep.2017.07.001
- Yen JY, Yen CF, Chen CC, Chen SH, Ko CH. Family factors of internet addiction and substance use experience in Taiwanese adolescents. *Cyberpsychol Behav.* (2007) 10:323–9. doi: 10.1089/cpb.2006.9948
- Park SK, Kim JY, Cho CB. Prevalence of Internet addiction and correlations with family factors among South Korean adolescents. *Adolescence*. (2008) 43:895–909.
- Lin CH, Lin SL, Wu CP. The effects of parental monitoring and leisure boredom on adolescents' Internet addiction. *Adolescence*. (2009) 44:993–1004.
- Lam LT, Peng ZW, Mai JC, Jing J. (2009). Factors associated with Internet addiction among adolescents. *Cyberpsychol Behav.* (2009) 12:551–5. doi: 10.1089/cpb.2009.0036
- Huang X, Zhang H, Li M, Wang J, Zhang Y, Tao R. Mental health, personality, and parental rearing styles of adolescents with Internet addiction disorder. *Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw.* (2010) 13:401–6. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2009.0222
- Van den Eijnden RJ, Spijkerman R, Vermulst AA, Van Rooij AJ. Compulsive Internet Use among adolescents: Bidirectional parent-child relationships. J Abnormal Child Psychol. (2010) 38:77–89. doi: 10.1007/s10802-009-9347-8
- Tsitsika A, Critselis E, Louizou A, Janikian M, Freskou A, Marangou E, et al. Determinants of Internet addiction among adolescents: a case-control study. *Sci World J.* (2011) 11:866–74. doi: 10.1100/tsw.2011.85
- Kwon JH, Chung CS, Lee J. The effects of escape from self and interpersonal relationship on the pathological use of Internet games. *Comm Mental Health* J. (2011) 47:113–21. doi: 10.1007/s10597-009-9236-1
- 11. Durkee T, Kaess M, Carli V, Parzer P, Wasserman C, Floderus B, et al. Prevalence of pathological internet use among adolescents in Europe: demographic and social factors. *Addiction.* (2012) 107:2210–22. doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.2012.03946.x
- Siomos K, Floros G, Fisoun V, Evaggelia D, Farkonas N, Sergentani E, et al. Evolution of Internet addiction in Greek adolescent students over a two-year period: the impact of parental bonding. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. (2012) 21:211–9. doi: 10.1007/s00787-012-0254-0
- Liu QX, Fang XY, Deng LY, Zhang JT. Parent-adolescent communication, parental Internet use and Internet-specific norms and pathological Internet use among Chinese adolescents. *Comput Hum Behav.* (2012) 28:1269–75. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2012.02.010

and New Zealand Mental Health Association. Permission to use these materials has been granted by the Australian and New Zealand Mental Health Association on February 11, 2020.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LL was the principal investigator who formulated the research question, developed the study protocol, obtained institutional ethics approval, designed and piloted the survey questionnaire, conducted data analyses, and wrote the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The author would like to acknowledge the valuable assistance of Dr. Emmy Wong in supervising the fieldwork during data collection.

- Jang MH, Ji ES. Gender differences in associations between parental problem drinking and early adolescents' internet addiction. J Spec Pediatr Nurs. (2012) 17:288–300. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-6155.2012.00344.x
- Yang CY, Sato T, Yamawaki N, Miyata M. Prevalence and risk factors of problematic Internet use: a cross-national comparison of Japanese and Chinese university students. *Transc Psychiatry*. (2013) 50:263–79. doi: 10.1177/1363461513488876
- Yu J, Kim H, Hay I. Understanding adolescents' problematic Internet use from a social/cognitive and addiction research framework. *Comput Hum Behav.* (2013) 29:2682–8. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2013.06.045
- Wu X, Chen X, Han J, Meng H, Luo J, Nydegger L, et al. Prevalence and factors of addictive Internet use among adolescents in Wuhan, China: interactions of parental relationship with age and hyperactivity-impulsivity. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e61782. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0061782
- Liu QX, Fang XY, Zhou ZK, Zhang JT, Deng LY. Perceived parent-adolescent relationship, perceived parental online behaviors and pathological internet use among adolescents: gender-specific differences. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e75642. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0075642
- Kalaitzaki AE, Birtchnell J. The impact of early parenting bonding on young adults' Internet addiction, through the mediation effects of negative relating to others and sadness. *Addict Behav.* (2014) 39:733–6. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2013.12.002
- Xu J, Shen LX, Yan CH, Hu H, Yang F, Wang L, et al. Parent-adolescent interaction and risk of adolescent internet addiction: a population-based study in Shanghai. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2014) 14:112. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-14-112
- Li W, Garland EI, Howard MO. Family factors in Internet addiction among Chinese youth: a review of English-and Chinese-language studies. *Comput Hum Behav.* (2014) 31:392–411. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2013.11.004
- Yen JY, Ko CH, Yen CF, Chen SH, Chung WL, Chen CC. Psychiatric symptoms in adolescents with Internet addiction: comparison with substance use. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2008) 62:9–16. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1819.2007.01770.x
- Ko CH, Yen JY, Yen CF, Chen CS, Chen CC. The association between Internet addiction and psychiatric disorder: a review of the literature. *Eur J Psychiatry*. (2012) 27:1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2010.04.011
- Ho RC, Zhang MW, Tsang TY, Toh AH, Pan F, Lu Y, et al. The association between internet addiction and psychiatric co-morbidity: a meta-analysis. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2014) 14:183. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-14-183
- Zhang MWB, Tran BX, Huong LT, Hinh ND, Nguyen HLT, Tho TD, et al. Internet addiction and sleep quality among Vietnamese youths. Asian J Psychiatry. (2017) 28:15–20. doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2017. 03.025
- Lam LT. Parental mental health and Internet Addiction in adolescents. Addict Behav. (2015) 42:20–3. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2014.10.033

- Lam LT, Wong EMY. Stress moderates the relationship between problematic Internet use by parents and problematic Internet use by adolescents. *J Adolesc Health.* (2015) 56:300–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2014. 10.263
- Chen YY, Weitzman ER. Depressive symptoms, DSM-IV alcohol abuse and their comorbidity among children of problem drinkers in a national survey: effects of parent and child gender and parent recovery status. J Stud Alcohol. (2005) 66:66–73. doi: 10.15288/jsa.200 5.66.66
- Bennett AC, Brewer KC, Rankin KM. The association of child mental health conditions and parent mental health status among U.S. Children, 2007. *Mater Child Health J.* (2012) 16:1266–75. doi: 10.1007/s10995-011-0888-4
- Young KS. The Pathological use of the Internet Test. Center for On-Line Addictions (2014). Available online at: http://netaddiction.com/assessments/ (accessed January 18, 2014).
- Widyanto L, McMurran M. The psychometric properties of the Pathological use of the Internet Test. *Cyberpsychol Behav.* (2004) 7:443–50. doi: 10.1089/cpb.2004.7.443
- Lai CM, Mak KK, Watanabe H, Ang RP, Pang JS, Ho RC. Psychometric properties of the internet addiction test in Chinese adolescents. J Pediatr Psychol. (2013) 38:794–807. doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jst022
- Antony MM, Bieling PJ, Cox BJ, Enns MW, Swinson RP. Psychometric properties of the 42-item and 21-item versions of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales in clinical groups and a community sample. *Psychol Assess.* (1988) 10:176–81. doi: 10.1037/1040-3590.10.2.176

- Szabó M, Lovibond PF. Anxiety, depression and tension/stress in children. J Psychopathol Behav Assess. (2006) 28:195–205. doi: 10.1007/s10862-005-9008-3
- Moussa MT, Lovibond PF, Laube R. Psychometric properties of a Chinese version of the short Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS21). Report for New South Wales Transcultural Mental Health Centre, Cumberland Hospital, Sydney, NSW (2001).
- Cole DA. Utility of confirmatory factor analysis in test validation research. J Counsell Clin Psychol. (1987) 55:584–94. doi: 10.1037/0022-006X.55.4.584
- 37. Lazarus RS, Folkman S. Stress, Appraisal, and Coping. New York, NY: Springer (1984).
- Lam LT. Parental mental health and internet addiction in adolescents. In Young KS, Nabuco de Abreu C, editors. *Internet Addiction in Children and Adolescents: Risk Factors, Treatment, and Prevention.* New York: NY: Springer Publishing Company (2017). p. 123–142. doi: 10.1891/9780826133731.0007

Conflict of Interest: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Lam. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Mental Health Problems and Their Association With Internet Use in Medical Residents

Tsukasa Ueno^{1,2}, Kazushi Ito¹, Toshiya Murai² and Hironobu Fujiwara^{2,3*}

¹ Integrated Clinical Education Center, Kyoto University Hospital, Kyoto, Japan, ² Department of Neuropsychiatry, Graduate School of Medicine, Kyoto University, Kyoto, Japan, ³ Artificial Intelligence Ethics and Society Team, RIKEN Center for Advanced Intelligence Project, Tokyo, Japan

Objectives: Mental health problems (MHP) among medical residents are often found in clinical settings and sometimes lead to professional lapses. Evidence suggests that excessive Internet use is associated with MHP. We investigated the MHP of residents (depression, anxiety, and self-esteem) and their association with Internet use using a longitudinal design.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Georgios D. Floros, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Greece

Reviewed by:

Cheng-Fang Yen, Kaohsiung Medical University, Taiwan Konstantinos E. Siomos, University of Thessaly, Greece

> *Correspondence: Hironobu Fujiwara hirofuji@kuhp.kyoto-u.ac.jp

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

Received: 26 July 2020 Accepted: 16 September 2020 Published: 21 October 2020

Citation:

Ueno T, Ito K, Murai T and Fujiwara H (2020) Mental Health Problems and Their Association With Internet Use in Medical Residents. Front. Public Health 8:587390. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2020.587390 **Methods:** Participants were 208 residents. The General Health Questionnaire (GHQ), Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ), and the Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale (RSES) were used to assess anxiety, depression, and self-esteem. The Generalized Problematic Internet Use Scale 2 (GPIUS2) was used to measure Internet use. Data were obtained twice, at baseline and 3 months later when the risk of MHP in residency is highest.

Results: Residents with MHP (N = 36) had higher GHQ scores than those without MHP (N = 172) at follow-up. Residents with MHP had more depression and less self-esteem than those without MHP at baseline and follow-up. GPIUS2 total scores, and scores on the subscale preference for online social communication, were higher in residents with MHP. Preference for online social communication at follow-up was positively correlated with depression at baseline and follow-up, and negatively correlated with self-esteem at follow-up.

Conclusions: Depression and self-esteem may predict Internet use when the risk of MHP is greatest for residents, indicating potential risks of excessive Internet use or Internet use as a compensatory coping behavior. Together with depression and self-esteem assessment, Internet use may be a useful index of resident mental health.

Keywords: medical residents, mental health problems, depression, anxiety, self-esteem, internet use

INTRODUCTION

Promoting the mental health of medical residents is important for successful learning in daily clinical practice. Evidence suggests that residents in the early phases of their residency are particularly prone to mental health problems (MHP), typically depression and anxiety (1–3) MHP may lead to mental illness and lapses of professionalism (4, 5) that hamper residents' daily clinical performance.

33

Internet use is a common aspect of daily life. In addition to using the Internet for personal reasons, residents must spend substantial time in the online environment to promote their learning in clinical and academic settings. Although Internet use is useful and safe, excessive Internet use is classed as a behavioral addiction termed "Internet addiction" or "online addiction" (6-8). Excessive Internet use is associated with psychiatric disorders such as depression and anxiety (7, 9) and other related psychological indices, such as low self-esteem (10-13). Thus, excessive Internet use is a behavioral problem that may be associated with subtle signs of MHP in residents. Furthermore, although mental health professionals generally make adequate judgments about MHP, medical educators who are not mental health experts may not. Hence, together with conventional psychological measures, Internet use could function as an index to predict residents' MHP to provide subsequent mental health support. The study aim was to investigate levels of Internet use in residents and the relationship between MHP and Internet use. We hypothesized that MHP, as indicated by depression, anxiety, and low self-esteem, would be associated with a greater degree of Internet use in residents.

METHODS

Participants

A total of 256 medical residents employed at Kyoto University Hospital from 2015 to 2017 participated in this study. There are two 2-year postgraduate residency program courses in Japan; one is a crossed course in which residents train for 1 year at each of two hospitals, and the other is a continuous course in which residents train at one hospital for 2 years. In this study, first-year residents from a continuous course and secondyear residents from a crossed course were recruited. It was assumed that the stress experienced by second-year residents would be very similar to that experienced by first-year residents, in terms of substantial changes in work environment (e.g., changes in patients, workplaces, and medical staff members). Participants had no history of diagnosis of psychiatric illness and no severe physical illnesses that could potentially affect their mental states. Participant demographic characteristics were as follows: subjects with MHP, defined as residents who presented with MHP resulting in their maladaptation at any time during the 2-year residency: age = 26.60 years, standard deviation (SD) = 3.05 years, male/female = 28/16, and residents without MHP: age = 26.40 years, SD = 3.02 years, male/female = 142/72).

The study was approved by the ethics committee of the Kyoto University Graduate School and Faculty of Medicine and was conducted in accordance with the guidelines of the Declaration of Helsinki.

Presentation of MHP

Subjects with MHP were residents who exhibited anxiety and/or depression and lapses in professionalism, such as unexplained delays or absences, emotional conflicts about other medical staff, difficulties in communication, lack of motivation in learning, and greater number of mistakes in clinical settings. Of the 44 residents with MHP, nine requested individual meetings with us directly in relation to their problems, and 35 were observed by medical staff members to have had problems in clinical settings. A medical educator (psychiatrist, author HF) assessed residents' mental status as part of their mental health management.

Questionnaires

Questionnaires were distributed at the beginning of the residency (baseline: T1) and at the follow-up 3 months after baseline (T2). The data were primarily used to inform medical educators who interviewed residents or communicated with them to provide mental health care during their residency, and were used in the current study as a retrospective dataset.

Assessment of General Health and Depression

We used the 12-item General Health Questionnaire (GHQ) (14) to detect signs of depression and anxiety as part of general health, and the nine-item Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ) (15) to assess the degree of depression. The GHQ-12 has been translated into more than 20 languages and used internationally as a standard screening tool for mental health (14). The PHQ-9 is an appropriate tool to assess symptoms of depression. Each GHQ item is rated on a four-point scale of 0 to 3; higher scores indicate poorer health. The two most commonly used scoring types are the bimodal and the four-point Likert scoring methods; we used the former method (the total score range is 0-12) (16). PHQ responses are on a four-point scale ranging from 0 to 3 (the total score range is 0-27), and standard cutoff score for screening for possible major depression is >10 (15, 17, 18).

Other Psychological Variables Related to MHP and Excessive Internet Use

The Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale (RSES) (19, 20) was used to assess the degree of self-esteem. The RSES contains 10 items rated on a four-point scale (the total score range is 10–50). Higher scores indicate higher self-esteem.

Assessment of Internet Use

The Generalized Problematic Internet Use Scale 2 (GPIUS2)

The Generalized Problematic Internet Use Scale 2 (GPIUS2) (21) was used to measure Internet use. The GPIUS2 consists of 15 items rated on an eight-point scale (the total score range is 15–120) to assess the degree of Internet use. The GPIUS2 consists of five subscales: "preference for online social interaction," "mood regulation," "compulsive Internet use," "cognitive preoccupation," and "negative outcomes." Each subscale has three items. Scores on an additional "deficient self-regulation" subscale can be calculated by summing CU and CP scores (21). In this study, the combined "deficient self-regulation (SELF)" subscale was used for statistical analysis. Higher scores indicate a higher level of Internet use. We used the Japanese translation of the original scale.

Statistical Analysis

Demographic data were analyzed using two-tailed *t*-tests or χ^2 tests. Between-group differences in the data at T1 and T2 were



assessed using repeated measures analysis of covariance, with measures repeated at T1 and T2, group as a between-subjects factor, and age and gender as nuisance covariates. *Post-hoc t*-tests were used to compare T1 and T2 scores for each item. Pearson's correlation coefficient or Spearman's rank correlation coefficient was used for the correlational analysis, depending on whether initial exploration suggested normal distributions. Correction for multiple comparisons was not applied to the correlational analyses because of the exploratory nature of the study.

RESULTS

A retrospective investigation of the observation records of the residents revealed that, of the 256 participating residents, 44 had issues that suggested MHP. Except for one resident who

was judged to be clinically depressed, residents with MHP had subclinical levels of anxiety and/or depression resulting in poor adaptation to their residency. A flow chart of the recruitment and analytical process is shown in Figure 1. Of the 256 residents, 208 (36 in residents with MHP and 172 in those without MHP) completed both the T1 and the T2 questionnaires. Therefore, the data for these 208 subjects were used for longitudinal data analyses. In this dataset, the two groups were matched on age and gender: residents with MHP/residents without MHP: age = 26.58/26.40 years, SD = 3.08/3.07 years, t = 0.929, p = 0.354; male and female = 21 and 15/109, and 63, $\chi^2_{(1)} = 0.322$, p = 0.570). Table 1 shows the descriptive statistics and comparisons of psychological data. GHQ and PHQ scores were within subclinical levels. RSES and GPIUS2 scores were also relatively low, similar to the data of previous studies (21-23).
TABLE 1 | Group comparisons between residents with MHP and residents without MHP.

Independent variables		MHP (N = 36)	No MHP (<i>N</i> = 172)	Main effe of grou		Group-by interact		Post-h	oc test
		M (SD)	M (SD)	F (1, 206)	p	F	р	t	p
General Health Questionnaire-12,	T1	4.5 (4.4)	3.3 (4.1)	11.019	0.001*	1.161	0.282	1.554	0.122
(GHQ)	T2	4.2 (3.4)	2.0 (2.7)					4.233	< 0.001*
Patient Health Questionnaire-9	T1	3.2 (4.6)	1.8 (2.7)	16.749	<0.001**	5.338	0.022*	2.431	0.016*
(PHQ)	T2	3.4 (5.2)	1.0 (1.9)					4.826	< 0.001*
Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale	T1	24.9 (4.5)	26.6 (4.3)	12.943	<0.001**	6.323	0.013*	-2.219	0.028*
(RSES)	T2	23.5 (4.6)	27.1 (4.7)					-4.205	< 0.001*
GPIUS2	T1	41.6 (19.5)	36.0 (16.0)	4.017	0.046*	0.023	0.880	1.838	0.067
Total score	T2	42.0 (20.9)	37.0 (16.8)					1.569	0.118
GPIUS2	T1	7.9 (4.5)	6.4 (3.6)	5.159	0.024*	0.75	0.785	2.078	0.039*
Preference for online social interaction	T2	8.2 (4.8)	6.9 (4.0)					1.658	0.099
GPIUS2	T1	9.4 (4.7)	9.4 (4.7)	1.766	0.185	3.764	0.054	0.043	0.966
Mood regulation	T2	9.8 (5.4)	8.1 (4.5)					2.008	0.046*
GPIUS2	T1	16.6 (8.0)	14.6 (7.0)	1.563	0.213	0.497	0.481	1.512	0.132
Deficient self-regulation	T2	17.1 (10.1)	16.3 (7.8)					0.515	0.607
GPIUS2	T1	7.0 (4.7)	5.6 (3.6)	0.803	0.371	3.42	0.066	1.999	0.047*
Negative outcomes	T2	7.4 (5.6)	7.7 (4.5)					-0.377	0.707

MHP, mental health problems; GPIUS2, Generalized Problematic Internet Use Scale 2; SD, standard deviation; T1, Time 1 (baseline); T2, Time 2 (3 months after baseline), *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01.

Group Comparisons Between Residents With MHP and Those Without MHP

All group comparison results for each measure are described below, regardless of the statistical significance of the group and group-by-time interaction effects and those of the *post-hoc* analyses, because all group differences were of interest at both T1 and T2. **Table 1** shows the results of the group comparisons for each measure.

General Health (GHQ) Scores

There was a significant main effect of group $[F_{(1, 206)} = 11.019, p = 0.001]$, but the group-by-time interaction was not significant. A *post-hoc* analysis of variance (ANOVA) showed that GHQ scores were significantly higher in residents with MHP than in those without MHP at T2 (t = 4.233, p < 0.001).

Depression (PHQ) Scores

There was a main effect for group $[F_{(1, 206)} = 16.749, p < 0.001]$, and the group-by-time interaction was also significant (F = 5.338, p = 0.022). *Post-hoc* analyses showed that the PHQ scores in residents with MHP were higher than those in residents without MHP at T1 (t = 2.431, p = 0.016) and T2 (t = 4.826, p < 0.001).

Self-Esteem (RSES) Scores

There was a main effect for group $[F_{(1, 206)} = 12.943, p < 0.001]$, and the group-by-time interaction was also significant (F = 6.323, p = 0.013). The RSES scores were lower in residents with MHP than in those without MHP at T1 (t = -2.219, p = 0.028) and T2 (t = -4.205, p < 0.001).

Problematic Internet Use (GPIUS2) Scores

For GPIUS2 total scores, there was a main effect for group $[F_{(1, 206)} = 4.017, p = 0.046]$, but no group-by-time interaction. There was also a significant group effect for preference for online social interaction subscale scores $[F_{(1, 206)} = 5.159, p = 0.024]$, but no group-by-time interaction. *Post-hoc* analyses showed that residents with MHP scored higher than those without MHP on preference for online social interaction at T1 (t = 2.078, p = 0.039), on negative outcomes at T1 (t = 1.999, p = 0.047), and on mood regulation at T2 (t = 2.008, p = 0.046). However, none of the other total or subscale scores differed between the two groups.

Correlational Analysis

Kolmogorov-Smirnov tests showed that none of the correlational analysis variables were normally distributed, so Spearman's rank correlation coefficient was used. For residents with MHP, GPIUS2 mood regulation scores at T1 were positively correlated with PHQ scores at T2. None of the other GPIUS2 total scores or subscale scores at T1 were correlated with GHQ, PHQ, or RSES scores at T1 and T2. For T2, GPIUS2 preference for online social interaction scores were positively correlated with PHQ scores at both T1 ($\rho = 0.382$, p = 0.021) and T2 ($\rho = 0.482$, p = 0.009) and negatively correlated with RSES scores at T2 ($\rho = -0.447$, p = 0.006). GPIUS2 mood regulation scores at T2 were positively correlated with PHQ scores at T2 ($\rho = 0.371$, p = 0.025). GPIUS2 negative outcome scores were negatively correlated with RSES scores at T2 ($\rho = -0.357$, p = 0.032) (Table 2). Figure 2 shows scatterplots of the correlations between scores for these variables in residents with MHP and residents without MHP.

TABLE 2 | Correlations between GPIUS2 scores and other psychological variables in residents with MHP.

Variable	General Health	Questionnaire-12	Patient Health	Questionnaire-9	Rosenberg Sel	f-Esteem Scale
	T1	T2	T1	T2	T1	T2
	ρ	ρ	ρ	ρ	ρ	ρ
	(p)	(q)	(p)	(q)	(p)	(p)
GPIUS2	0.081	0.287	0.077	0.207	-0.099	-0.184
otal score at T1	(0.636)	(0.089)	(0.651)	(0.224)	(0.564)	(0.281)
GPIUS2	-0.054	0.131	0.063	0.051	-0.035	-0.134
Preference for online social interaction at T1 GPIUS2	(0.754) 0.043	(0.443) 0.205	(0.714) 0.303	(0.766) 0.379	(0.835) 0.087	(0.434) 0.079
Mood regulation at T1	(0.802)	(0.230)	(0.072)	(0.022*)	(0.613)	(0.646)
GPIUS2	0.123	0.235	-0.026	0.067	0.006	-0.023
Deficient self-regulation at T1	(0.472)	(0.166)	(0.878)	(0.697)	(0.968)	(0.893)
GPIUS2	0.056	0.276	-0.242	-0.050	-0.132	-0.167
Jegative outcomes at T1	(0.744)	(0.103)	(0.153)	(0.772)	(0.441)	(0.328)
GPIUS2	0.020	0.133	0.135	0.286	-0.140	-0.260
otal score at T2	(0.903)	(0.437)	(0.430)	(0.090)	(0.413)	(0.125)
GPIUS2	0.146	0.301	0.382	0.428	-0.304	-0.447
Preference for online social interaction at T2	(0.395)	(0.074)	(0.021*)	(0.009**)	(0.071)	(0.006*)
GPIUS2	-0.125	0.042	0.299	0.371	0.058	0.037
Mood regulation at T2	(0.464)	(0.804)	(0.075)	(0.025*)	(0.734)	(0.828)
GPIUS2	0.082	0.002	0.139	0.224	-0.025	-0.223
Deficient self-regulation at T2	(0.632)	(0.987)	(0.415)	(0.187)	(0.883)	(0.190)
GPIUS2	0.207	0.188	0.072	0.131	-0.197	-0.357
Negative outcomes at T2	(0.225)	(0.269)	(0.674)	(0.444)	(0.248)	(0.032*)

MHP, mental health problems; GPIUS2, Generalized Problematic Internet Use Scale 2; T1, Time 1 (baseline); T2, Time 2 (3 months after baseline); *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01.

DISCUSSION

In the present study, we observed group differences between residents with MHP and those without MHP in GHQ, PHQ, RSES, and GPIUS2 scores. Post-hoc analyses showed that, compared with residents without MHP, those with MHP had higher GHQ scores at T2, higher PHQ scores at T1 and T2, and lower RSES scores at T1 and T2. These results suggest that signs of greater depression and lower selfesteem at the start of residency (i.e., T1) may be useful information for predicting which residents may exhibit MHP during the residency. Higher scores on the GPIUS2 subscale preference for online social interaction at T1 may also predict the potential emergence of MHP in residents. However, the information should be considered referential, as these scores in residents with MHP were generally within subclinical levels. The association between depression and self-esteem is well known; therefore, it would be useful to assess self-esteem along with depression in the mental health management of residents. Residents with no MHP may be able to cope with low levels of depression during the course of their residency, presumably because their experiences help to foster confidence and self-efficacy (24, 25). Confidence and self-efficacy are also associated with self-esteem, which we assessed using the RSES.

The observed pattern of greater Internet use in residents with MHP indicates that residents likely to develop future MHP have a tendency to engage in excessive Internet use during residency. Alternatively, Internet use could be interpreted as a coping behavior for stressful daily clinical practice. The betweengroup difference in GPIUS2 total scores and in scores on the subscales preference for online social interaction scores, mood regulation, and negative outcomes suggest that Internet use is a convenient index for detecting residents' MHP, together with conventional psychological measures of depression, anxiety, and self-esteem (12).

GPIUS2 mood regulation scores at T1 and T2 were positively correlated with PHQ depression scores at T2, indicating that a tendency to use the Internet for mood regulation predicts future depression in residents. Regarding GPIUS2 scores at T2 (but not T1), preference for online social interaction was positively correlated with PHQ depression scores at T1 and T2, and negatively correlated with selfesteem at T2 in residents with MHP. These associations show that highly depressed residents at baseline and 3-month follow-up tend to have higher Internet use, and indicate that depression level at baseline predicts the risk of greater Internet use for social interaction, and that current depression status reflects residents' Internet use. Furthermore, lower selfesteem at follow-up reflected a tendency for excessive Internet



use, which is in line with the association between selfesteem and excessive Internet use found in previous studies (12, 26, 27). A possible interpretation of the preference for online social interaction in residents with MHP is that these individuals experience difficulties in face-to-face communication, particularly in medical settings. Alternatively, they may tend to use online communication tools such as social networking services for stress coping (12, 28, 29). Compared with residents without MHP, those with MHP scored higher on PHQ depression and lower on self-esteem at both T1 and T2. This indicates that residents with MHP had both a stable (trait) and more temporary state of depression and lower self-esteem, suggesting that they have difficulties coping with depression and fostering their own self-esteem throughout residency, which may lead to their higher levels of Internet use. Therefore, it may be possible (even for non-mental health expert educators) to manage residents' MHP by attempting to improve their depression and self-esteem to indirectly regulate their Internet use. This could be implemented through daily interaction between educators and learners, taking into account any difficulties experienced by residents in face-toface communication. Interventions for comorbid psychiatric disorders are important for the treatment of excessive Internet use (30).

This study had several limitations. First, although this was a longitudinal study, the assumption of a causal relationship between Internet use and MHP must be made cautiously. Higher scores for a preference for online social interaction in residents with MHP at baseline indicate that Internet use may predict the later emergence of MHP. The positive correlation between mood regulation at baseline and depression at T2 also suggest the predictive nature of Internet use. However, the positive correlation between depression at baseline and preference for online social interaction at T2 indicate the inverse: that psychopathology can predict the degree of Internet use. Therefore, the present results should be considered only suggestive of a possible causal relationship between Internet use and mental health. Moreover, it is still unclear whether the higher Internet use in residents with MHP is addictive/problematic or is a compensatory coping reaction that has health benefits. Although low self-esteem at the followup was associated with the presence of Internet use negative outcomes in residents with MHP, the degree of Internet use was relatively low among participants. Therefore, future studies must recruit residents with heavy Internet use to clarify this point. Second, there were several missing data points because the submission rate was lower at T2 than at T1. Finally, there was no correction for multiple comparisons in the correlational analyses, because of the exploratory nature of the study.

In summary, we found that depression and low selfesteem were associated with higher Internet use 3 months after the start of residency, indicating that residents with a potential risk of MHP during the course of the residency may be at risk for excessive Internet use as a compensatory coping behavior. Depression and self-esteem at baseline may predict the level of Internet use at the time when the risk of MHP is highest for residents, although the assumption of a causal relationship between Internet use and mental health should be made with caution. It may be effective to provide interventions for residents with depression and low self-esteem to manage Internet use, which may help to avoid wasting societal resources by maintaining residents' mental health and their performance in clinical settings. Internet use may be a useful index of mental health for residents, as it is associated with depression, anxiety, and low self-esteem. It would be helpful to share information about residents' daily Internet use, particularly for educators who are not mental health experts.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Kyoto university graduate school and faculty of medicine, Ethics committee. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

TU and HF conceived, designed, and conducted the experiments, acquired and analyzed the data, and drafted the manuscript. HF contributed to the conception of the study, interpretation of data, and revisions for critically important intellectual content. TM and KI contributed to the design and data acquisition, interpretation of data, and drafting the manuscript. All authors approved the final manuscript for submission and agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work, including the assurance that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part are appropriately investigated and resolved.

REFERENCES

- Mata DA, Ramos MA, Bansal N, Khan R, Guille C, Di Angelantonio E, et al. Prevalence of depression and depressive symptoms among resident physicians a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA - J Am Med Assoc.* (2015) 314:2373–83. doi: 10.1001/jama.2015.15845
- Ito M, Seo E, Ogawa R, Sanuki M, Maeno T, Maeno T. Can we predict future depression in residents before the start of clinical training? *Med Educ.* (2015) 49:215–23. doi: 10.1111/medu.12620
- Hope V, Henderson M. Medical student depression, anxiety and distress outside north america: A systematic review. *Med Educ.* (2014) 48:963–79. doi: 10.1111/medu.12512
- 4. Haglund MEM, Aan Het Rot M, Cooper NS, Nestadt PS, Muller D, Southwick SM, et al. Resilience in the third year of medical school: a prospective study of the associations between stressful events occurring during clinical rotations and student well-being. *Acad Med.* (2009) 84:258–68. doi: 10.1097/ACM.0b013e31819381b1
- Mareiniss DP. Decreasing GME training stress to foster residents' professionalism. Acad Med. (2004) 79:825–31. doi: 10.1097/00001888-200409000-00003
- Young KS. Internet addiction. Am Behav Sci. (2004) 48:402–15. doi: 10.1177/0002764204270278
- Lin LY, Sidani JE, Shensa A, Radovic A, Miller E, Colditz JB, et al. Association between social media use and depression among U.S. young adults. *Depress Anxiety*. (2016) 33:323–1. doi: 10.1002/da.22466
- Weinstein A, Lejoyeux M. Internet addiction or excessive internet use. Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse. (2010) 36:277–83. doi: 10.3109/00952990.2010.491880
- Andreassen CS, Billieux J, Griffiths MD, Kuss DJ, Demetrovics Z, Mazzoni E, et al. The relationship between addictive use of social media and video games and symptoms of psychiatric disorders: a large-scale cross-sectional study. *Psychol Addict Behav.* (2016) 30:252–62. doi: 10.1037/adb0000160
- Mei S, Yau YHC, Chai J, Guo J, Potenza MN. Problematic Internet use, wellbeing, self-esteem and self-control: data from a high-school survey in China. *Addict Behav.* (2016) 61:74–9. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2016.05.009
- Niemz K, Griffiths M, Banyard P. Prevalence of pathological Internet use among university students and correlations with self-esteem, the General Health Questionnaire (GHQ), and disinhibition. *Cyberpsychology Behav.* (2005) 8:562–70. doi: 10.1089/cpb.2005.8.562
- Younes F, Halawi G, Jabbour H, El Osta N, Karam L, Hajj A, et al. Internet addiction and relationships with insomnia, anxiety, depression, stress and selfesteem in university students: a cross-sectional designed study. *PLoS ONE*. (2016) 11:e0161126. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0161126

FUNDING

This project was funded by a Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research on Innovative Areas (Ministry of Education, Culture Sports, Science and Technology, Japan, 16H06400, 16H06402, 16H06395, and 16H06397), a Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (C) (Japan Society for The Promotion of Science, 16K01790), a Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (A) (Japan Society for The Promotion of Science, 19H00518), and a Grant-in-Aid by the Smoking Research Foundation.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are grateful to the staff at Kyoto University Hospital Integrated Clinical Education Center for all their support during this survey. We thank Diane Williams, Ph.D., from Edanz Group (https://en-author-services.edanzgroup.com/ac), for editing a draft of this manuscript.

- Kross E, Verduyn P, Demiralp E, Park J, Lee DS, Lin N, et al. Facebook use predicts declines in subjective well-being in young adults. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e0069841. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0069841
- 14. Goldberg DP, Gater R, Sartorius N, Ustun TB, Piccinelli M, Gureje O, et al. The validity of two versions of the GHQ in the WHO study of mental illness in general health care. *Psychol Med.* (1997) 27:191–7. doi: 10.1017/S0033291796004242
- Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JBW. The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. J Gen Intern Med. (2001) 16:606–13. doi: 10.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016009606.x
- Goldberg DP, Oldehinkel T, Ormel J. Why GHQ threshold varies from one place to another. *Psychol Med.* (1998) 28:915–21. doi: 10.1017/S0033291798006874
- Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JBW. Validation and utility of a self-report version of PRIME-MD: The PHQ primary care study. J Am Med Assoc. (1999) 282:1737–44. doi: 10.1001/jama.282.18.1737
- Kroenke K, Spitzer RL. The PHQ-9: a new depression diagnostic and severity measure. *Psychiatr Ann.* (2002) 32:509–15. doi: 10.3928/0048-5713-20020901-06
- 19. Rosenberg M. Society and the Adolescent Self-Image. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press (1965).
- Mimura C, Griffiths P. A Japanese version of the Rosenberg self-esteem scale: translation and equivalence assessment. J Psychosom Res. (2007) 62:589–94. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2006.11.004
- Caplan SE. Theory and measurement of generalized problematic Internet use: A two-step approach. *Comput Human Behav.* (2010) 26:1089–97. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2010.03.012
- Sinclair SJ, Blais MA, Gansler DA, Sandberg E, Bistis K, LoCicero A. Psychometric properties of the Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale: overall and across demographic groups living within the United States. *Eval Heal Prof.* (2010) 33:56–80. doi: 10.1177/0163278709356187
- Schmitt DP, Allik J. Simultaneous administration of the Rosenberg selfesteem scale in 53 nations: Exploring the universal and culture-specific features of global self-esteem. J Pers Soc Psychol. (2005) 89:623–42. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.89.4.623
- Van Dyk J, Siedlecki SL, Fitzpatrick JJ. Frontline nurse managers' confidence and self-efficacy. J Nurs Manag. (2016) 24:533–9. doi: 10.1111/jonm. 12355
- Lo R. A longitudinal study of perceived level of stress, coping and self-esteem of undergraduate nursing students: an Australian case study. J Adv Nurs. (2002) 39:119–26. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2648.2000. 02251.x

- Woods HC, Scott H. #Sleepyteens: social media use in adolescence is associated with poor sleep quality, anxiety, depression and low self-esteem. J Adolesc. (2016) 51:41–9. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2016. 05.008
- Bányai F, Zsila Á, Király O, Maraz A, Elekes Z, Griffiths MD, et al. Problematic social media use: Results from a large-scale nationally representative adolescent sample. *PLoS ONE.* (2017) 12:e0169839. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0169839
- Sriwilai K, Charoensukmongkol P. Face it, don't Facebook it: impacts of social media addiction on mindfulness, coping strategies and the consequence on emotional exhaustion. *Stress Heal.* (2016) 32:427–34. doi: 10.1002/smi.2637
- Wolfers LN, Festl R, Utz S. Do smartphones and social network sites become more important when experiencing stress? Results from longitudinal data. *Comput Human Behav.* (2020) 109:106339. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2020. 106339
- Nakayama H, Mihara S, Higuchi S. Treatment and risk factors of Internet use disorders. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2017) 71:492–505. doi: 10.1111/pcn.12493

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Ueno, Ito, Murai and Fujiwara. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Impact of Social Media Use on Job Burnout: The Role of Social Comparison

Ruixia Han^{1,2}, Jian Xu^{1,2,3*}, Yan Ge¹ and Yulin Qin⁴

¹ School of Media and Communication, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China, ² Institute of Cultural Innovation and Youth Development, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China, ³ China Institute for Urban Governance, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China, ⁴ Koguan School of Law, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, Shanghai, China

Through an online survey of a working population sample (N = 530), this study examines the role of social comparison between social media use and job burnout. The results show that: (1) there is a significant positive correlation between social media use and job burnout; (2) social comparison plays a moderating role in social media's impact on burnout. In high social comparative groups, the moderating role develops into an mediating role, which means that job burnout is only significant when social media addiction and the inclination of social comparison are simultaneously strong; (3) Social media users who often make downward comparison and get positive emotions from it are more prone to job burnout. This study reveals the possible negative effects of overuse of new media and enriches the understanding of how social media shapes individuals' psychology and behavior. Studies have also shown that regulating and controlling social comparisons and avoiding excessive use of social media may be effective in reducing job burnout.

Edited by:

Konstantinos loannidis, University of Cambridge, United Kingdom

OPEN ACCESS

Reviewed by:

Lucia Monacis, University of Foggia, Italy Konstantinos E. Siomos, University of Thessaly, Greece

> *Correspondence: Jian Xu xujian@sjtu.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

Received: 28 July 2020 Accepted: 27 October 2020 Published: 19 November 2020

Citation:

Han R, Xu J, Ge Y and Qin Y (2020) The Impact of Social Media Use on Job Burnout: The Role of Social Comparison. Front. Public Health 8:588097. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2020.588097 Keywords: social media, job burnout, social comparison, moderating role, mediating role

INTRODUCTION

Social media is fully involved in every aspect of our daily life. While it brings convenience to life, it also brings us a lot of trouble. For example, social media can provide professional information and network support, but it also consumes users' time and energy, which may interfere with life order and disrupt psychological balance.

Social psychology shows that people constantly judge their own living conditions by obtaining information from others. This kind of psychological activity, namely social comparison, is an important part of social cognition, by which individuals can realize their own social situation or state evaluation. Nowadays, social media has significantly improved the efficiency of obtaining information from others, so we could speculate that social media has the function of promoting social comparison. Social media may increase the frequency and intensity of individual's self-evaluation of appearance, health, family, wealth, and occupation. This study focuses on the impact of social media usage on personal professional status, especially on the relationship between social media (WeChat) usage and job burnout.

At the same time, we also found that in previous studies, people paid more attention to the relationship between different types of social comparisons, such as upward comparison, downward comparison, and job burnout. For example, Buunk et al. (1) found that compared with downward comparison, upward comparison is more likely to trigger positive emotions, less negative emotions, and people with more negative emotions have a higher level of job burnout. The findings of

41

Carmona et al. (2) also show that downward identification and upward contrast are more likely to have a positive correlation with job burnout, while upward identification is negatively related to job burnout. These studies all indicate the possible impact of upward comparison and downward comparison on job burnout, especially the emotional effect caused by this comparison. Now that social media is widely used, has the relationship between different social comparisons and job burnout changed? In the social media space, what kind of associations are there between different types of social comparisons, the emotions they cause and job burnout?

LITERATURE REVIEW AND RESEARCH HYPOTHESES

WeChat Addiction and Job Burnout

As early as 1969, Bradley proposed the notion of burnout, or job burnout (3), but it was Freudenberge (4) who first discussed it as a proper academic concept. The word "burn out" was first used to describe the outcome of chronic drug use. Freudenberge borrowed the term to describe the phenomenon in which hospital volunteers' enthusiasm, motivation, and commitment reduced after one year of work and they showed symptoms of psychological and physical disorder. Because such phenomena are common in the professional life of modern society, Freudenberge's research has attracted widespread attention (5). At present, researchers usually adopt Maslach's definition of the phenomenon from three dimensions. Job burnout is a long-term response to continuous emotional and interpersonal stress at work. It includes exhaustion, cynicism, and sense of inefficacy (6). Related research demonstrates that at the individual level, its influencing factors include role pressure, employee autonomy, work pressure, social support, high-intensity interpersonal interactions, job roles, and demographic variables, etc. At the environmental and organizational level, they include leadership style, reward and punishment methods, Job autonomy, decisionmaking opportunities, and values in the organization (7). The job demands-resources model (8) and the psychological capital model (9) analyze job burnout on both levels and are currently the most commonly used research models.

With the widespread use of social media, researchers have begun to focus on social media's relationship to professional feelings. For example, using the work-demand-resource model, Demerouti et al. (8) have found that social media can alleviate employees' work pressure. Nabi et al. (10) discover that social support by social media can reduce the emotional exhaustion caused by work. Moqbel et al. (11) demonstrates that social media can reduce the stress caused by work conflicts. Schouten et al. (12) shows that social media increases interaction between colleagues and reduces colleagues' alienation at work. Valkenburg et al.'s (13) research shows that Facebook has increased the sense of work participation and the sense of accomplishment of employees. In general, from the perspective of social support and social compensation theory, previous studies have emphasized that the use of social media can improve professional experience and reduce job burnout.

A relatively neglected but important phenomenon is the problem of overuse of social media, also known as social media addiction. Borrowing from cognitive-behavioral theory, social cognitive theory, and human-environment model, Zheng (14) shows that the excessive use of social media has a negative impact on family relationship, general interpersonal relationship, work, and study. Through a survey of Thai corporate employees, Sriwilai and Charoensukmongkol (15) observe that social media addiction reduces the use of problem-oriented work patterns and improves the use of emotionally-oriented work patterns, which triggers emotions related to burnout depletion. Research by Junco shows that the excessive use of social media at work can distract attention, affect job performance, and cause burnout. He also believes that social media usage reduces face-to-face interactions among colleagues, creates a sense of alienation, and promotes a sense of burnout (16). Valkenburg et al. (13) have shown that negative feedback received from social media can hurt personal accomplishment and cause burnout. In a review of relevant research, Andreassen (17) points out that social media addiction can have negative effects on multiple aspects of individual health, psychology, life, and work performance. Based on this, we propose the first hypothesis of this study:

H1: There is a positive correlation between social media usage and job burnout.

Social Media Use and Social Comparison

Facebook has 2 billion users globally (18) and WeChat users have exceeded 1 billion (19). On social media, users present much personal information, including achievements, attitudes, activities, personalities, social relationships, and daily habits etc., to build their own image and provide a window for people to understand each other. There is reason to speculate that people have more opportunities to compare with others.

Related research supports the above speculation. Joinson (20) argues that more users spend time "diving" or viewing other people's Facebook activities than "posting" information about themselves. Vogel et al. (21) have shown that social media makes society more efficient and that those who are more prone to society will use Facebook more frequently, which also means that they are more likely to acquire negative feelings or low self-evaluation. Sagioglou and Greitemeyer (22) states that the longer individuals use Facebook, the stronger are their negative emotions. One of the reasons is that browsing other people's information leads to thinking about what they mean. Nesi and Prinstein (23) observes that social media usage is related to adolescents' depression and that frequent use and excessive search will strengthen adolescents' sense of social comparison, which may bring unhappiness. Xie and An (24) believe that social media's notion of sharing can easily induce users to evaluate their wealth, happiness, and success. Based on this, we propose the second hypothesis of this study:

H2: There is a positive correlation between social media usage and social comparison.

Social Comparison and Job Burnout

Festinger (25) introduced the concept of social comparison in 1954. Generally speaking, social comparison refers to the psychological activities of individuals with others in terms of abilities, wealth, and social status. Social comparison helps individuals to establish Self-awareness. In Festinger's view, social comparison provides the internal psychological drive for individual's continuous pursuit of upward social mobility and thereby promotes the development of human society. According to Buunk and Gibbons (26), it is precisely through comparison that human beings confirm their own conditions, resist threats, and gain a sense of belonging. Social comparison includes upward social comparison, downward social comparison, and constructive social comparison (27). Different types of social comparison correspond to different social situations and have different social consequences.

Related research on burnout always takes social comparison as their concern. For Maslach et al. (28), feelings such as emotional exhaustion and reduced sense of accomplishment in job burnout are mostly derived from comparisons with colleagues in similar situations. Michinov (29) shows that socially-perceived control can effectively reduce job burnout. Kitchel et al. (30) find that social comparison plays a mediating role between job satisfaction and job burnout.

Chinese researchers have also noticed the relationship between social comparison and job burnout. For example, Zhao et al. (31) show that, in comparison to colleagues who get promoted, the higher the similarity is, and the larger the power gap is, knowledge-oriented employees are more likely to feel jealous and give up to job burnout. Jiang (32) discovers that both the upward comparison and downward identification create job burnout, whereas upward identification and downward comparison can effectively reduce burnout. Based on these findings, we propose a third hypothesis for this study:

H3: There is a positive correlation between social comparison and job burnout.

Social Media Usage, Social Comparison and Job Burnout

The above empirical research shows that social media usage is positively related to job burnout and social comparison, while social comparison is also positively related to job burnout. Logically, social media provides more possibilities for social comparison, and more social comparisons will trigger more frequent self-evaluation. Evaluation may be positive or negative, but burnout is a negative evaluation. The question is what is the more specific role of social comparison in connecting social media usage and job burnout? In other words, as a psychological mechanism, does social comparison play a moderating role, mediating role, or no obvious effect? Previous studies have provided the possibility of the three connections, but they have not explored the relationship or the mechanism of action in detail. So if social comparison has a moderating or moderating effect between social media addiction and job burnout, what is the conditional mechanism for this effect? Further question: What type of social comparison is more likely to play a role



between social media addiction and job burnout? With these questions we conducted an exploratory study. The core issues and design of the research are as follows:

RQ: Does social comparison moderate or mediate social media's impact on job burnout? The research model is shown in **Figure 1**.

RESEARCH DESIGN AND IMPLEMENTATION

Sample and Data Collection

In Chinese social media, WeChat has many users. We use WeChat users as a sample group of social media and issue questionnaires through the online survey platform (https://www.wjx.cn/)(May 10-15, 2019). Using "on-the-job" and "whether to use WeChat" as sample screening questions, we randomly invited volunteers from a sample database of up to 2.6 million people to participate in the survey. In addition to screening questions, we also set IP addresses, computers, mobile phones, user restrictions, and logical questions to ensure that each sample can only be filled out once. A total of 530 valid questionnaires were eventually recovered (**Table 1**). Valid questionnaire recovery rate is 89%. *T*-tests of the first 25% and last 25% of the demographic data and all variables in the survey showed that there was no non-response bias at a confidence interval of 0.01.

Measurement

Burnout

We use the common Marl Burnout Inventory-General Survey (MBI-GS) to measure burnout. The Chinese version of the scale was revised by Li et al. (33). It contains 16 questions. Among them, 11-16 questions are reversed scoring, using Likert 7-point scoring (1 = never-7 = daily). The three dimensions of the question are emotional exhaustion, cynical (work alienation) and low self-fulfillment. Internal consistency (Cronbach's Alpha = 0.888), KMO and bartlett spherical test results (0.915) and significance (*p* = 0.000) meet the use standards.

Social Media Usage

For the measurement of social media usage, we adopt the widely employed the social media addiction scale compiled by Jamal Al-Menayes (34), only replacing "Social Media" with "WeChat." The main questions are "I'm in a bad mood after being interrupted using WeChat," "I like to cancel a meeting when I like to

	Categories	Frequency	Percentage (%)
Gender	Male	246	44.7
	Female	314	55.3
Education	Junior high school and below	6	1.1
	High school	15	1.7
	College/University	461	83.8
	Master	64	11.6
	Doctor and above	4	0.7
Income per year (Rmb)	<10,000	58	10.5
	10,000–30,000	49	8.9
	30,000–50,000	48	8.7
	50,000-100,000	186	33.8
	100,000-200,000	168	30.5
	200,000-500,000	34	6.2
	>500,000	7	1.3
Age	Mean	30.5	
Years of Current Job	Mean	6.61	

TABLE 1 | Distribution of sample socio-demographics.

communicate on WeChat," "I find that I have used WeChat for more than the original plan," "Broken WeChat will make me feel insecure," and "Ignored work or study because of WeChat," etc., There are 10 questions in total. The scale uses Likert 5-point scoring (1 = never-5 = very frequently), internal consistency (Cronbach's Alpha = 0.735), KMO and bartlett spherical test results (0.776), significance (p = 0.000) meet the use standards.

Social Comparison

Social comparison is measured by the scale made by Gibbons and Buunk. Its Chinese version has been revised by Wan et al. (35). The questionnaire contains 11 questions. They include "I always pay close attention to the difference between how I do things with others," "I often treat what my loved one (boy or girlfriend, family member, etc.) is doing and others," "I often compare what I do with others in life," and so on. Our design also includes two reverse scoring questions. The scale uses Likert 5-point scoring (1 = never-5 = very frequently). Internal consistency (Cronbach's Alpha = 0.832), KMO and bartlett spherical test results (0.881), significance (p = 0.000) all meet the use criteria.

Demographic Variables

Existing research shows that gender, age, and current working hours may affect job burnout, so we put it in the regression model as a background variable. The test finds that the type of occupation and education do not significantly affect job burnout. In order to maintain the consistency of the measurement variable levels, we exclude them from the overall model.

Statistical Analysis

We adopted hierarchical regression method by spss19.0 to test relevant research hypotheses. In the test of mediation or

TABLE 2 | Result of correlation test (N = 530).

Variables	Age	Years of Current Job	Wechat Use	Social Comparison	Job Burnout
Age					
Years of Current Job	0.121**				
Wechat Use	-0.075	-0.037			
Social Comparison	0.080	0.081	0.317**		
Job Burnout	0.121**	0.068	0.119**	0.020	
Mean	10.72	6.61	2.9736	2.8300	4.9875
Sd	5.857	5.080	0.59230	0.67837	0.85416

**p < 0.01.

moderation, we mainly adopt causal step regression method of Baron and Kenny (36). However, as pointed out by subsequent researchers such as Hayes (37), causal step regression cannot provide relevant data such as confidence intervals and effect sizes.

FINDINGS

Correlation Test

Correlation tests show that WeChat usage has a significant and positive correlation with both job burnout and social comparison. There is no significant correlation between social comparison and job burnout. In other words, samples using WeChat more frequently have a stronger sense of job burnout and a stronger tendency for social comparison (see bold values in **Table 2**). However, samples more subject to social comparison do not necessarily feel job burnout. In addition, older people are more prone to burnout (**Table 2**).

Regression Analysis and Hypothesis Testing

We conduct a regression analysis to test our research hypotheses (Table 3). Model3-1 uses demographic variables as independent variables and finds that the age variables have a significant effect on job burnout. Model3-2 introduces the use of independent variable WeChat and shows that WeChat usage has a significant and positive impact on burnout, which supports H1. Model 3 introduces social comparison and discovers that social comparison has no significant effect on job burnout, which denies H3. Model3-4 introduces two variables, WeChat usage and social comparison, and finds that WeChat usage has a significant impact on job burnout but social comparison has no significant impact on job burnout. Model3-5 introduces as its variable the interacting effect of WeChat usage and social comparison, and finds that the significant effect of WeChat usage in Model3-2 and Model3-4 no longer exists, but social comparison and its interacting effect with WeChat usage are significant. This indicates that social comparison moderates between WeChat usage and job burnout. In addition, Model3-5 also gets the highest adjusted R^2 . This finding partially answers RQ.

TABLE 3 | Multiple Regression Analysis for Job Burnout (Standard coefficient; N = 530).

		M3-1	M 3-2	M 3-3	M 3-4	M 3-5
	Gender	0.054	0.067	0.053	0.074	0.074
	Age	0.178*	0.194**	0.178**	0.198**	0.208**
	Years of Current Job	-0.066	-0.072	-0.066	-0.070	-0.077
Independent variable	Wechat Use		0.137**		0.153**	-0.227
Moderating variable	Social Comparison			0.005	-0.047	-0.508*
Interaction variable	Wechat Use×Social Comparison					0.691*
	F	3.500*	5.178***	2.623*	4.351**	4.553***
	Adjusted R ²	0.014	0.031	0.012	0.031	0.139

p < 0.05, p < 0.01, p < 0.01

TABLE 4 | Multi-level regression analysis model of job burnout in high social comparative groups (Standard coefficient; N = 133).

		M4-1	M4-2	M4-3	M 4-4	M4-5
	Gender	0.198*	0.231**	0.156	0.190*	0.200*
	Age	-0.004	0.082	-0.020	0.045	0.024
	Years of Current Job	0.210	0.146	0.234*	0.183	0.190
Independent variable	Wechat Use		0.251**		0.179	-2.380*
Moderating variable	Social Comparison			0.260**	0.198*	-1.029*
Interaction variable	Wechat Use × Social Comparison					3.155*
	F	3.181*	4.648**	4.961**	4.835***	5.205***
	Adjusted R ²	0.047	0.100	0.107	0.127	0.160

p < 0.05, p < 0.01, p < 0.001

In order to better understand the role of social comparison, we also conducted a regression analysis on the data of the high social comparison tendency sample (the top 25% of the score) (**Table 4**). Model4-2 shows that WeChat usage has a significant effect on burnout. Model4-3 shows that social comparison also has a significant effect on burnout. Model4-4 shows that the introduction of WeChat usage has no significant effect on job burnout. Model4-5 further shows that WeChat usage, social comparison, and their interaction have significant effects on job burnout. This shows that, in the sample of high social comparison tendency, social comparison has a powerful effect beyond the use of WeChat. Conversely, it indicates that only when social comparison tendencies are more obvious and social media use is strong, job burnout is more likely to occur.

Simple Effects Analysis

The sample group is divided into high (25% before the score, N = 133), low (25% after the score, N = 133) and medium (score between the high and low, 50%, N = 264) according to the social tendency. Regression fit analysis of three groups shows that in the high propensity group, WeChat usage is significantly predictive of burnout ($\beta = 0.32$, P = 0.003, $R^2 = 0.064$), whereas in the other two groups, the predictive power is not significant (medium: $\beta = 0.05$, P = 0.58, $R^2 = 0.001$; Low: $\beta = 0.13$, P = 0.34, $R^2 = 0.007$). **Figure 2** shows plainly that when the sample society is more inclined and indulged in WeChat, job burnout is more likely to occur.

Extended Analysis: WeChat Users' Upward and Downward Comparison and Its Impact on Job Burnout

In order to further explore how social comparison affects the job burnout of WeChat users, we introduce two categories of social comparison: upward comparison and downward comparison. We also introduce into our regression analysis four independent variables, which include the positive emotions caused by upward comparison, the negative emotions caused by downward comparison, and the negative emotions caused by downward comparison. At the same time, the above four variables and the cross-variables formed by the use of WeChat are also introduced into the regression model to examine their impact on burnout. **Table 5** displays the result of our multi-level regression analysis.

In this study, we use the following four questions to measure the positive and negative emotions caused by upward and downward comparison. They are (1) finding colleagues or friends perform better in work and life than yourself makes you feel happy; (2) finding colleagues or friends perform better in work and life than yourself makes you feel unhappy; (3) finding colleagues or friends perform worse in work and life than yourself makes you feel happy; (4) finding colleagues or friends perform worse in work and life than yourself makes you feel unhappy. We use the four variable names of pe by upc, ne by upc, pe by dnc, and ne by dnc to represent them. Our simple correlation



analysis indicates that they are correlated with WeChat addiction and burnout.

So how exactly social comparison plays its mediating role between WeChat usage and burnout? From the comparison of each model in Table 5, we see that when demographic variables and WeChat usage are considered separately, the overall explanatory power of models 5-1 and 5-2 is not high. When introducing pe by upc, ne by upc, pe by dnc, and ne by dnc, the four variables are significantly correlated with job burnout. The adjusted R^2 of the entire model 5-3 reaches 0.222. When cross variables between the four variables and WeChat usage are also included in model 5-4, it can be found that the positive emotions caused by downward comparison (pe by dnc) and the cross variables formed with WeChat usage (wu \times pe by dnc) have a more significant impact on burnout. The whole model adjusted R^2 to reach 0.237. The results indicate that those WeChat users who prefer to compare themselves to those who are not as good as themselves are more likely to experience job burnout.

CONCLUSION AND DISCUSSION

Social Media Addiction Has a Significant Negative Impact on Burnout

The results show that there is a significant positive correlation between WeChat addiction and burnout. That is to say, those who are prone to WeChat addiction or WeChat in-depth users are more likely to have burnout. This confirms that in the age of social media, media has a deep impact on people's daily lives and enriches our life and work. Previous studies mostly focus on how addiction to WeChat affects adolescents' academic performance and psychology. However, they pay little attention to social media's impact on adults and their work. The limited amount of attention to adults concentrates on seeing social media merely as a positive tool to acquire "information" and "network connections." However, this tends to ignore social media as a new platform for human life and its impact on the internal psychological mechanism of individuals. This study shows that social media can lead to job burnout. For the Chinese, there is a significant positive correlation between WeChat addiction and their job burnout. Understanding this fact is a prerequisite for understanding human psychological evolution in the era of social media and for intervening in social media's negative impact.

TABLE 5 Impact of upward comparison and downward comparison of emotion
on WeChat Users' Burnout (Standard coefficient; $N = 530$).

		M 5-1	M 5-2	M 5-3	M 5-4
	Gender	0.075	0.075	0.067	0.067
	Age	0.010**	0.010**	0.009**	0.009**
	Years of Current Job	0.012	0.012	0.011	0.011
Independent variable	Wechat Use(WU)		0.062**	0.057*	0.400
Moderating variable	Pe by Upc			0.035***	0.181
	Ne by Upc			0.044**	0.238
	Pe by Dnc			0.034*	0.162**
	Ne by Dnc			0.037*	0.198
Interaction variable	$Wu \times Pe$ by Upc				0.059
	Wu \times Ne by Upc				0.080
	Wu \times Pe by Dnc				0.053**
	Wu \times Ne by Dnc				0.067
	F	3.500*	5.178**	19.868***	14.681***
	Adjusted R ²	0.014	0.031	0.222	0.237

p < 0.05, p < 0.01, p < 0.01

There Is a Significant Positive Correlation Between Social Media Addiction and Social Comparison, but Social Comparison Alone Does Not Cause Job Burnout

Judging by the significant positive correlation between WeChat addiction and social comparison, correlation does exist between social media addiction and social comparison, regardless of whether WeChat addiction aggravates people's tendency for social comparison or people with a higher tendency for social comparison are more likely to become addicted to WeChat. This confirms the hypothesis raised by previous studies that defines social media as a large experimental field for social comparison. All kinds of information released by social media, directly or indirectly, provide the objects for people to do social comparison. Social comparison is bourn spontaneously from the human needs to adapt to the environment. This is proven by the lack of direct correlation between social comparison and job burnout, because the tendency for social comparison do not naturally cause burnout. On the contrary, the negative correlation coefficient in the comprehensive model 5 in **Table 3** reveals that the tendency for social comparison tends to negatively affect job burnout. Those who have a higher tendency for social comparison usually do not have job burnout. Negative effects occur only when this psychological tendency is intersected with social media addiction. This demonstrates social media's significance in the era of media as the social space for social comparison.

Social Comparison Plays a Moderating Role Between Social Media Addiction and Burnout

The regression model of job burnout in Table 3 shows that, with regard to the interactive relationship between social media (WeChat) addiction, social comparison, and job burnout, the influence of WeChat addiction is no longer significant, whereas social comparison and the interaction between social comparison and WeChat addiction become significant influencing factors. It fully illustrates the fact that WeChat addiction impacts job burnout through social comparison. This directly shows that social comparison critically mediates between social media addiction and job burnout. This is a further revelation of the role of social comparison in the age of social media. Most existing studies have noticed the impact of social comparison in real space on job burnout, but they did not notice the impact of the expansion of social comparative space in the age of social media on professional life. In terms of social media usage, people only pay attention to the use of social media to consume time and energy, reduce face-to-face interactions, and receive negative feedback and other physical meanings or direct psychological effects. In this role, this study effectively grafts the influence of individual psychological tendencies on individual's work and life in the era of social media. This study identifies the important role of social comparison in revealing the social and psychological logic of the "spectacle society" brought by social media.

The Positive and Negative Emotions Triggered by the Upward and Downward Comparisons Have a Significant Impact on the Job Burnout of WeChat Users

The research results in **Table 5** further explain how social comparison impacts job burnout among WeChat users. From this we can find that the positive and negative emotions caused by the upward and downward comparisons have a general impact on people's burnout, but when we consider the extent of WeChat usage, we find that those who often compare themselves to people that are inferior in living and working conditions in order to gain positive implications are more likely to feel job burnout. This research finding enriches our understanding of the relationship between social comparison and job burnout in the age of social media. It further expands the scope of the research by Buunk et al. (1) and Carmona et al. (2).

The Role of Demographic Variables in the Relationship Between Social Media Addiction and Burnout

The results show that age and burnout are significantly and positively correlated. Older people have a stronger sense of burnout, which is demonstrated by **Table 3**, comprehensive model 5. For higher social comparison groups, women are more prone to have burnout. For the general social group, women have a stronger tendency for social comparison, whereas men are more likely to indulge themselves in WeChat. Relatively speaking, our research discovers that the effects of academic qualification and types of occupation on people's job burnout are not significant. This shows that there is no significant difference in the distribution of job burnout among different academic qualifications and different occupations.

IMPLICATIONS AND LIMITATION

This study demonstrates the important role that social comparison plays between social media addiction and burnout. Although there is a significant correlation between social media addiction and job burnout, this correlation works through social comparison. It reveals the logic that connects social media addiction and burnout and enriches people's understanding of the role of individual psychology in the social media era. It also shows that social media has indeed expanded the horizon of people's social comparison and that people have also adjusted their relationship with society through social comparison in the "media spectacle" era. They maintain a sense of security and belonging, resist social threats, and thereby gain social adaptation and integration, even though this result sometimes presents its negative appearance. From a practical perspective, this study tells us that to break the negative correlation between social media addiction and job burnout, we need to control the tendency for social comparison. Existing research has shown that social comparison is a process of thinking construction (29), which is similar to emotional experience. Individuals' recognition of their "social comparison" emotions and their understanding of the "spectacle" of social media information will effectively regulate the relationship between individual social media usage and burnout. Overall speaking, in the age of social media, social comparison remains to be a positive psychological tendency.

This study reveals the moderating role of social comparison in the relationship between social media usage and job burnout. However, whether there are other psychological tendencies (e.g., psychopathology) that will affect the relationship between the two is worth exploring and testing in future research. In terms of research methods, this study uses cross-sectional data. Since the time sequence of occurrence of related factors cannot be determined, further research is needed to determine the causality. At the same time, there are many types of social comparison. This study only analyses WeChat users' job burnout that is mediated by the positive and negative emotions caused by the upward and downward comparison. More detailed and rigorous analyses need further development. In addition, this study only focuses on WeChat, which is currently the most widely used social media by the Chinese. With regard to other social media such as Weibo, Tiktok, Kuaishou, Facebook and Line, it remains to be asked what the relationship between different media, different types of social media usage, and workplace mentality is. All of these studies will enrich our understanding of the psychological and behavioral changes in the age of social media.

Evolutionary psychology believes that social cognition is shaped by the environment. In order to adapt and control the environment, human beings have created many media for transmitting and receiving information, such as language, text, pen, and paper, radio, television, movies, and the Internet. Different media have different physical properties. These properties restrict and develop the cognitive mechanism that people use to obtain information and understand the world through media. There is reason to believe that as the latest information dissemination medium that is ubiquitous in life, social media inevitably adjust, change, and even reshape our cognitive style (38). Social media arises from our needs to adapt to the environment, but it has undoubtedly become an important part of the environment we need to adapt to. To be sure, social media brings us more information about the world. Questions need to be asked: will the use of social media for information acquisition and dissemination have a negative impact on reducing our ability to adapt to the environment? In what aspects do reductions happen? In what ways can it be improved? By explaining the relationship between WeChat usage

REFERENCES

- Buunk BP, Ybema JF, Gibbons FX, Ipenburg M. The affective consequences of social comparison as related to professional burnout and social comparison orientation. *Eur J Soc Psychol.* (2001) 31:337–51. doi: 10.1002/ ejsp.41
- Carmona C, Buunk AP, Peiró JM, Rodríguez I, Bravo MJ. Do social comparison and coping styles play a role in the development of burnout? Cross-sectional and longitudinal findings. J Occup Organ Psychol. (2006) 79:85–99. doi: 10.1348/096317905X40808
- Bradley HB. Community-based treatment for young adult offenders. Crime Delinquency. (1969) 15:359–70. doi: 10.1177/001112876901500307
- Freudenberger HJ. Staff burn-out. J Soc Issues. (1974) 30:159–65. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-4560.1974.tb00706.x
- Maslach C. Job burnout: new directions in research and intervention. *Curr Dir* Psychol Sci. (2003) 12:189–92. doi: 10.1111/1467-8721.01258
- Maslach C, Leiter MP. Early predictors of job burnout and engagement. J Appl Psychol. (2008) 93:498. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.93.3.498
- Li Xy, Zhou E. Research on the relationship of psychological capital, emotional labor strategies and job burnout. J Manag Sci. (2013) 26:37–48 [in Chinese].
- Demerouti E, Bakker AB, Nachreiner F, Schaufeli WB. The job demands-resources model of burnout. J Appl Psychol. (2001) 86:499. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.86.3.499
- Norman SM, Avey JB, Nimnicht JL, Graber Pigeon N. The interactive effects of psychological capital and organizational identity on employee organizational citizenship and deviance behaviors. *J Leaders Organ Stud.* (2010) 17:380–91. doi: 10.1177/1548051809353764
- Nabi RL, Prestin A, So J. Facebook friends with (health) benefits? Exploring social network site use and perceptions of social support, stress, and well-being. *Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw.* (2013) 16:721–7. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2012.0521

and burnout, this study attempts to contribute to answering these questions.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study be can found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found below: annahan08@sjtu.edu.cn.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RH and JX: conceptualization, funding acquisition, and investigation. RH and YG: methodology. RH and YQ: data curation and formal analysis. JX: supervision. RH: writing– original draft. RH, YG, and JX: writing–review and editing. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This research was funded by the Key Project of the National Social Science Fund of China: A cognitive-communication study of media's influence on the practice of judicial justice (Grant Number: 17AXW002) and General project of Shanghai Social Science Fund: Shanghai Culture Perception Image Measurement and International Communication Strategy Research (Grant Number: 2019BXW007) read and agreed to the publish.

- Moqbel M, Nevo S, Kock N. Organizational members' use of social networking sites and job performance. *Inform Technol People*. (2013) 26:240– 64. doi: 10.1108/ITP-10-2012-0110
- Schouten AP, Valkenburg PM, Peter J. Precursors and underlying processes of adolescents' online self-disclosure: developing and testing an "Internet-attribute-perception" model. *Media Psychol.* (2007) 10:292–315. doi: 10.1080/15213260701375686
- Valkenburg PM, Peter J, Schouten AP. Friend networking sites and their relationship to adolescents' well-being and social self-esteem. *Cyber Psychol Behav.* (2006) 9:584–90. doi: 10.1089/cpb.2006.9.584
- Zhen X. Excessive Use of Mobile Social Networking Applications: Negative Consequences on Individuals. Doctoral dissertation, University of Science and Technology of China (2014) 90 p. [in Chinese].
- Sriwilai K, Charoensukmongkol P. Face it, don't Facebook it: impacts of social media addiction on mindfulness, coping strategies and the consequence on emotional exhaustion. *Stress Health.* (2016) 32:427–34. doi: 10.1002/ smi.2637
- Junco R. The relationship between frequency of Facebook use, participation in Facebook activities, and student engagement. *Comput Educ.* (2012) 58:162–71. doi: 10.1016/j.compedu.2011.08.004
- Andreassen CS. Online social network site addiction: a comprehensive review. *Curr Addict Rep.* (2015) 2:175–84. doi: 10.1007/s40429-015-0056-9
- Facebook. Available online at: https://baike.so.com/doc/5340534-5575977. html (accessed February 5, 2020)
- WeChat Annual Report. (2018). Available online at: http://www.xinhuanet. com/zgjx/2019-01/10/c_137732668.htm (accessed February 5, 2020).
- Joinson AN. Looking at, looking up or keeping up with people? Motives and use of Facebook. In: Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems. Florence (2008). p. 1027–36.
- 21. Vogel EA, Rose JP, Okdie BM, Eckles K, Franz B. Who compares and despairs? The effect of social comparison orientation on social

media use and its outcomes. Pers Individual Differ. (2015) 86:249-56. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2015.06.026

- Sagioglou C, Greitemeyer T. Facebook's emotional consequences: why Facebook causes a decrease in mood and why people still use it. *Comput Hum Behav.* (2014) 35:359–63. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2014.03.003
- Nesi J, Prinstein MJ. Using social media for social comparison and feedback-seeking: Gender and popularity moderate associations with depressive symptoms. J Abnorm Child Psychol. (2015) 43:1427–38. doi: 10.1007/s10802-015-0020-0
- 24. Xie XZ, An J. Characteristics of Social Media User's tendency to social comparison. *Doc Inform Knowl.* (2015) 3:107–12 [in Chinese].
- Festinger LA. Theory of social comparison processes. *Hum Relat.* (1954) 7:117–40. doi: 10.1177/001872675400700202
- Buunk AP, Gibbons FX. Social comparison: the end of a theory and the emergence of a field. Organ Behav Hum Decis Process. (2007) 102:3–21. doi: 10.1016/j.obhdp.2006.09.007
- Xing Sf, Yu Gl. A review on research of social comparison. Adv Psychol Sci. (2005) 13:78–84 [in Chinese].
- Maslach C, Schaufeli WB, Leiter MP. Job burnout. Annu Rev Psychol. (2001) 52:397–422. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.397
- Michinov N. Social comparison, perceived control, and occupational burnout. *Appl Psychol.* (2005) 54:99–118. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-0597.2005.00198.x
- Kitchel T, Smith AR, Henry AL, Robinson JS, Lawver RG, Park TD, et al. Teacher job satisfaction and burnout viewed through social comparisons. J Agric Educ. (2012) 53:31–44. doi: 10.5032/jae.2012.01031
- Zhao JJ, Yu S, Wang, Y. Research on the influence mechanism of colleague promotion to knowledge-oriented staff's job burnout from the perspective of social comparison: based on the roles of episodic envy and face need. Soft Sci. (2017) 31:75–84 [in Chinese]

- 32. Jiang M. The Relationship between Social Comparision and Job Burnout. MA, Central China Normal University (2015). 37 p. [in Chinese]
- Li C, Shi K, luo Z. An investigation on job burnout of doctor and nurse. *Chin J Clin Psychol.* (2003) 11:171 [In Chinese]
- Jamal, AM. Psychometric properties and validation of the arabic social media addiction scale. J Addict. (2015) 291743. doi: 10.1037/ t52828-000
- 35. Wan M, Wang L, Shi J. Reliability and validation of the social comparison orientation scale. *Chin Ment Health J.* (2006) 20:302–16 [in Chinese].
- Baron RM, Kenny DA. The moderator-mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. J Pers Soc Psychol. (1986) 51:1173. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.51. 6.1173
- Hayes AF. Mediation, Moderation, and Conditional Process Analysis: A Regression-Based Approach. New York, NY: Guilford (2013).
- Loh KK, Kanai R. How has the Internet reshaped human cognition?. Neuroscientist. (2016) 22:506–20. doi: 10.1177/1073858415595005

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Han, Xu, Ge and Qin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Social Networking Addiction Among Hong Kong University Students: Its Health Consequences and Relationships With Parenting Behaviors

Lu Yu^{1*} and Tingyu Luo²

¹ Department of Applied Social Sciences, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hong Kong, Hong Kong, ² Department of Social Work and Social Administration, The University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, Hong Kong

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Georgios D. Floros, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Greece

Reviewed by:

Ioanna Mylona, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Greece Lucia Monacis, University of Foggia, Italy Maria Sinatra, University of Bari Aldo Moro, Italy

*Correspondence:

Lu Yu lu.yu@polyu.edu.hk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

Received: 27 April 2020 Accepted: 30 December 2020 Published: 25 January 2021

Citation:

Yu L and Luo T (2021) Social Networking Addiction Among Hong Kong University Students: Its Health Consequences and Relationships With Parenting Behaviors. Front. Public Health 8:555990. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2020.555990 The use of social networking sites (SNSs) has been growing at a staggering rate, especially among university students. The present study investigated the prevalence of social networking addiction (SNA), its health consequences, and its relationships with parents' Internet-specific parenting behaviors in a sample of Hong Kong university students (N = 390). Adopting the 9-item social media disorder scale, 21.5% of the participating students met the criteria for SNA. Students with SNA showed longer sleeping latency, more sleep disturbance, poorer academic performance, lower levels of life satisfaction, and higher levels of depression than did students without SNA. Parental reactive restriction and limiting online behaviors of the participants were associated with higher risk of SNA. The findings suggest the severity of SNA and its negative consequences among Hong Kong university students. While parental behaviors limiting children's use of SNSs were found to increase the occurrence rate of SNA among university students, longitudinal studies are needed to further examine this causal relationship.

Keywords: social networking addiction, social networking site, parenting, well-being, university students, Hong Kong

INTRODUCTION

Social networking sites (SNSs) are defined as web-based services that allow users to "(1) construct a public or semi-public profile within a bounded system, (2) articulate a list of other users with whom they share a connection, and (3) view and traverse their list of connections and those made by others within the system." (p. 211) (1). Through SNSs, people can easily communicate and interact with their friends, family, and people from all over the world on the Web. Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram are among the most popular SNSs while new platforms/websites continue to pop up regularly. A recent report showed that in 2019, there were 3.48 billion SNSs users worldwide (almost half of the Earth's entire population), of which 27% were young adults aged between 18 and 24 years old (2). Internet users also reported that approximately 27% of the time spent online was for social media interaction, more than for email, news, and any form of entertainment combined (3). Using SNSs has become not only the most popular online activity but an important part of our daily lives (4).

While SNSs have brought us enormous convenience and enjoyment, researchers have observed a compulsive tendency among a proportion of SNSs users (5–7). These users feel compelled to use SNSs more excessively to maintain their online social networks, and they also tend to show symptoms that are traditionally associated with substance or other behavioral addiction, such as salience, withdrawal, relapse, growing tolerance, and mood modification (8). This phenomenon has been termed social networking addiction (SNA) or social media addiction, defined as the status of "being overly concerned about SNSs, driven by a strong motivation to log on to or use SNSs, and to devote so much time and effort to SNSs that it impairs other social activities, studies/job, interpersonal relationships, and/or psychological health and well-being" (p. 4,054) (9).

Although SNA has not been formally recognized as a diagnosis, empirical findings across the world generally show that the overall prevalence of SNA is not low. For example, based on a systematic review, Andreassen (10) reported that the prevalence rates of SNA ranged between 1.6% (in a Nigerian sample) and 34% (in a Chinese student sample). Growing evidence suggests that SNA is associated with various adverse consequences, such as: poor sleep quality (11), reduced academic and work performance (12), relationship problems (13), impaired selfesteem and life satisfaction (14), and mental health problems (15, 16). Researchers have also found brain anatomy alterations associated with SNA, including reduced gray matter volumes in the amygdala bilaterally (17), that are similar to those associated with other forms of behavioral addiction (e.g., gambling).

It is worth noting that university students may be particularly vulnerable to SNA for several reasons. First, university students have notably high Internet literacy which enables them to be the predominant users of SNSs (18, 19). Second, compared with secondary school students, university students' online activities are less supervised by their teachers and parents. Third, university students typically have flexible schedules and more free and unlimited access to SNSs. Fourth, developmental characteristics associated with youth may also increase the attraction of SNSs for university students. SNSs use offers young adults new and convenient opportunities to interact with different people, build up intimate relationships, and further develop their identities (20). In fact, ample evidence has been published on the high prevalence of SNA among university students. For instance, using an adapted 6-item Bergen Facebook Addiction Scale (BFAS) (8), Tang and Koh (21) surveyed 1,100 Singapore college students and found that 29.5% of the respondents could be categorized as having SNA. Another study in China based on Young's Internet addiction criteria revealed an SNA prevalence of 34% among Chinese college students. In a recent review, it was further revealed that greater exposure to online social networks was associated with greater alcohol use and other addictive behaviors among college students (22). This suggests that SNA in university students has become an important public health issue which deserves more attention from both researchers and the public (4).

Hong Kong is among one of the areas with the highest social media penetration rate in the world. According to the Census and Statistics Department of the Hong Kong Government (23), 75% of the population are active SNS users, with young adults constituting the majority. It is estimated that the number of young SNS users will continue to grow as more attractive SNS applications and platforms become available. However, direct evidence regarding the prevalence of SNA among Hong Kong university students is limited. Existing studies have either focused on the generalized form of Internet/mobile phone addiction (24, 25), or only examined the use of a specific SNS such as Facebook (26). Addictive use of other popular SNSs (e.g., WhatsApp, WeChat, and Twitter) have not been considered, which may mean that the reported prevalence of SNA is an underestimate. Moreover, the consequences of SNA on different domains of quality of life (i.e., physical, mental, and academic) have not been systematically evaluated. Therefore, much remains unknown about how severe SNA is among Hong Kong university students and its impact on students' well-being.

To prevent SNA in university students, it is important to identify the risk and protective factors in the development of SNA. Past research has revealed that specific personality traits (e.g., narcissism, neuroticism), psychological characteristics (e.g., self-esteem), and social factors (e.g., peer influence, loneliness) contribute to the formation of SNA (27, 28). However, the role of family in the development of SNA among university students has received little attention, although the impact of parenting behaviors on adolescents' Internet addiction has been reported widely (29-31). For example, neglecting parenting style, inconsistencies, and contradictions between parents (32), family conflicts (33), and parents' psychological control (34) have been found to be associated with increased risk of developing Internet addiction. Parental warmth and acceptance (35), behavioral control (36, 37), and good parent-child relationship (38) had negative associations with Internet addiction. Apart from the effects of general parenting style and family functioning, studies have reported on the role of Internet-specific parenting practices, referred to as parenting behaviors that specifically aim to guide their children's use of the Internet and minimize its negative consequences (39), in protecting youth from Internet addiction (33, 40). For instance, Chng et al. (41) found that parental restrictive mediation (i.e., parents' restriction of their children's Internet use) was negatively related to adolescents' Internet addiction based on a sample of Singapore secondary school students. In van den Eijnden et al.'s (39) study, parental active mediation, defined as interaction and communication regarding online activities between children and parents, predicted decreased pathological Internet use. Nevertheless, few studies investigating how parenting behaviors may influence university students' addictive behaviors including SNA have been published.

This lack of research could be explained by the fact that the increased autonomy of university students results in their declined reliance on family in their development (42). They attempt to separate their lives from the control of their parents to develop independence and take responsibility of their own world (43). Thus, the effects of parenting behaviors are considered as collectively less important than those of other factors, such as peers and personal attributes. Nonetheless, a few studies suggest that parents continue to exert direct and indirect effects on young adults' lives, whether in the psychological or social domain. For instance, researchers have reported significant relationships between university students' substance use and their parents' behavioral control, family communication, and parent-child relationship (44–48). Parental rejection and paternal overprotection have been found to be positively associated with Chinese university students' risks of Internet addiction (49).

In the context of Hong Kong, the influence of parents on university students may be more profound for several reasons. First, due to the limited residential places offered by universities and high housing expenses, most Hong Kong local students remain living with their family members after entering university (50). This potentially makes the influence of parenting behaviors greater on university students in Hong Kong than in other countries and areas. Second, parental influence on young people's behaviors may also be strengthened by Chinese cultural values, which emphasize parental authority and children's obedience (51). Third, although Chinese parents are likely to be more restrictive than Western parents (52), Chinese children tend to consider their parents' behavioral monitoring as a sign of parental warmth and responsiveness (53-55). Thus, it is possible that Hong Kong university students may be more receptive to their parents' mediation regarding their Internet use than people in cultures where autonomy is more emphasized. Based on these socio-cultural characteristics, it seems reasonable to assume that parents of Hong Kong university students may still play an influencing role in their development of SNA.

The Present Study

Considering the background explained above, the present study had three purposes. First, we aimed to preliminarily examine the prevalence of SNA based on a sample of Hong Kong university students. Second, we sought to investigate the association between SNA and a variety of health outcomes, including sleep quality, depression, life satisfaction, and academic performance among Hong Kong university students. Third, we intended to address the predictive effects of parenting behaviors on university students' SNA. In particular, we focused on Internet-specific parenting practices based on the parental mediation theory (56). According to this theory, three types of parenting practices are related to youth compulsive SNS use: active mediation (i.e., parent-adolescent conversations regarding online activities), restrictive mediation (i.e., allowance to use particular online applications), and social co-use (i.e., children using the Internet in the company of their parents, such as watching movies online and playing Internet games together). Apart from parental mediation, parents' own use of SNSs is regarded as another factor that influences their children's behaviors through social modeling. Previous studies have supported the protective effect of these parenting practices on adolescents' problematic use of computers, electronic devices, and the Internet (39, 57). In the present study, the respective effects of the three types of parenting behaviors on university students' SNA were investigated.

METHODS

Participants and Procedure

The present study was carried out with undergraduate students in a public university in Hong Kong. In 2018/19 academic

year, students taking a selective introductory psychology course offered to all undergraduate students in the university were recruited on a voluntary basis. An invitation letter containing a brief introduction about the study and a consent form was emailed to all students enrolled in this subject (N = 490 including 217 male students and 273 female students). Students who agreed to participate were required to return their signed consent forms, after which they were provided with a link to an online questionnaire. They completed the survey anonymously within the first month of the semester. Ethical approval of the study was obtained from the Human Subjects Ethics Committee of the first authors' institution. All data collected in the study were kept strictly confidential and analyzed in an aggregated manner.

The final sample of participants totaled 390 students (Mean age = 19.09 years, SD = 1.47) consisted of 176 (45.13%) males and 214 (54.87%) females, indicating an overall response rate of 79.6%. The students were from eight different faculties and schools of the university, with the majority from the School of Business (n = 246, 63.07%) followed by students in the Faculty of Health and Social Sciences (n = 54, 13.85%). Regarding year of study, 68.5% of the participants (n = 267) were in their first year of university, 18.7% (n = 73) were in their second year, 6.4% (n = 25) were in their third year, 5.6% (n = 22) were in their fourth year, and 0.8% (n = 3) were in their fifth year.

Measures

To measure participants' SNS usage behaviors, SNA, mental health status, and their parents' Internet-specific parenting behaviors, five core scales were used, which are described below. Cronbach's alpha of each scale for the present sample is presented in **Table 1**. Apart from these scales, students responded to a few items asking about their demographic information and academic performance in the latest semester. Specifically, we asked students to report their perceived academic performance, comparing to other students of the same cohort, in the last semester, based on a five-point rating scale (1 = very poor, 2 = poorer than others, 3 = average, 4 = better than others, and 5 = very good).

Social Media Disorder Scale (SMD)

In the present study, we adopted the 9-item Social Media Disorder Scale (58) to assess participants' SNA. The SMD was developed using similar diagnostic criteria to that of Internet Gaming Disorder (DSM-V). Each item measures a unique dimension of SNA, including preoccupation, tolerance, withdrawal, persistence, escape, problems, deception, displacement, and conflict. Respondents answer "Yes" or "No" regarding whether they have had the listed SNA behavior in the past 1 year. Example items include "often used social media to escape from negative feelings," and "tried to spend less time on social media, but failed." A person is classified as having SNA if he or she shows five or more of the listed behaviors. Previous studies have demonstrated the robust psychometric properties of the 9-item SMD (59, 60). Cronbach's alpha of this scale for the current sample was 0.72.

TABLE 1 | Descriptive statistics of the key variables.

Continuous variables	Total (N	= 390)		Male (/	V = 176)	Female	e (N = 214)	
	Cronbach's alpha	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	t
Age	_	19.09	1.47	19.11	1.79	19.04	1.14	0.45
Life satisfaction	0.86	4.10	1.16	4.03	1.14	4.16	1.18	1.15
Depression	0.87	1.95	0.54	1.98	0.51	1.93	0.57	-0.90
Sleep disturbance	0.81	0.65	0.54	0.71	0.53	0.61	0.54	-1.88
Sleep latency	-	1.29	1.05	1.40	1.06	1.20	1.04	-1.84
Perceived academic performance	-	3.00	0.75	2.91	0.83	3.07	0.67	2.12
Specific parenting behaviors								
Reactive restriction	0.88	1.71	0.82	1.90	0.89	1.54	0.72	-4.32***
Internet-specific rules	0.92	3.24	0.99	3.22	0.97	3.25	1.01	0.39
Limiting online behavior	0.77	1.97	0.77	2.10	0.80	1.86	0.73	-3.09**
Communication about the internet	0.74	3.09	0.92	3.01	0.90	3.16	0.93	1.55
Co-use	0.84	2.25	0.89	2.17	0.86	2.31	0.92	1.55
Parent-adherence	0.82	2.47	0.82	2.54	0.83	2.41	0.81	-1.54
SNA	0.72	2.80	2.21	2.96	2.36	2.66	2.08	-1.30

^{**}p< 0.01; ^{***}p< 0.001.

Satisfaction With Life Scale (SWLS)

Life Satisfaction was assessed using the 5-item Satisfaction with Life Scale (61), a well-known self-reported scale. Each item is rated on a 7-point Likert scale ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). A higher score represents a higher level of life satisfaction. The SWLS has shown good psychometric properties in different cultural contexts with different populations (14, 62, 63). In the present study, the scale had a high Cronbach's alpha of 0.86.

Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9)

Depression was measured using the 9-item Patient Health Questionnaire (64), a self-report tool developed to assess mental disorder using DSM-IV criteria. The PHQ-9 has been translated into various languages and evaluated in different ethnic groups and countries, including China (65, 66). Participants rated each item based on a 4-point Likert scale (0 = not at all; 3 = nearly every day). A higher score represents a higher level of depression. The Cronbach's alpha for the current sample was 0.87.

Internet-Specific Parenting Behaviors Scale

Internet-specific parenting behaviors were assessed using Koning et al.'s (57) scale adapted from an earlier version measuring parenting behaviors related to Internet use developed by van Den Eijnden et al. (39). The adapted scale asks participants to report the frequency of certain behaviors displayed by their parents when they want to be online (i.e., everything they do on the Internet with a smartphone, tablet, or computer) or gaming, including six subscales that measure three major types of parental mediation (restrictive mediation, active mediation, and social co-use) and parents' own use of SNSs. "Reactive restriction" (4 items) reflects parents' restrictive responses to their children's use of SNSs or gaming (e.g., "how often do your parents say that you can't be on social media or gaming?'). "Internet-specific rules" (9 items) measures the extent to which parents set strict rules on when and how long their children can use the Internet. The subscale of "limiting online behaviors" (4 items) assesses parents' controlling behaviors that stop children from using the Internet (e.g., taking away phones or tablets, turning off Wi-Fi, and commanding angrily). These three subscales reflect parents' restrictive mediation. "Quality of communication" (3 items) asks participants about their feelings when their parents talk with them about their online activities, which reflects parents' active mediation. The other two subscales, "co-use" (3 items) and "parent adherence" (4 items), measure the extent to which parents monitor their children's Internet use or remain present while their children are using social media (social couse), and parents' own use habits at home, respectively. These two subscales show parental modeling and co-using behaviors. Participants responded to each item on a 5-point rating scale, with higher scores representing higher frequency of the measured behaviors. The internal consistencies of the six subscales were all above 0.74 in the present study.

Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI)

Participants' sleep quality was measured by nine items excerpted from the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (67). The PSQI is a validated questionnaire that assesses one's quality of sleep and sleep disturbances in the last month (68, 69). Sleep latency was measured by the item "during the past month, how often have you had trouble sleeping because you cannot get to sleep within 30 min." Sleep disturbance was measured by eight items on different problems that can disturb one's sleep, such as "wake up in the middle of the night or early morning," and "have to get up to use the bathroom." Participants rated each item on a 4point scale from 0 to 3 (0 = not during the past month; 1 = less than once a week; 2 = once or twice a week; 3 = three or more times a week). In this study, Cronbach's alpha for the eight sleep disturbance items was 0.81.

Statistical Analysis

First, descriptive statistics on participants' problematic use of SNSs and prevalence of SNA were calculated for the whole sample, and for students of different gender, respectively. Independent samples *t*-tests were performed to examine whether males and females differed in the key variables. Bivariate correlation analyses were also conducted to test the preliminary associations between SNA, health indicators, and Internet-specific parenting behaviors. Second, independent-samples *t*-tests were conducted to compare students with and without SNA in terms of their life satisfaction, depression, sleep latency and disturbance, and perceived academic performance. Third, logistic regression was conducted to examine the extent to which different Internet-specific parenting behaviors would predict university students' SNA based on the whole sample, and on samples of males and females, respectively.

Ethics

The study procedures were carried out in accordance with the guidelines of the Declaration of Helsinki. The data collection received ethical approval from the Human Subjects Ethics Subcommittee of the first author's university. All subjects were informed about the study and all of them signed consent forms before the survey.

RESULTS

Descriptive statistics of all variables in this study were first calculated and summarized. Table 1 presents the means and standard deviations of all continuous variables (e.g., age, life satisfaction, and depression). For parents' reactive restriction (t = -4.32, p < 0.001) and limiting online behavior (t = -3.09, p < 0.01), male students scored significantly higher than female students. All other variables did not show significant gender difference. Table 2 summarizes simple correlation coefficients among SNA, health indicators, and Internet-specific parenting behaviors. Based on the whole sample, the correlations between health indicators and SNA were all significant (ps < 0.05). High SNA was associated with longer sleep latency, more sleep disturbance, higher level of depression, lower life satisfaction, and lower perceived academic performance. On the other hand, Internet-specific parenting behaviors including reactive restriction, limiting online behavior, co-use, and parent adherence were positively related to participants' reported SNA. Similar findings were observed in the male sample and the female sample, respectively. For both males and females, SNA was positively related to depression and sleep latency; SNA was also found to be positively associated with parents' reactive restriction, limiting online behavior, and parents' co-use.

Prevalence of Social Networking Addiction

Table 3 presents the numbers and percentages of participants who displayed different SNA behaviors in the past year measured by the Social Media Disorder Scale. Nearly half (49.5%) of the participants reported that they often used social media to escape from negative feelings. More than 40% reported that they were preoccupied by social media usage (44.1%), tried to spend less

time on social media but failed (44.9%), and often felt bad when they could not use social media (40.0%). These results show that addictive behaviors associated with SNS use are quite common among Hong Kong university students. While relatively fewer participants reported interpersonal problems caused by their social media use (16.2% had arguments with others and 15.4% had serious conflicts with family members), more than onefifth of the participants said that they regularly neglected other activities because they wanted to use social media. Adopting the criteria used by Van den Eijnden et al. (59), 84 participants could be classified as having SNA, indicating an overall prevalence rate of 21.5% among the current sample of university students. Among the 84 identified students, 44 were males and 40 were females; while the prevalence of SNA appeared to be higher among male students (25.0%) than female students (18.7%), the difference did not reach statistical significance ($X^2 = 2.27$, p = 0.13).

Health Consequences of Social Networking Addiction

Results of the independent samples *t*-tests based on bootstrapping (**Table 4**) show that participants who met the criteria of SNA displayed longer sleep latency, more sleep disturbance, lower life satisfaction, and higher levels of depression compared to those in the non-SNA group. Students with SNA also reported lower levels of perceived academic performance than did those without SNA. All differences are statistically significant (*ps* < 0.05). Students who displayed more SNA behaviors tended to have poorer health status in multiple areas.

Predictive Effects of Internet-Specific Parenting Behaviors on Social Networking Addiction

Table 5 reports the results of the logistic regression analysis. First, students' year of study and gender failed to predict the occurrence of SNA. Second, two specific parenting behaviors, reactive restriction (OR = 1.78; 95% CI = 1.24-2.55) and limiting online behaviors (OR = 1.72; 95% CI = 1.11-2.65), were found to be associated with higher probability of students being classified as having SNA. The other four parenting behaviors, including setting strict rules on Internet use, quality of communication, couse, and parent adherence, all failed to predict the occurrence of SNA. Another two logistic regression analyses were performed on the male sample and the female sample, respectively. Consistent with findings generated from the whole sample, parents' limiting online behaviors were positively associated with higher probability of male students being classified as having SNA (OR = 2.13; 95% CI = 1.11-4.09); parents' reactive restriction was positively associated with female students' risk for SNA (OR = 2.44; 95% CI = 1.40-4.25).

DISCUSSION

The present study investigated the prevalence of SNA, its health consequences, and its relationships with Internet-specific

TABLE 2 | Correlations between social networking addiction, health indicators, and internet-specific parenting behaviors.

The whole sample ^a	SNA	LS	Depression	SLD	SLL	RR	IR	LB	QC	CU	PA
SNA	_										
LS	-0.10*	-									
Depression	0.33**	-0.22**	-								
SLD	0.32**	-0.15**	0.56**	-							
SLL	0.15**	-0.06	0.27**	0.34**	-						
RR	0.33**	0.00	0.28**	0.26**	0.04	-					
IR	-0.06	-0.00	0.05	0.10*	0.10*	-0.24**	-				
LB	0.31**	0.02	0.29**	0.21**	0.00	0.58**	-0.25**	-			
QC	-0.06	0.13*	-0.06	-0.04	-0.07	-0.15**	0.19**	0.01	-		
CU	0.16**	0.12*	0.14**	0.17**	-0.03	0.19**	0.02	0.36**	0.17**	-	
PA	0.11*	0.03	0.15**	0.18**	0.00	0.18**	0.18**	0.25**	0.01	0.30**	-
By gender ^b	SNA	LS	Depression	SLD	SLL	RR	IR	LB	QC	CU	PA
SNA	-	-0.13	0.30**	0.26**	0.09	0.34**	-0.02	0.25**	-0.02	0.14*	0.00
LS	-0.06	-	-0.25**	-0.18**	-0.07	0.01	0.03	0.00	0.14*	0.19**	0.07
Depression	0.36**	-0.17*	-	0.57**	0.30**	0.30**	0.02	0.29**	-0.08	0.15*	0.02
SLD	0.23**	-0.11	0.55**	-	0.38**	0.14*	0.13	0.15*	0.02	0.17*	0.09
SLL	0.13	-0.04	0.21**	0.29**	-	0.03	0.13	-0.05	-0.02	-0.01	-0.08
RR	0.30**	0.02	0.27**	0.36**	0.01	-	-0.18**	0.52**	-0.09	0.22**	0.08
IR	-0.11	-0.05	0.11	0.04	0.06	-0.30**	-	-0.15*	0.17*	0.09	0.20**
LB	0.35**	0.03	0.29**	0.26**	0.02	0.61**	-0.36**	-	0.08	0.37**	0.18**
QC	-0.09	0.11	-0.03	-0.10	-0.11	-0.17*	0.20**	-0.06	-	0.23**	0.04
CU	0.21**	0.01	0.13	0.18*	-0.03	0.21**	-0.08	0.39**	0.09	-	0.23**
PA	0.22**	-0.02	0.30**	0.28**	0.08	0.25**	0.16*	0.32**	-0.01	0.42**	_

LS, life satisfaction; SLD, sleep disturbance; SLL, sleep latency; RR, reactive restriction; IR, internet-specific rules; LB, limiting online behaviors; QC, quality of communication; CU, co-use; PA, parent adherence.

^aPearson correlation coefficients calculated based on the whole sample (N = 390).

^b Pearson correlation coefficients calculated for males (N = 176) and females (N = 214), respectively; values below the diagonal are for males; values above the diagonal are for females. *p < 0.05;

TABLE 3 | Prevalence of social networking addiction behaviors.

During the past year, have you	Yes		
	Number	Percentage (%)	
1. Regularly found that you can't think of anything else but the moment that you will be able to use the social media again?	172	44.1	
2. Regularly felt dissatisfied because you wanted to spend more time on social media?	118	30.3	
3. Often felt bad when you could not use social media?	156	40.0	
4. Tried to spend less time on social media, but failed?	175	44.9	
5. Often used social media to escape from negative feelings?	193	49.5	
6. Regularly had arguments with others because of your social media use?	63	16.2	
7. Regularly lied to your parents or friends about the amount of time you spend on social media?	70	17.9	
8. Regularly neglected other activities (e.g., hobbies, sport) because you wanted to use social media?	84	21.5	
9. Had serious conflicts with your parent(s) and/or sibling(s) because of your social media use?	60	15.4	
Social networking addiction (yes on five or more items)	84	21.5	

parenting behaviors in a group of Hong Kong university students. More than one-fifth of the participants could be regarded as at high risk of SNA, which was further found to be associated with multiple negative health consequences including poor sleeping quality, mental well-being, and academic performance. This suggests that SNA has become a serious public health issue affecting the lives of a considerable number of young adults. Effective intervention and prevention strategies are critically needed to tackle the problem in a timely manner. Meanwhile, parental reactive restriction and limiting online behavior were associated with higher probability of university students' SNA.

We found an overall SNA prevalence of 21.5% among the surveyed Hong Kong university students, which is consistent with previous findings showing that 12–34% of young adults TABLE 4 | Independent samples t-tests comparing health indicators between SNA and non-SNA groups based on 1,000 bootstrap samples.

Health indicators	Non-SNA group ($N = 306$)	SNA group ($N = 84$)	t	p
Sleep latency	2.23 (1.06)	2.52 (1.01)	-2.31	0.02
Sleep disturbance	1.58 (0.47)	1.91 (0.66)	-4.28	0.00
Academic performance	3.40 (0.75)	2.85 (0.74)	2.11	0.04
Depression	1.86 (0.50)	2.29 (0.57)	-6.85	0.00
Life satisfaction	4.16 (1.16)	3.88 (1.18)	2.00	0.05

TABLE 5 | Logistic regression analysis of the prediction of SNA by parenting behaviors.

Predictors	The whole sample				Male students				Female students			
	В	SE	OR	95% CI	В	SE	OR	95% CI	В	SE	OR	95% CI
Block 1												
Gender	-0.37	0.25	0.70	0.43-1.13	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Year of study	0.03	0.14	1.03	0.79–1.34	-0.07	0.19	0.94	0.65–1.35	0.14	0.20	1.15	0.78–1.69
Block 2												
Reactive restriction	0.57	0.19	1.78**	1.24-2.55	0.28	0.25	1.33	0.81–2.18	0.89	0.28	2.44**	1.40-4.25
Internet-specific rules	0.11	0.16	1.11	0.81-1.53	0.08	0.26	1.08	0.65-1.80	0.16	0.22	1.17	0.77-1.79
Limiting online behaviors	0.54	0.22	1.72*	1.11-2.65	0.76	0.33	2.13*	1.11-4.09	0.35	0.31	1.42	0.77-2.62
Quality of communication	-0.17	0.16	0.85	0.62-1.17	-0.25	0.25	0.78	0.47-1.28	-0.09	0.22	0.91	0.60–1.39
Co-use	0.23	0.17	1.26	0.90-1.75	0.22	0.26	1.24	0.75-2.07	0.16	0.23	1.18	0.75–1.84
Parental adherence to rules	-0.01	0.19	0.99	0.69–1.43	0.29	0.28	1.33	0.78-2.29	-0.29	0.27	0.75	0.44–1.27
Cox and Snell R ²			0.12		0.15				0.11			

*p< 0.05; **p< 0.01.

are problematic users of SNSs worldwide (10, 70). Nonetheless, while some evidence suggests that SNA appears to be more prevalent among females (27), the present study found SNA to be unrelated to university students' gender. A recent report based on college students in Singapore showed similar findings (21). It should be noted that despite the nonsignificant gender difference in prevalence, males and females may use SNSs for distinct purposes and display different online behaviors associated with SNS usage (71). For example, Muscanell and Guadagno (72) reported that men tended to use SNSs for forming new relationships while women were more likely to use SNSs for relationship maintenance. Females also reported using SNSs more broadly than did males (73). Further investigation into gender-specific motivations and SNS usage behaviors would help inform the development of prevention and intervention programs targeting different gender groups.

It is worth noting that the most frequently reported SNA behaviors in the present study are related to "mood modification," "salience," and "withdrawal symptoms." More than 40% of the participating students indicated that they used SNSs to escape from negative feelings, felt bad when they could not use SNSs, and tried to spend less time on SNSs but failed. These behaviors resemble some core symptoms of other types of behavioral addiction like gambling and gaming disorder (74). Such problematic behavioral patterns often lead to further emotional, performance-related, and health problems in one's life.

In fact, we found that students with SNA in the present study reported poorer sleeping quality (longer sleep latency and more sleep disturbance), lower levels of life satisfaction and perceived academic performance, and higher levels of depression. These findings provide further evidence for the pervasive negative impact of SNA on the health and well-being of university students in the context of Hong Kong. Corroborating with prior reports based on other populations (75-77), the present study suggests that despite of the positive benefits and impacts of SNS, there is a significant detrimental effect on many aspects of life including academic achievement among people who cannot control their excessive uses of SNS, especially youth who are still in education. Recent studies showed that cognitive reconstruction about SNSs use could effectively mitigate SNA by helping students realize the adverse effects of SNA and the potential benefits of reducing SNS usage (78). The present findings can be used in the development of such psychoeducational programs to prevent and treat SNA among university students in Hong Kong. Besides, intervention programs targeting SNA shall not only focus on reducing one's SNS use, but develop strategies to improve the health and wellbeing status of the addictive users, such as addressing their depression and sleeping problems, and providing support to improve their learning efficiency and academic performance.

Regarding the influence of parental Internet-specific behaviors, the present study revealed a positive relationship between parental restrictive mediation (i.e., reactive restriction and limiting online behaviors) and university students' SNA. In

other words, more controlling behaviors displayed by parents regarding their children's use of SNSs (e.g., asking their children to turn off their mobile phones) are associated with a higher risk of SNA among university students. This counterintuitive finding may actually reflect a reverse causality, i.e., parents simply engage in more restrictive behaviors after observing their children's addictive use of SNSs. Previous studies showed inconsistent findings where parental restrictive mediation was found to be positively (79, 80), negatively (41, 81), or insignificantly (82) related to their children's addictive use of Internet. Researchers have proposed that the association between parental mediation strategies and their children's behavior may be further moderated by other factors (37, 82-84). For example, Lee (82) reported the child's low self-control reinforced the effects of restrictive mediation on the child's online time. Besides, the effects of concrete parenting practices (i.e., Internet-specific parenting behaviors) may also be moderated by general family functioning and parenting style (83). Parent-child relationship and family dynamics have consistently been found to affect the influence of specific parenting practices on children's development and mental health (85, 86). In the present study, we did not include indicators of general parenting behaviors (e.g., responsiveness and demandingness) or family climate when investigating the influence of Internet-specific parental behaviors on university students' SNA. Such indicators shall be taken into account in future studies. More importantly, the causal relationship between Internet-specific parenting behavior and children's SNA, as well as the potential moderators must be addressed based on longitudinal research.

Other parenting behaviors including parents' own SNS usage, social co-use, and quality of communication were all found to have no significant relationship with university students' SNA. This is consistent with existing findings showing that the salience of parents' direct influence on adolescents' behaviors recedes as adolescents increasingly incorporate more extra-familial socialization influence into their sense of identity (87, 88). Peer modeling and norms have been highlighted as powerful determinants of young people's addictive behaviors such as drinking and digital game addiction (89, 90). Besides, although most university students in Hong Kong remain living at home, they spend little time with their parents. A recent survey revealed that 92% of Hong Kong university students had extra-curricular jobs for further financial support (91), which likely took away from family time. Limited family time may further weaken parental influence on children's behaviors. In addition, similar to parental restrictive mediation, the effects of Internet-specific parenting behaviors (e.g., parents monitoring children's SNS use) are likely to be moderated by one's family relationships and the general parenting styles that parents display over time. We need more in-depth investigation into the role of family dynamics in the association between parenting behaviors and young people's SNA.

Several limitations of the present study must be acknowledged. First, although we found significant relationships between SNA and different health indicators, the direction

of the relationships cannot be confirmed based on the crosssectional study. Some scholars (25, 92) have reported reciprocal relationships between Internet addiction and one's well-being, indicating the possibility that individuals with more emotional disturbance may be more likely to use SNSs intensively in order to escape from the real world, and the excessive time used on SNSs further causes problems in one's life. This issue must be addressed with multiple waves of data collected in future longitudinal research. Second, parenting behaviors were measured only based on university students' perceptions. Further studies should collect data from multiple informants, for example by using parents' self-reported behaviors. Third, participants in the present study were recruited from a convenient sample. To gain a more accurate estimation of the prevalence rate of SNA among university students in Hong Kong, large-scale studies based on representative samples are necessary.

Despite these limitations, the present study is among the first to examine SNA and its relationships with multiple health outcomes and parenting behaviors among university students in Hong Kong. The findings highlight the severity of the issue. Timely prevention and detection of SNA should be given priority in terms of health education resources for university students. Moreover, as our understanding of parenting behaviors regarding SNS usage continues to develop, researchers in this area might be able to provide a more complete and clear framework of the relationship between SNA and parenting behaviors, as well as the underlying mechanism.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Human Subjects Ethics Sub-committee, Department of Applied Social Sciences, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LY conceptualized and designed the study, collected the data, interpreted the data, drafted the manuscript, and approved the final manuscript as submitted. TL collected the data, interpreted the data, drafted the manuscript, and approved the final manuscript as submitted. Both authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

The work described in this manuscript was fully supported by a grant from the Research Grants Council of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, China (Project No. PolyU 15604618).

REFERENCES

- Boyd D M, Ellison N B. Social network sites: definition, history, and scholarship. J Comput Mediat Commun. (2007) 13:210–30. doi: 10.1111/j.1083-6101.2007.00393.x
- We are social. Digital 2019: Global Internet Use Accelerates [Internet]. Available online at: https://wearesocial.com/blog/2019/01/digital-2019-globalinternet-use-accelerates (cited April 16, 2020).
- Tatham, M. For Every Hour Online Americans Spend 16 Minutes on Social Networks [Internet]. Available online at: http://www.experian.com/blogs/ marketing-forward/2013/04/18/for-every-hour-online-americans-spend-16minutes-on-social-networks/ (cited April 16, 2020).
- Kuss DJ, Griffiths MD. Addiction to social networks on the internet: a literature review of empirical research. *Int J Environ Publ Health*. (2011) 8:3528–52. doi: 10.3390/ijerph8093528
- Brady KP, Holcomb LB, Smith BV. The use of alternative social networking sites in higher educational settings: a case study of the e-learning benefits of Ning in education. J Inter Online Learn. (2010) 9:151–70. doi: 10.1108/CWIS-11-2013-0062
- Ellison N B, Steinfield C, Lampe C. The benefits of Facebook "friends:" Social capital and college students' use of online social network sites. J Comput Mediat Commun. (2007) 12:1143–68. doi: 10.1111/j.1083-6101.2007.00367.x
- Livingstone S, Brake DR. On the rapid rise of social networking sites: new findings and policy implications. *Child Soc.* (2010) 24:75– 83. doi: 10.1111/j.1099-0860.2009.00243.x
- Andreassen CS, Torsheim T, Brunborg GS, Pallesen S. Development of a Facebook addiction scale. *Psychol Rep.* (2012) 110:501– 17. doi: 10.2466/02.09.18.PR0.110.2.501-517
- Schou Andreassen C, Pallesen S. Social network site addiction-an overview. Curr Pharm Des. (2014) 20:4053–61. doi: 10.2174/13816128113199990616
- Andreassen CS. Online social network site addiction: a comprehensive review. *Curr Addict Rep.* (2015) 2:175–84. doi: 10.1007/s40429-015-0056-9
- Xanidis N, Brignell CM. The association between the use of social network sites, sleep quality and cognitive function during the day. *Comput Human Behav.* (2016) 55:121–6. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2015.09.004
- Leung L. Using tablet in solitude for stress reduction: An examination of desire for aloneness, leisure boredom, tablet activities, and location of use. *Comput Human Behav.* (2015) 48:382–91. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2015.01.068
- Elphinston RA, Noller P. Time to face it! Facebook intrusion and the implications for romantic jealousy and relationship satisfaction. *Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw.* (2011) 14:631–5. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2010.0318
- Hawi NS, Samaha M. The relations among social media addiction, selfesteem, and life satisfaction in university students. Soc Sci Comput Rev. (2017) 35:576–86. doi: 10.1177/0894439316660340
- Pantic I. Online social networking and mental health. Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw. (2014) 17:652–7. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2014.0070
- Cerniglia L, Griffiths MD, Cimino S, De Palo V, Monacis L, Sinatra M, et al. A latent profile approach for the study of internet gaming disorder, social media addiction, and psychopathology in a normative sample of adolescents. *Psychol Res Behav Manage*. (2019) 12:651–9. doi: 10.2147/PRBM.S211873
- He Q, Turel O, Bechara A. Brain anatomy alterations associated with Social Networking Site (SNS) addiction. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:1–8. doi: 10.1038/srep45064
- Griffiths KM, Bennett K, Walker J, Goldsmid S, Bennett A. Effectiveness of MH-Guru, a brief online mental health program for the workplace: a randomised controlled trial. *Internet Interv.* (2016) 6:29–39. doi: 10.1016/j.invent.2016.09.004
- Perrin A. Social Media Usage. Pew Research Center [Internet]. (2015). Available online at: https://www.secretintelligenceservice.org/wp-content/ uploads/2016/02/PI_2015-10-08_Social-Networking-Usage-2005-2015_ FINAL.pdf
- Griffiths MD. Social networking addiction: emerging themes and issues. J Addict Res Ther. (2013) 4. doi: 10.4172/2155-6105.1000e118
- Tang CS, Koh YYW. Online social networking addiction among college students in Singapore: comorbidity with behavioral addiction and affective disorder. *Asian J Psychiatr.* (2017) 25:175-8. doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2016. 10.027

- Rinker DV, Krieger H, Neighbors C. Social network factors and addictive behaviors among college students. *Curr Addict Rep.* (2016) 3:356– 67. doi: 10.1007/s40429-016-0126-7
- Census and Statistics Department. Thematic Household Survey Report Report No. 61- Use of new media [Internet]. Available online at: https://www.statistics. gov.hk/pub/B11302612016XXXXB0100.pdf (cited April 16, 2020)
- Leung L. Linking psychological attributes to addiction and improper use of the mobile phone among adolescents in Hong Kong. J Child Media. (2008) 2:93–113. doi: 10.1080/17482790802078565
- 25. Yu L, Shek DTL. Testing longitudinal relationships between Internet addiction and well-being in Hong Kong adolescents: cross-lagged analyses based on three waves of data. *Child Indic Res.* (2018) 11:1545–62. doi: 10.1007/s12187-017-9494-3
- Wang CW, Ho RTH, Chan CLW, Tse S. Exploring personality characteristics of Chinese adolescents with internet-related addictive behaviors: trait differences for gaming addiction and social networking addiction. *Addict Behav.* (2015) 42:32–5. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2014.10.039
- Griffiths MD, Kuss DJ, Demetrovics Z. Social networking addiction: An overview of preliminary findings. In Rosenberg KP, Curtiss Feder L, editors, *Behavioral Addictions: Criteria, Evidence, and Treatment* (p. 119–141). Cambridge, MA: Elsevier Academic Press (2014). doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-407724-9.00006
- Monacis, L., Griffiths, M.D., Limone, P., Sinatra, M., Servidio, R. Selfitis behavior: assessing the italian version of the selfitis behavior scale and its mediating role in the relationship of dark traits with social media addiction. *Int J Environ Res Publ Health.* (2020) 17:5738. doi: 10.3390/ijerph171 65738
- Ko CH, Wang PW, Liu TL, Yen CF, Chen CS, Yen JY. Bidirectional associations between family factors and Internet addiction among adolescents in a prospective investigation. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2015) 69:192– 200. doi: 10.1111/pcn.12204
- Lee SJ, Chae YG. Children's Internet use in a family context: influence on family relationships and parental mediation. *Cyberpsychol Behav.* (2007) 10:640–4. doi: 10.1089/cpb.2007.9975
- Yen JY, Yen CF, Chen CC, Chen SH, Ko CH. Family factors of internet addiction and substance use experience in Taiwanese adolescents. *Cyberpsychol Behav.* (2007) 10:323–9. doi: 10.1089/cpb.2006.9948
- Tur-Porcar A. Parenting styles and Internet use. Psychol Mark. (2017) 34:1016–22. doi: 10.1002/mar.21040
- Wu CST, Wong HT, Yu KF, Fok KW, Yeung SM, Lam CH, et al. Parenting approaches, family functionality, and internet addiction among Hong Kong adolescents. *BMC Pediatr.* (2016) 16:130. doi: 10.1186/s12887-016-0666-y
- Barber B K. Intrusive Parenting: How Psychological Control Affects Children and Adolescents. 1st Edn. American Psychological Association (2002).
- 35. Siomos K, Floros G, Fisoun V, Evaggelia D, Farkonas N, Sergentani E, et al. Evolution of Internet addiction in Greek adolescent students over a two-year period: the impact of parental bonding. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. (2012) 21:211–9. doi: 10.1007/s00787-012-0254-0
- Lin CH, Lin SL, Wu CP. The effects of parental monitoring and leisure boredom on adolescents' Internet addiction. *Adolescence*. (2009) 44:993–1004. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17051754
- Ding Q, Li D, Zhou Y, Dong H, Luo J. Perceived parental monitoring and adolescent internet addiction: A moderated mediation model. *Addict Behav.* (2017) 74:48–54. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2017.05.033
- Wills TA, Resko JA, Ainette MG, Mendoza D. Role of parent support and peer support in adolescent substance use: a test of mediated effects. *Psychol Addict Behav.* (2004) 18:122–34. doi: 10.1037/0893-164X.18.2.122
- van Den Eijnden RJJM, Spijkerman R, Vermulst AA, van Rooij TJ, Engels RC. Compulsive Internet use among adolescents: Bidirectional parent-child relationships. J Abnorm Child Psychol. (2010) 38:77–89. doi: 10.1007/s10802-009-9347-8
- Park SK, Kim JY, Cho CB. Prevalence of Internet addiction and correlations with family factors among South Korean adolescents. *Adolescence*. (2008) 43:895–909.
- Chng GS, Li D, Liau AK, Khoo A. Moderating effects of the family environment for parental mediation and pathological internet use in youths. *Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw.* (2015) 18:30–6. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2014.0368

- Grotevant HD. Adolescent development in family contexts. In Damon W, Eisenberg N, editors. *Handbook of Child Psychology: Social, Emotional, and Personality Development*. New Jersey, NJ: John Wiley & Sons, Inc. (1998). p. 1097–149.
- Goldenberg I, Goldenberg H. Family Therapy: An Overview. 5th Edn. Belmont, WA: Wadsworth Publishing Company (2005).
- 44. Abar C, Turrisi R. How important are parents during the college years? A longitudinal perspective of indirect influences parents yield on their college teens' alcohol use. *Addict Behav.* (2008) 33:1360– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2008.06.010
- Kaynak Ö, Meyers K, Caldeira KM, Vincent KB, Winters KC, Arria AM. Relationships among parental monitoring and sensation seeking on the development of substance use disorder among college students. *Addict Behav.* (2013) 38:1457–63. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2012.08.003
- 46. Mallett KA, Turrisi R, Ray AE, Stapleton J, Abar C, Mastroleo NR, et al. Do parents know best? Examining the relationship between parenting profiles, prevention efforts, and peak drinking in college students 1. *J Appl Soc Psychol.* (2011) 41:2904–27. doi: 10.1111/j.1559-1816.2011.00860.x
- Small ML, Morgan N, Abar C, Maggs JL. Protective effects of parent–college student communication during the first semester of college. J Am Coll Health. (2011) 59:547–54. doi: 10.1080/07448481.2010.528099
- Fischer JL, Forthun LF, Pidcock BW, Dowd DA. Parent relationships, emotion regulation, psychosocial maturity and college student alcohol use problems. J Youth Adolesc. (2007) 36:912–26. doi: 10.1007/s10964-006-9126-6
- 49. Yao MZ, He J, Ko DM, Pang K. The influence of personality, parental behaviors, and self-esteem on Internet addiction: a study of Chinese college students. *Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw.* (2014) 17:104–10. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2012.0710
- Hong Kong Professional Teachers' Union [Internet]. Available online at: https://www.hkptu.org/ptunews/42592 (cited April 16, 2020).
- Su C, Hynie M. Effects of life stress, social support, and cultural norms on parenting styles among mainland Chinese, European Canadian, and Chinese Canadian immigrant mothers. J Cross Cult Psychol. (2011) 42:944– 62. doi: 10.1177/0022022110381124
- 52. Chao RK. Chinese and European American cultural models of the self reflected in mothers' childrearing beliefs. *Ethos.* (1995) 23:328–54.
- Lim S L, Lim B K. Parenting style and child outcomes in Chinese and immigrant Chinese families-current findings and cross-cultural considerations in conceptualization and research. *Marriage Fam Rev.* (2004) 35:21–43. doi: 10.1300/J002v35n03_03
- Pomerantz EM, Wang Q. The role of parental control in children's development in Western and East Asian countries. *Curr Dir Psychol Sci.* (2009) 18:285–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8721.2009.01653.x
- Shek DTL. Paternal and maternal influences on family functioning among Hong Kong Chinese families. J Genet Psychol. (2001) 162:56– 74. doi: 10.1080/00221320109597881
- Livingstone S, Helsper EJ. Parental mediation of children's internet use. J Broadcast Electron Media. (2008) 52:581– 99. doi: 10.1080/08838150802437396
- Koning IM, Peeters M, Finkenauer C, Van Den Eijnden RJ. Bidirectional effects of Internet-specific parenting practices and compulsive social media and Internet game use. J Behav Addict. (2018) 7:624–32. doi: 10.1556/2006.7.2018.68
- Van Den Eijnden RJJM, Lemmens JS, Valkenburg PM. The social media disorder scale. *Comput Human Behav.* (2016) 61:478–87. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2016.03.038
- Fung S. Cross-cultural validation of the Social Media Disorder scale. Psychol Res Behav Manage. (2019) 12:683–90. doi: 10.2147/PRBM.S216788
- Savci M, Ercengiz M, Aysan F. Turkish adaptation of the Social Media Disorder Scale in adolescents. *Noro Psikiyatr Ars.* (2018) 55:248– 55. doi: 10.5152/npa.2017.19285
- 61. Diener E. Subjective well-being. Psychol Bull. (1984) 95:542-75.
- Chen W, Zhang D, Pan Y, Hu T, Liu G, Luo S. Perceived social support and self-esteem as mediators of the relationship between parental attachment and life satisfaction among Chinese adolescents. *Pers Individ Dif.* (2017) 108: 98–102. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2016.12.009
- 63. de Looze ME, Huijts T, Stevens G, Torsheim T, Vollebergh WA. The happiest kids on earth. Gender equality and adolescent life satisfaction

in Europe and North America. J Youth Adolesc. (2018) 47:1073-85. doi: 10.1007/s10964-017-0756-7

- Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB. The phq-9. J Gen Intern Med. (2001) 16:606–13. doi: 10.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016009606.x
- Pinto-Meza A, Serrano-Blanco A, Penarrubia MT, Blanco E, Haro JM. Assessing depression in primary care with the PHQ-9: can it be carried out over the telephone? J Gen Intern Med. (2005) 20:738– 42. doi: 10.1111/j.1525-1497.2005.0144.x
- Tsai FJ, Huang YH, Liu HC, Huang KY, Huang YH, Liu SI. Patient health questionnaire for school-based depression screening among Chinese adolescents. *Pediatrics*. (2014) 133:e402–9. doi: 10.1542/peds.201 3-0204
- Buysse DJ, Reynolds CF, Monk TH, Berman, SR, Kupfer DJ. The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index: a new instrument for psychiatric practice and research. *Psychiatry Res.* (1989) 28:193–213.
- Dietch JR, Taylor DJ, Sethi K, Kelly K, Bramoweth AD, Roane BM. Psychometric evaluation of the PSQI in US college students. J Clin Sleep Med. (2016) 12:1121–9. doi: 10.5664/jcsm.6050
- Guo S, Sun W, Liu C, Wu S. Structural validity of the Pittsburgh sleep quality index in Chinese undergraduate students. *Front Psychol.* (2016) 7:1126– 32. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01126
- Wan C. Gratifications & Loneliness as Predictors of Campus-SNS. Hong Kong: The Chinese University of Hong Kong (2009). Available online at: http://pg. com.cuhk.edu.hk/pgp_nm/projects/2009/Wan%20Sisi%20Candy.pdf
- Lenhart A. Teens, Social Media & Technology Overview [Internet]. Available online at: https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2015/04/09/teenssocial-media-technology-2015/ (cited April 16, 2020).
- Muscanell NL, Guadagno RE. Make new friends or keep the old: gender and personality differences in social networking use. *Comput Human Behav.* (2012) 28:107–12. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2011.08.016
- Hwang HS, Choi EK. Exploring gender differences in motivations for using Sina Weibo. KSII Trans Intern Inform Syst. (2016) 10:1429– 41. doi: 10.3837/tiis.2016.03.029
- Griffiths MD. Online computer gaming: advice for parents and teachers. *Educ Health.* (2009) 27:3–6.
- Lepp A, Barkley JE, Karpinski AC. The relationship between cell phone use, academic performance, anxiety, and satisfaction with life in college students. *Comput Human Behav.* (2014) 31:343–50. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2013. 10.049
- Utz S, Breuer J. The relationship between use of social network sites, online social support, and well-being: Results from a six-wave longitudinal study. J Media Psychol. (2017) 29:115–25. doi: 10.1027/1864-1105/a0 00222
- Woods HC, Scott H. Sleepyteens: social media use in adolescence is associated with poor sleep quality, anxiety, depression and low self-esteem. J Adolesc. (2016) 51:41–9. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2016.05.008
- Ho H, Shin W, Lwin MO. Social networking site use and materialistic values among youth: the safeguarding role of the parent-child relationship and self-regulation. *Commun Res.* (2019) 46:1119–44. doi: 10.1177/00936502166 83775
- Martins MV, Formiga A, Santos C, Sousa D, Resenda C, Campos R, et al. Adolescent internet addiction-role of parental control and adolescent behaviours. *Int J Pediatr Adolesc Med.* (2019) 7:116–20. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpam.2019.12.003
- Hsieh YP, Shen ACT, Wei HS, et al. Internet addiction: a closer look at multidimensional parenting practices and child mental health. *Cyberpsychol Behav Soc Netw.* (2018) 21:768–73. doi: 10.1089/cyber.201 8.0435
- Chang FC, Chiu CH, Miao NF, Chen PH, Lee CM, Chiang JT, et al. The relationship between parental mediation and Internet addiction among adolescents, and the association with cyberbullying and depression. *Comprehens Psychiatry.* (2015) 57:21–8. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2014.11.013
- Lee SJ. Parental restrictive mediation of children's internet use: effective for what and for whom? New Media Soc. (2013) 15:466–81. doi: 10.1177/1461444812452412
- 83. Chou C, Lee YH. The moderating effects of Internet parenting styles on the relationship between Internet parenting behavior, Internet expectancy,

and Internet addiction tendency. *Asia-Pac Educ Res.* (2017) 26:137-46. doi: 10.1007/s40299-017-0334-5

- 84. Zhang R, Bai B, Jiang S, Yang S, Zhou Q. Parenting styles and internet addiction in Chinese adolescents: conscientiousness as a mediator and teacher support as a moderator. *Comput Hum Behav.* (2019) 101:144–50. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2019.07.019
- Brody GH, Flor DL, Hollett-Wright N, McCoy JK, Donovan J. Parentchild relationships, child temperament profiles and children's alcohol use norms. J Stud Alcohol Suppl. (1999) (13):45–51. doi: 10.15288/jsas.1999. s13.45
- DeBoard-Lucas RL, Fosco GM, Raynor SR, Grych JH. Interparental conflict in context: exploring relations between parenting processes and children's conflict appraisals. J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol. (2010) 39:163–75. doi: 10.1080/153744109035 32593
- Brechwald WA, Prinstein MJ. Beyond homophily: a decade of advances in understanding peer influence processes. J Res Adolesc. (2011) 21:166–79. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-7795.2010.0 0721.x
- Meeus WIM, Oosterwegel A, Vollebergh W. Parental and peer attachment and identity development in adolescence. J Adolesc. (2002) 25:93– 106. doi: 10.1006/jado.2001.0451
- Gunuc S. Peer Influence in Internet and Digital Game Addicted Adolescents: Is Internet/Digital Game Addiction Contagious?. *Int J High Risk Behav Addict*. (2017) 6(2). doi: 10.5812/ijhrba.33681

- 90. Larimer ME, Turner AP, Mallett KA, Geisner IM. Predicting drinking behavior and alcohol-related problems among fraternity and sorority members: examining the role of descriptive and injunctive norms. *Psychol of Addict Behav.* (2004) 18:203–12. doi: 10.1037/0893-164X.1 8.3.203
- 91. The Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited. University Students in Hong Kong Take Up Part-Time Jobs to Keep With Costs and Enhance Job Prospects [Internet]. Available online at: https://www.about.hsbc. com.hk/-/media/hong-kong/en/news-and-media/180821-over-nine-in-tenuniversity-students-in-hong-kong-take-up-part-time-jobs.pdf (cited April 16, 2020).
- Lemmens J S, Valkenburg P M, Peter J. Psychosocial causes and consequences of pathological gaming. *Comput Human Behav.* (2011) 27:144– 52. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2010.07.015

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Yu and Luo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Citizen Consultation on Problematic Usage of the Internet: Ethical Considerations and Empirical Insights From Six Countries

Biljana Gjoneska^{1*}, Julia Jones², Anna Maria Vella³, Philip Bonanno⁴, Katerina Flora⁵, Andrés Fontalba-Navas^{6,7}, Natalie Hall⁸, Liljana Ignjatova^{9,10}, Zviad Kirtava^{11,12}, Daniel Moreno Sanjuán¹³, Maria Piedade Vaz-Rebelo¹⁴ and Célia M. D. Sales^{15,16}

¹ Macedonian Academy of Sciences and Arts, Skopje, Macedonia, ² Centre for Research in Public Health and Community Care, University of Hertfordshire, Hatfield, United Kingdom, ³ Faculty of Medicine and Surgery, University of Malta, Msida, Malta, ⁴ Faculty of Education, University of Malta, Msida, Malta, ⁵ Psychology Department, Neapolis University, Pafos, Cyprus, ⁶ Antequera Hospital, Northern Málaga Integrated Healthcare Area, Andalusian Health Service, Antequera, Spain, ⁷ Department of Public Health and Psychiatry, University of Malaga, Malaga, Spain, ⁸ Centre for Health Services and Clinical Research, University of Hertfordshire, Hatfield, United Kingdom, ⁹ Faculty of Medicine, Ss Cyril and Methodius University, Skopje, Macedonia, ¹⁰ Centre for Prevention and Treatment of Drug and Other Substance Dependence, Psychiatric University Hospital, Skopje, Macedonia, ¹¹ Department of Medicine, Tbilisi State Medical University, Tbilisi, Georgia, ¹² Nongovernmental Research Organization "Partners for Health", Tbilisi, Georgia, ¹³ Andalusian Health Service, Seville, Spain, ¹⁴ Faculty of Psychology and Educational Sciences, University of Coimbra, Coimbra, Portugal, ¹⁵ Faculty of Psychology and Education Sciences, University of Porto, Porto, Portugal, ¹⁶ Centre for Psychology, University of Porto, Porto, Portugal

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Georgios D. Floros, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Greece

Reviewed by:

Konstantinos E. Siomos, University of Thessaly, Greece Ioanna Mylona, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Greece

*Correspondence: Biljana Gjoneska biljanagjoneska@manu.edu.mk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

Received: 26 July 2020 Accepted: 04 March 2021 Published: 01 April 2021

Citation:

Gjoneska B, Jones J, Vella AM, Bonanno P, Flora K, Fontalba-Navas A, Hall N, Ignjatova L, Kirtava Z, Moreno Sanjuán D, Vaz-Rebelo MP and Sales CMD (2021) Citizen Consultation on Problematic Usage of the Internet: Ethical Considerations and Empirical Insights From Six Countries. Front. Public Health 9:587459. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.587459

Citizens and scientists can work together to improve the collective well-being, if citizens are inspired to help the advancement of science, and researchers motivated to listen to the voices of citizens. The benefits of such collaboration are increasingly recognized by both citizens and scientists, as reflected in the growing number of related publications and initiatives. This is especially relevant for emerging areas of research, where early involvement of citizens could help to envision, prioritize, and plan prospective studies. The Problematic Usage of the Internet (PUI) is one such area, which is fast becoming a public mental health concern. However, there remains a lack of clarity regarding the practical guidelines and ethical requirements for citizen involvement at the earliest stages of PUI. In our paper, we propose a conceptual framework and a template for initial involvement of citizens in PUI. They are derived from our community case studies, conducted in six European countries (Georgia, Greece, Malta, North Macedonia, Portugal, and Spain) and consisting of consultation with diverse groups of interested citizens (students, parents, teachers, and health professionals). Informed by our consultation exercises, we also highlight four ethical aspects for citizen involvement in the research on PUI or novel disciplines in general. They follow simple guiding principles to ensure that scientists will: enable a long-term commitment and inclusive opportunities for citizens, challenge established power hierarchies, and support collaboration, co-production and co-authorship with citizens. We believe that the proposed practical guidelines and ethical considerations, provide a valuable foundation on which to advance our understanding and generate international strategies for citizen involvement in PUI.

Keywords: ethical considerations, conceptual framework, emerging discipline, early research, public health, problematic usage of the internet, citizen consultation

1. INTRODUCTION

Citizens from all walks of life and researchers in diverse fields of science often share an interest in a particular topic with great potential for collaboration. Citizen involvement in research, is one such collaboration in which a beneficial and reciprocal partnership may be developed. This collaboration could inspire citizens to gain enhanced understanding of the scientific matters and to help researchers in the advancement of science. In return, it could also motivate researchers to listen and value the views of citizens, but also involve them in future research. The benefits derived from inviting members of the public to participate in research projects are becoming increasingly recognized, as reflected in the growing number of related publications and initiatives, from 2003 onward (1). However, there remains a lack of clarity regarding the ethical requirements for citizen involvement in research, particularly at the early development stage of research. In this paper, we summarize our experiences from citizen consultation in the novel area of the Problematic Usage of the Internet (PUI).

This collaborative approach spans areas like Patient and Public Involvement (PPI) and Citizen Science, underpinned by the principle that the research should be "carried out with or by members of the public [and patients] rather than to, about or for them" (2). There is ample evidence on the enhanced quality of health research, with a plethora of models, frameworks, guidelines and toolkits produced to guide future strategies for citizen involvement (3-5). The potential for new conceptualizations of PPI in research, becomes especially relevant in the case of emerging research areas, which can present unique characteristics and merit special attention. Novel disciplines are fast advancing yet still developing, hence many questions are still unresolved and open to interpretations or reconceptualizations. In these circumstances, citizens can play an important role and provide useful insights for specific research questions, but also contribute to the broader field in general. This is the case, for example, with as-yet untapped potential of PPI to assist research into PUI. The present study focuses on consultation with *citizens* (i.e., lay people or the general public) rather than patients (as is the case of many previous studies conducted in health research), and our citizen consultation exercises represent an innovative way of working in the emerging field of PUI. We will propose that the early involvement of citizens in PUI can help to envision, identify, prioritize and plan future research in this emerging research area, which has relevance to citizens and researchers alike (6).

Problematic Usage of the Internet is an umbrella term referring to a range of possibly harmful internet-related activities, including "video gaming, gambling, buying, pornography viewing, social networking, 'cyber-bullying' and 'cyberchondria' among others" (7). It is relatively novel area, but a topic of international public mental health concern, recognized as such by the World Health Organization (8), international research collaborative networks (7) and national governments (9).

To the best of our knowledge, no prior studies have been conducted to address the ethical considerations regarding the future involvement of citizens in research on PUI. Indeed, there is a paucity of research and guidance per se regarding research ethics and ethical requirements for citizen involvement at planning stage in any emerging research area. In UK however, there is guidance from the INVOLVE initiative, that was until recently part of the National Institute of Health Research (NIHR). According to INVOLVE guidance from 2016, ethical approval is not needed "to involve the public in the planning or the design stage of research" (10). This guidance clearly distinguishes between members of the public who are collaborators in the research process, compared to being research participants. However, it remains important that an ethically conscious and cautious approach should be exercised when involving citizens in the research process, as outlined by Pandya-Wood et al. (11), so as to ensure that the moral principles are maintained throughout the research process, thus protecting the rights, safety, dignity, and well-being of all parties.

In this paper, we propose theoretical and practical insight for citizen involvement in research on PUI, to enrich the area of public mental health. Specifically, we present: (a) a conceptual framework for early engagement of citizens in emerging research, specifically at the planning research stage; and (b) a template for initial consultation with citizens on PUI. To address these aims, we present community case studies of citizen consultation conducted in six European countries between April-August 2019. These consultations were conducted as part of our citizen involvement activities within the European Network for Problematic Usage of the Internet (EU COST PUI) (12). We conducted the consultation exercises to listen to the views, concerns and experiences of different groups of citizens about PUI, in order to inform the direction of our future research. It is important to note that the information collected throughout the consultation exercises was not treated as data, nor subjected to qualitative analysis. We have used the information gained from these sessions, to develop practical guidelines and ethical considerations for the early involvement of citizens in PUI.

2. RESEARCH CONTEXT

The theoretical part of this paper builds upon prior literature, which informed our approach for the consultation exercises. For this purpose, we first conducted broad searches (in the title, abstract, and keywords of potential manuscripts), across comprehensive databases (Web of Science, Scopus, and PubMed), related to our specific topic of interest (by combining keywords on "citizen / public/ patients/ people" with "consultation / involvement / engagement" about "internet / cyber / online / virtual" and "problem / addiction / obsession"). As expected, the search returned zero or handful of results. Hence, we utilized a more general strategy to tackle the broader research context (Figure 1 presents a diagram of the selection process). Publications were deemed relevant if they adopted the following inclusion criteria: (a) as regards the scope, they consisted of reviews and meta analyses; (b) as regards the topic, they focused on ethical aspects for citizen involvement in planning stages of research processes. On the other hand, the articles were considered for exclusion if they



comprised case studies and were restricted to investigations in specific research area, population or country. The final selection included frameworks, guidelines, recommendations, handbooks, and checklists, but most importantly of reviews, reviews of reviews, and even frameworks of frameworks (see Figure 2) (11, 13-23). A relatively small selection of publications considered the ethical aspects for citizen participation in research processes, in step-by-step fashion (see Figure 2). As can be seen, the list focuses on citizen involvement at preparatory stages (planning, designing, submitting, or approving proposals), and does not address executive stages of the research (conducting research or disseminating results). For example, Pandya-Wood et al. (11), clearly identify the need to adopt an ethically conscious approach even prior to the formal approval of a study, and discuss the main ethical issues encountered in the design stage. However, all these authors fundamentally consider citizen involvement within the life-cycle of a specific project, and do not address the broader scope of a research discipline. The other authors (13-16, 24), mention the need to involve patients at the "ideas stage" of a study, but rarely discuss the potential perspectives for involvement of citizens in relatively novel disciplines. In short, the earliest degree of citizen involvement, before the actual study design takes place, or even before a discipline is officially

established, has received virtually no research attention from an ethical standpoint. As outlined on **Figure 3**, citizens can help scientists grasp the magnitude of the problem, envision future research, map research priorities, identify key topics or hot issues, generate research questions, and plan future studies. Besides highlighting potential role of citizens as research partners, the framework we propose outlines the nature of their commitment (based on collaboration, co-creation and co-production) and clarifies the lack of need for written consent or ethical approval (based on the fact that citizens are consulted in a study, rather than subjected to a study).

3. CITIZEN CONSULTATION EXERCISES ON PUI

Citizen consultations were planned and conducted over a 5month period and across six countries, located in southern Europe: Georgia, Greece, Malta, North Macedonia, Portugal, and Spain (listed in alphabetical order). The participating countries were selected according to the following inclusion criteria: (a) they were all countries represented by members of the Working Group for Citizen Involvement (WG5) within the European



FIGURE 2 The illustration lists a selection of 12 relevant publications, that directly or indirectly consider the ethical aspects of citizens involvement in research. Specifically, the list includes papers that discuss citizen involvement at preparatory stages of the research along a chronological axis (from planning, design, and submission, to approval of proposals). The involvement of citizens in executive stages of the research (conducting and implementing a project, or dissemination of results) is not addressed in the list. As evident, none of the selected studies have considered the early involvement of citizens in new and emerging areas of science (like PUI).

Network for Problematic Usage of the Internet (EU COST PUI); (b) all countries were without national strategies or guidelines for PPI in PUI, or health research in general (25). In preparation to undertake this international citizen consultation, PPI training was provided to the lead author (BG) and members of the WG5, by the second author (JJ) who has expertise in PPI and Citizen Involvement and leads an academic PPI research group at a UK University. The wider WG5 membership was coordinated to plan for the consultation exercises, via series of live and virtual meetings, email and organizational platforms. It was agreed to include citizens with the following characteristics: (a) adults (depending on the country, the citizens were at least 18 or 21 years and older); (b) had direct or indirect contact with the topic of PUI as students, parents, teachers or health professionals. Then the WG5 members in their respective countries made contact with groups of citizens, who met these criteria, and invited them to participate in a consultation meeting.

Thirteen groups of citizens were consulted between April and August 2019. The average group consisted of 15 people, with variations in size between 5 (Georgia) and 27 (Malta) individuals, encompassing a total of 194 citizens (across all countries). Different groups of citizens were involved in the different countries: Spain and Georgia organized consultation with parents (mothers), while Greece consulted with mixed groups of parents (mothers and fathers). Teachers were consulted in Malta and North Macedonia, while students (aged above 18 years) were consulted in North Macedonia, Portugal, and Georgia. Additionally, in North Macedonia consultation groups were also conducted with health professionals (nurses, physicians, social workers). All citizens were informed about the nature and the scope of the exercise and verbally consented to participate in the consultation on PUI.

In all countries, the consultation exercises were carried out in a single session, either face-to-face or online. The face-toface meetings were conducted in professional surroundings (such as universities, hospitals or conference centers). The settings were familiar to the citizens, the atmosphere informal, and the consultation was conducted in a conversational manner as a semi-structured interview. In each country, the exercise was coordinated by national COST Action representatives, who were experienced researchers. They had existing relationships and ongoing collaborations with the groups, or prior contacts with some of the citizens. The discursive and open nature of the discussions fostered spontaneity and empowered the participants to engage freely. As a result, the responses were motivated and uninterrupted, and the groups as a whole engaged in fluid, lively discussions.

The discussions in the consultation exercises were guided by a shared topic guide that was developed in advance by an interdisciplinary group of researchers and practitioners and WG5 members. The idea was to formulate broad open-ended questions, that would stimulate citizens to freely express opinions and start a conversation. The list could be adjusted by the national facilitator to ensure that the questions were relevant and understandable for the national and local context, as well as for the specific group of citizens. See **Figure 4** for the topic guide



FIGURE 3 | The illustration outlines the main aspects of citizen involvement at the earliest stages of a research project, with special emphasis on their involvement in emerging areas of science. It highlights the roles played (as research partners, assistants, or participants), the nature of the commitment (based on co-creation, consultation, or participation), and the ethical requirements involved (where, depending on the stage of research, citizens may be consulted, or they may constitute the object of the study).

used for the consultation exercise. For instance, when discussing the prior knowledge on the subject of PUI, the researchers posed several iterations of a similar question: "What does the term 'Problematic Usage of the Internet' mean to you?", "In your opinion, what is Problematic Usage of the Internet?", "What can be considered as problematic in relation to the Internet use?" and "What do you know about Problematic Usage of Internet?" In this way, the researches were able to adjust to the personality traits, cognitive styles or worldviews of the citizens consulted. In consequence, these consultation exercises acquired some beneficial properties of group sessions (providing supportive and understanding environment for all involved parties), whilst extracting sincere, engaged and relevant contributions from the group members.

In general, the exercise was organized in such a way, as to take into account both perspectives: the individual (following the thought processes of the citizens consulted) and the chronological perspective (following the course of the exercise). The scheme is illustrated in **Figure 4**. Regarding the chronological perspective, the session was first focused on the

			CITIZEN PERSPECTIVE						
TEMPLATE FOR CITIZEN CONSULTATION ON PUI AT THE PLANNING STAGE OF RESEARCH		INDIVIDUAL							
			PARENTS	TEACHERS	HEALTH PROFESSIONALS				
	PRESENT	AWARENESS "What does the term 'Problematic Usage of the Internet' mean to you?" "What do you know about Problematic Usage of the Internet?"	"Harm to the user and The family"	"Prolonged Internet use, abuse in school testing, hate speech, personal data abuse, false news, misinfor- mation"	"Internet addiction as- sociated with isolation, attention deficit, learning difficulties, memory problems and other men- tal problems"				
CHRONOLOGICAL PERSPECTIVE		CONCERNS "What can be consid- ered problematic in relation to the Internet use?" "Can it become a problem for you or your children?"	"Lack of social life, ne- glect of obligations and physical fatigue due to Internet use are prob- lematic. Lack of parental control over the time and amount of Internet use of their children, could also be considered as problematic"	"Availability of all kinds of information, exposure to violence, cyberbully- ing, human trafficking, fake jobs, online dating, pornography, distorted values."	"Radiation from the screens, repeating some- thing that makes us feel bad, impossibility of es- tablishing communica- tion, poorly progressing in school and in devel- opment"				
	FUTURE	NEEDS "What are your train- ing and education needs? "What should be re- searched (in relation to PUI)?"	"Training courses in IT or social networks, and even more in psychol- ogy"	"Training in developing competences to liaise with parents and guardians, when dealing with cases of PUI"	"Research should inves- tigate why kids exces- sively use the Internet, what is missing in their lives and whether they have social anxiety"				

FIGURE 4 | The template illustrates the typical organization of an initial citizen consultation exercise on PUI. The vertical axis covers the chronological perspective, following the sequential order of addressed topics throughout the course of the exercise. The horizontal axis covers the individual perspective of interested groups of citizens. The first perspective expresses the present awareness, concerns and future needs of consulted citizens, while the second perspective describes their fixed opinions. The template also includes an illustrative list of the questions posed by the researchers, and a selection of sample quotes from some of the consulted citizens.

citizens' awareness of PUI issues, and considered their future needs at a later point. Discussion of potential *concerns*, provided a transition between the discussions on the *present awareness* and the *future needs* of citizens. When considering citizens' awareness, researchers sought insights into the knowledge base and knowledge gaps of citizens (i.e., what citizens think they know and what they really knew about the problem). In other words, the researchers wished to identify the participants' subjective and objective understanding of the questions raised. In addressing potential concerns, the researchers were also informed of the citizens' attitudes, beliefs, difficulties and specific worries associated with the problem. Finally, the discussions of future needs, revolved around the pressing questions that need to be tackled by research on PUI.

Overall, the researchers from the six European countries were encouraged by the level of interest in the topic of PUI and the citizen participation in the initial consultation exercises. There was a consensus among researchers that the level of interest from citizens in different countries was a promising sign for their future consultation and inclusion in the development of national guidelines for PPI on PUI. As regards to specific experiences, two general impressions were formed, based on researchers'



notes and summaries from the consultation exercises. Those researchers who conducted consultation with parents have consistently reported parents' concerns and needs related to PUI that were repeatedly voiced across multiple consultation settings: (a) a concern about Internet usage in children; and (b) a need for training and education about PUI of parents themselves. Whereas, the researchers who consulted teachers and health professionals have noted the professionals' awareness about PUI, regardless of the consulted group or country. In fact the professionals' knowledge base (in terms of definitions and descriptions of PUI) and their identification of knowledge gaps (in terms of reported weaknesses and shortcomings) were quite rich, observant and insightful. Nevertheless, it appeared that many professionals from the different countries have sought to improve their personal skills and competencies around PUI. Whilst the *parents* focused on the need for psychological advice and counseling in support of their children or families.

4. DISCUSSION OF KEY ETHICAL ASPECTS FOR FUTURE INVOLVEMENT OF CITIZENS IN PUI

In the following section, we focus on main ethical aspects that should be taken in consideration upon future inclusion of citizens in research on PUI, especially in the planning and design stages of research (also shown in **Figure 5**). They were identified from our community case studies, conducted to ascertain the opinions, concerns and questions of citizens on the subject of PUI.

4.1. Enabling the Long-Term Commitment of Citizens

Time-related issues were frequently raised during consultation exercises, corroborating the findings from previous research (11, 26). Consulted citizens highlighted the need for time to acquire sufficient experience with Internet technologies and with the specific research on PUI, in order to become involved in a meaningful way at the early stages of research development. In addition, the discussion groups have addressed the time-sensitive issue of maintaining motivation and sustained dedication, that are required on both sides for the purpose of obtaining significant scientific outcomes. Therefore, engaging with citizens in sensible, respectful, and equally dedicated manner, would enhance the probability of achieving real progress over longer periods. The prospects for long-term and sustained collaboration with citizens on PUI, could be particularly improved by reaching out to existing citizen groups, such as established consumer groups, school parent groups and youth groups. In addition to joint meetings and consultations, the members of these group could also be assigned to training courses, invited to public events and community presentations, as well as continually informed and updated via social platforms on all developments regarding PUI.

4.2. Inclusive Opportunities for Involvement

The importance of inclusivity and diversity in PPI (11, 13) was also emphasized in our consultations with citizens on the subject of PUI. The consulted adults expressed a regard that younger generations (children, adolescents, and young people in general) are more vulnerable to PUI, but also more knowledgeable on the subject, so they represent a valuable source population for identifying priorities for future research in this area. This sentiment has been expressed in earlier work on cyberbullying (27). Still, to this date, little research has been conducted as a result of collaborative scientific investigations with different groups of citizens, on the health impact of Internet technologies (as hallmarks of the new age and as relatively recent phenomena). The inclusion of a wide range of citizens with a variety of backgrounds, could help to better understand the magnitude of PUI at different points in time and space, and across various settings and circumstances. Identifying the most relevant groups for involvement in PUI research, becomes particularly important in times of the pandemic, when spatial restrictions and behavioral adaptations can exert great influence over the course of both COVID-19 and PUI among vulnerable populations. In relation to this, the following section offers rationale for usefulness of future consultation with young adults (aged between 18 and 25 years) (28).

4.3. Challenging Long-Established Power Hierarchies

The notion of reciprocity was discussed during the consultation exercises, and the need for education on PUI was emphasized. The citizens regarded it as a way to become better informed and empowered, and to contribute on more equal terms in the research. Power imbalances can pose a threat if disproportional and discriminating tendencies emerge in the relationships between scientists and citizens, manifesting as an increased sense of entitlement (among scientists), or an increased distrust in scientists (among citizens), thus hindering all prospects for fruitful collaboration between two sides.

We suggest that the early involvement of citizens in emerging research areas, could challenge existing power imbalances and decrease inequalities (29, 30). By becoming collaborators at an early stage of the research, citizens would establish reciprocal relationships with researchers and their voices would be heard and acted upon. Such a development would be highly significant in the case of PUI, an area in which health professionals are struggling to overcome the power hierarchies of the business sector and break down the silos of the computer, video gaming, and gambling industries (31), to make society aware of potential health risks. We argue that the inclusion of citizens in the early stages of PUI research would strengthen the evidence generated in collaborative research and give a voice to the end-users. In short, it would empower both interest groups to a similar extent, with a wealth of credible, legitimate and shared knowledge.

In this regard, future consultations with advisory groups consisting of young people (aged 18–25), might be an advisable way to proceed and a positive route to address all three concerns: the long-term commitment, the inclusive involvement and empowerment of citizens. This is based on the following reasoning:

(a) The proposed age-group consists of people who are young enough to have had a significant exposure to the Internet, but mature enough to understand the associated risks and possible complications. We are aware that this age group often utilize Internet to satisfy their social and emotional needs, but also for educational and work-related purposes. Hence, they should have genuine interest on the subject of PUI and be naturally incentivized for long-term collaboration.

(b) Young people have been growing-up fully immersed in the world of Internet, so they should have considerable knowledge and technical prowess. In fact, we believe that young people *might already be considered as equal partners, when considering the issues of digital literacy and technical Internet skills.*

(c) Most importantly, young people *may have the time and educational interest to invest in long-term engagement* based on collaboration, co-production and co-authorship. Young people who are in education may view such collaboration a good opportunity for their personal learning and development and support the next steps in their career aspirations.

4.4. Supporting Collaboration, Co-production, and Co-authorship

Closely related to all of the above aspects of citizen involvement in research on PUI, are the discussions currently taking place in PPI on greater fairness and recognition for citizens, in terms of collaborative and reciprocal relationships, co-production and co-authorship (17, 32). Ideally, the relationship between citizens and scientists will advance with the advancement of the research in the area of PUI. In such circumstances, the level of citizens' expertise might become comparable to that of the scientists, so this might include a move toward co-production, where decisions about the research are shared and everyone's expertise is valued. This includes co-authorship of reports, publications and other scientific outputs (33). Nevertheless, different groups of citizens, can offer unique and useful insights regardless of their level of involvement or expertise, so each contribution should be properly valued and adequately acknowledged.

4.5. Potential Limitations

The conceptualization we propose for the early involvement of citizens in the emerging research on PUI, should be considered within the context of existing frameworks and guidelines for PPI in the field of health sciences. These prior efforts provide the background to our call for greater citizen involvement in PUI research. However, as argued by Greenhalgh et al. and by NIHR INVOLVE, the development of a "one-size-fits-all" model seems no longer viable. Instead, the idea of "building one's own framework" is becoming increasingly accepted. This has been useful for us, as we consider how best to involve citizens in future research on PUI. In this respect, too, the UK National Institute for Health Research advises that PPI experiences involving the joint input of citizens and scientists should be documented in academic publications, and thus made available to future generations of researchers (24). We support these recommendations and offer a conceptualization that stems from our consultation exercises, which may prove useful to other researchers working in related areas.

Regarding the limitations of our work, we are well aware that our conclusions are derived from exercises in European countries with limited experience on PPI in research, and (to our knowledge) no known evidence of PPI in PUI (25). With this in mind, we took all possible precautions to compensate for possible methodological constraints. Importantly, the greatest possible consensus was sought among the partners collaborating in this project, so that the proposed conceptual framework and practical guidelines would properly reflect the opinions of all parties.

Finally, it should be noted that the proposed ethical considerations for the early involvement of citizens in the emerging field of PUI do not represent an exhaustive list, but could be extended to include other useful considerations by researchers in related fields (11, 23, 34). Thus, issues such as tokenism (i.e., treating the consultation exercises like "tickbox" exercises), or lack of feedback for involved citizens (i.e., debriefing citizens on the ways their involvement has been taken forward by researchers), are also relevant in the context discussed. For the purpose of this paper, our focus was limited to the ethical issues that arose from our consultation exercises on research in PUI.

5. CONCLUSIONS

This paper presents theoretical and practical insights regarding citizen involvement in research on Problematic Usage of the Internet (PUI), and demonstrates the potential to enrich this area of public mental health. Specifically, we have proposed: (a) a conceptual framework for the early involvement of citizens, at the planning stage of an emerging research; and (b) a template for initial consultation with citizens on PUI. Special emphasis has been placed on the ethical considerations for citizen involvement in PUI. Our work has been informed by the community case studies, performed in six European countries and coordinated by a group of experienced researchers from the European Network on PUI, who worked alongside diverse groups of interested citizens (students, parents, teachers, and health professionals). The participating researchers were national representatives of countries with limited experience in PPI and without clear national standards for citizen involvement in science. The experts working in future research settings alongside their wider academic and citizen communities, could greatly benefit from this shared learning and practical experience.

The proposed ethical aspects for citizen consultation on PUI are a novel contribution in this field. In our opinion, they provide a valuable foundation on which to advance

REFERENCES

 Greenhalgh T, Hinton L, Finlay T, Macfarlane A, Fahy N, Clyde B, et al. Frameworks for supporting patient and public involvement in research: systematic review and co-design pilot. *Health Expect.* (2019) 22:785–801. doi: 10.1111/hex.12888 our understanding and generate international strategies for citizen involvement in PUI. We hope that other studies will follow, producing a more balanced, inclusive and comprehensive outlook on the perspective of citizens regarding research in PUI, and enabling voices of citizens to be heard, valued and acted upon.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

BG, CS, AV, and JJ contributed to the conceptualization and design of the study. PB, KF, AF-N, LI, ZK, DM, and MV-R conducted consultations with citizens. BG collated information on citizen consultation exercises and drafted the study. NH and JJ proofread the study. AF-N covered the costs for additional editing by specialized proofreading services. CS and JJ supervised the study. All authors contributed to the writing, revision of the study, and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This article is based upon work from COST Action CA16207 European Network for Problematic Usage of the Internet, supported by COST (European Cooperation in Science and Technology), www.cost.eu.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This collaborative research network was established under the auspices of EU COST CA16207 Action European Network for Problematic Usage of the Internet. The authors acknowledge the material and human resources provided by the Action, and the expertise offered by the fellow members of the Action. Also, we would like to thank the reviewers for the timely revision and substantial contribution in the improvement of the manuscript.

- INVOLVE. Briefing Notes for Researchers: Public Involvement in NHS, Public Health and Social Care Research. INVOLVE (2012). Available online at: https://www.invo.org.uk/posttypepublication/involve-briefing-notes-forresearchers/ (accessed July 25, 2020).
- 3. Brett J, Staniszewska S, Mockford C, Herron-Marx S, Hughes J, Tysall C, et al. Mapping the impact of patient and public involvement on health and

social care research: a systematic review. *Health Expect*. (2014) 17:637–50. doi: 10.1111/j.1369-7625.2012.00795.x

- INVOLVE. National Standards for Public Involvement. INVOLVE (2018). Available online at: https://www.invo.org.uk/posttypepublication/nationalstandards-for-public-involvement/ (accessed July 25, 2020).
- 5. Centre of Excellence on Partnership with Patients the Public (CEPPP). *Evaluation Toolkit*

textittextbar CEPPP. Centre of Excellence on Partnership with Patients and the Public (CEPPP) (2017). Available online at: https://ceppp.ca/en/ collaborations/evaluation-toolkit/ (accessed July 25, 2020).

- Turk A, Boylan AM, Locock L. A Researcher's Guide to Patient and Public Involvement - A Guide Based on the Experiences of Health and Medical Researchers, Patients and Members of the Public. Health Experiences Research Group, Nuffield Department of Primary Health Care Sciences, University of Oxford (2017). Available online at: https://oxfordbrc.nihr.ac.uk/wp-content/ uploads/2017/03/A-Researchers-Guide-to-PPI.pdf (accessed July 25, 2020).
- Fineberg NA, Demetrovics Z, Stein DJ, Ioannidis K, Potenza MN, Granblatt E, et al. Manifesto for a European research network into Problematic Usage of the Internet. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2018) 28:1232–46. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2018.08.004
- World Health Organization. International Classification of Diseases for Mortality and Morbidity Statistics. World Health Organization (2018). Available online at: https://icd.who.int/browse11/l-m/en (accessed July 25, 2020).
- House of Lords Select Committee on Communications. Growing up with the internet: Select Committee on Communications - 2nd Report of Session 2016–17. Authority of the House of Lords (2017). Available online at: https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/ld201617/ldselect/ldcomuni/ 130/130.pdf (accessed July 25, 2020).
- INVOLVE. Public Involvement in Research and Research Ethics Committee Review. INVOLVE (2016). Available online at: https://www.invo.org.uk/ posttypepublication/public-involvement-in-research-and-research-ethicscommittee-review/ (accessed July 25, 2020).
- Pandya-Wood R, Barron DS, Elliott J. A framework for public involvement at the design stage of NHS health and social care research: time to develop ethically conscious standards. *Res Involvement Engage*. (2017) 3:6. doi: 10.1186/s40900-017-0058-y
- COST. Cost Action CA16207 European Network for Problematic Usage of the Internet. COST EU (2017). Available online at: https://www.cost.eu/actions/ CA16207/ (accessed July 25, 2020).
- Wright D, Foster C, Amir Z, Elliott J, Wilson R. Critical appraisal guidelines for assessing the quality and impact of user involvement in research: critical appraisal guidelines for assessing quality and user impact in research. *Health Expect.* (2010) 13:359–368. doi: 10.1111/j.1369-7625.2010.00607.x
- Popay J, Collins M, PiiAF Study Group. The Public Involvement Impact Assessment Framework Guidance. Universities of Lancaster, Liverpool; Exeter (2014).
- INVOLVE. Public Involvement in Research: Values and Principles Framework. INVOLVE (2015). Available online at: https://www.invo. org.uk/posttypepublication/public-involvement-in-researchvalues-andprinciples-framework/ (accessed July 25, 2020).
- Corbie-Smith G, Wynn M, Richmond A, Rennie S, Green M, Hoover SM, et al. Stakeholder-driven, consensus development methods to design an ethical framework and guidelines for engaged research. *PLoS ONE*. (2018) 13:e0199451. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0199451
- INVOLVE. Guidance on Co-producing a Research Project. INVOLVE (2018). Available online at: https://www.invo.org.uk/posttypepublication/guidanceon-co-producing-a-research-project/ (accessed July 25, 2020).
- Gelinas L, Weissman JS, Lynch HF, Gupta A, Rozenblum R, Largent EA, et al. Oversight of patient-centered outcomes research: recommendations from a Delphi panel. *Ann Internal Med.* (2018) 169:559–63. doi: 10.7326/M18-1334
- Price A, Albarqouni L, Kirkpatrick J, Clarke M, Liew SM, Roberts N, et al. Patient and public involvement in the design of clinical trials: an overview of systematic reviews. J Eval Clin Pract. (2018) 24:240–53. doi: 10.1111/jep.12805
- 20. Hoekstra F, Mrklas K, Khan M, McKay R, Vis-Dunbar M, Sibley K, et al. A review of reviews on principles, strategies, outcomes and impacts

of research partnerships approaches: a first step in synthesising the research partnership literature. *Health Res Policy Syst.* (2020) 18:1–23. doi: 10.1186/s12961-020-0544-9

- 21. Frisch N, Atherton P, Doyle-Waters MM, MacLeod ML, Mallidou A, Sheane V, et al. Patient-oriented research competencies in health (PORCH) for researchers, patients, healthcare providers, and decision-makers: results of a scoping review. *Res Involvement Engage*. (2020) 6:1–14. doi: 10.1186/s40900-020-0180-0
- 22. Abma TA, Broerse JE. Patient participation as dialogue: setting research agendas. *Health Expect.* (2010) 13:160–73. doi: 10.1111/j.1369-7625.2009.00549.x
- 23. Martineau JT, Minyaoui A, Boivin A. Partnering with patients in healthcare research: a scoping review of ethical issues, challenges, and recommendations for practice. *BMC Med Ethics*. (2020) 21:34. doi: 10.1186/s12910-020-0460-0
- National Institute for Health Research. Patient and Public Involvement in Health and Social Care Research: A Handbook for Researchers. National Institute for Health Research London (2018). Available online at: https://www.rds-london.nihr.ac.uk/wpcms/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/ RDS_PPI-Handbook_2018_WEB_VERSION.pdf (accessed July 25, 2020).
- Biddle MS, Gibson A, Evans D. Attitudes and approaches to patient and public involvement across Europe: a systematic review. *Health Soc Care Commun.* (2021) 29:18–27. doi: 10.1111/hsc.13111
- Staley K. "Is it worth doing?" Measuring the impact of patient and public involvement in research. *Res Involvement Engage*. (2015) 1:6. doi: 10.1186/s40900-015-0008-5
- Dennehy R, Cronin M, Arensman E. Involving young people in cyberbullying research: the implementation and evaluation of a rights-based approach. *Health Expect.* (2019) 22:54–64. doi: 10.1111/hex.12830
- Kiraly O, Potenza MN, Stein DJ, King DL, Hodgins DC, Saunders JB, et al. Preventing problematic internet use during the COVID-19 pandemic: consensus guidance. *Comprehens Psychiatry*. (2020) 100:152180. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2020.152180
- Callard F, Rose D. The mental health strategy for Europe: why service user leadership in research is indispensable. *J Mental Health*. (2012) 21:219–26. doi: 10.3109/09638237.2011.651661
- Tritter JQ, McCallum A. The snakes and ladders of user involvement: moving beyond Arnstein. *Health Policy*. (2006) 76:156–68. doi: 10.1016/j.healthpol.2005.05.008
- Wardle H, Reith G, Langham E, Rogers RD. Gambling and public health: we need policy action to prevent harm. *BMJ*. (2019) 365:1807. doi: 10.1136/bmj.l1807
- 32. Mathie E, Wythe H, Munday D, Millac P, Rhodes G, Roberts N, et al. Reciprocal relationships and the importance of feedback in patient and public involvement: a mixed methods study. *Health Expect.* (2018) 21:899–908. doi: 10.1111/hex.12684
- 33. Price A, Schroter S, Snow R, Hicks M, Harmston R, Staniszewska S, et al. Frequency of reporting on patient and public involvement (PPI) in research studies published in a general medical journal: a descriptive study. *BMJ Open.* (2018) 8:e020452. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-020452
- 34. Gradinger F, Britten N, Wyatt K, Froggatt K, Gibson A, Jacoby A, et al. Values associated with public involvement in health and social care research: a narrative review. *Health Expect.* (2015) 18:661–75. doi: 10.1111/hex.12158

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Gjoneska, Jones, Vella, Bonanno, Flora, Fontalba-Navas, Hall, Ignjatova, Kirtava, Moreno Sanjuán, Vaz-Rebelo and Sales. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

